How root morphology and functional traits Enable geoxyles to thrive in NUTRIENT POOR AND DISTURBANCE PRONE ANGOLAN MIOMBO ECOSYSTEMS

Dissertation

With the aim of achieving a doctoral degree at the Faculty of Mathematics, Informatics and Natural Sciences

Department of Biology of the University of Hamburg

Submitted by

Amândio Luis Gomes

Hamburg 2021

Date of oral defense: 17th December 2021

The following evaluators recommended the admission of the thesis

Prof. Dr. Norbert Jürgens Prof. Dr. Eva-Maria Pfeiffer

Contents

Resumo1
Summary
Zusammenfassung7
CHAPTER 1- General introduction
Miombo ecosystems11
Geoxyles: concepts and terminology12
Diversity and distribution of geoxyles15
Ecology of geoxyles
Ecosystem functions and services of geoxyle grasslands17
Aims and structure of the thesis19
Project context and study area21
CHAPTER 2- Geoxyle co-dominated ecosystems
Exploration of geoxyle grasslands 25
Geoxyle flora and endemism
Environmental conditions of geoxyle grasslands through the year
Knowledge gaps on the evolution of the geoxyles and the formation of geoxyle grasslands
Conservation value and conservation challenges35
Outlook
CHAPTER 3- Suffrutex grasslands in south-central Angola: belowground biomass, root structure, soil characteristics and vegetation dynamics
Abstract
Introduction
Material and Methods
Research site41
Data collection42
Results 46
Discussion

CHAPTER 4- Tree or not a tree: differences in plant functional traits among geoxyles	
and closely related tree species	. 60
Abstract	. 60
Introduction	. 61
Material and methods	. 63
Research site	63
Species selection and study species	64
Trait sampling	64
Measurements of plant functional traits	64
Data analysis	67
Results	. 68
General patterns of correlation among traits	68
Trait differences among the two life forms: Inter-life-form variation	68
Trait differences among species pairs of geoxyles and trees: Interpair variation	69
Discussion	. 75
Differences among the two life forms	75
Differences in plant functional traits between the species pairs	76
Comparable adaptation strategies to water stress among pairs of trees and geoxyles	78
Adaptive traits	79
Conclusions	. 80
Acknowledgements	. 80
Supplementary materials	. 80
CHAPTER 5- Functional traits and symbiotic associations of geoxyles and trees explain the dominance of detarioid legumes in miombo ecosystems	า . 82
Summary	. 82
Introduction	. 83
Material and Methods	. 85
Research site	85
Sample collection	86
Plant Functional Type (PFT) measurements	87

Data analysis	89
Results	. 90
Principal Component Analysis	. 90
Within life form variation	. 91
Between groups variation	. 92
Discussion	. 94
Conclusions	. 97
Acknowledgements	. 98
Author contribution	. 98
CHAPTER 6- Synthesis	100
Geoxyle co-dominated ecosystems	100
Geoxyle grasslands in south-central Angola: vegetation dynamics, root structure, belowground biomass and soil characteristics	101
Tree or not a tree: differences in plant functional traits among geoxyles and closely	
related tree species	102
related tree species Functional traits and symbiotic associations of geoxyles and trees explain the dominance of detarioid legumes in miombo ecosystems	102 102
related tree species	102 102 103
related tree species	102 102 103 106
related tree species	102 102 103 106 128
related tree species	102 102 103 106 128 130
related tree species	102 102 103 106 128 130 131
related tree species	102 102 103 106 128 130 131 133
related tree species	102 102 103 106 128 130 131 133 134
related tree species	102 103 106 128 130 131 133 134 135
related tree species Functional traits and symbiotic associations of geoxyles and trees explain the dominance of detarioid legumes in miombo ecosystems	102 103 106 128 130 131 133 134 135 137
related tree species	102 103 106 128 130 131 133 134 135 137 138
related tree species	102 103 106 128 130 131 133 134 135 137 138 139

This thesis is based on 3 published papers and 1 submitted manuscript:

- Zigelski, P., Gomes, A.L. & Finckh, M. (2019). Suffrutex Dominated Ecosystem. In: Biodiversity of Angolan; Science and Conservation: A Modern Synthesis (ed. by Huntley, B.J., Russo, V., Lages, F. & Ferrand, N.). Springer.
- Gomes, A.L., Revermann, R. Gonçalves, F.M.P.G., Lages, F., Aidar, M.P.M., Graciela A. Sanguino Mostajo, G.A. & Finckh, M. Suffrutex grasslands in southcentral Angola: belowground biomass, root structure, soil characteristics and vegetation dynamics of the "underground forests of Africa". Submitted to *Journal of Tropical Ecology* (under revision).
- Gomes, A.L., Revermann, R., Gonçalves, F.M.P.G., Lages, F., Aidar, M.P.M., Finckh,
 M. & Jüergens, N. (2019). Tree or not a tree: Differences in plant
 functional traits among geoxyles and closely related tree species. South
 African Journal of Botany 127: 176-184.
- Gomes, A.L., Revermann, R., Meller, P., Gonçalves, F.M.P.G., Aidar, M.P.M., Lages, F. & Finckh, M. Functional traits and symbiotic associations of geoxyles and trees explain the dominance of detarioid legumes in miombo ecosystems. *New Phytologist* Published on line open access, DOI: 10.1111/nph.17168.

To increase the readability of the thesis, all figures, tables and supporting information have been renumbered in a consecutive manner and the references are listed alphabetically at the end. Moreover, a single combined reference section is provided and one section containing all supporting information is given at the end of the thesis. The terminology for geoxylic suffrutices was changed throughout to geoxyles. An identification error has been corrected in paper 1.

Paper 1 has been reprinted with kind permission of the book editors. Paper 2 has been reprinted with kind permission of Elsevier, paper 3 was published open access and paper 4 will be published open access as well.



Resumo

O ecossistema de miombo domina cerca de 47% do território de Angola, especialmente na parte central do país. Faz parte da grande ecorregião do miombo, que se estende desde a Escarpa Angolana até ao Oceano Índico em Moçambique e na Tanzânia, cobrindo mais de 3,8 milhões de km².

Em geral, as matas de miombo formam um mosaico com pastagens co-dominadas por arbustos geoxílicos (geoxylic suffrutices ou geoxyles). Geoxyles são arbustos rasteiros ou subarbustos com caules aéreos de vida curta, mas com enorme desenvolvimento de caules, raízes e ramos lenhosos subterrâneos. As geoxyles têm o seu centro de diversidade global no fitocório da Zâmbia, onde ocorrem em mais de 30 famílias diferentes.

Como os campos geoxyles são um ecossistema importante e pouco estudado do ecossistema de miombo, realizei estudos sobre diversidade, morfologia das raízes, características funcionais (PFTs) e funções ecológicas das geoxyles na parte sul do Planalto do Bié (município de Chitembo, centro-sul de Angola) como parte do projecto The Future Okavango (TFO). Os objectivos foram: a) fornecer uma visão geral actualizada da diversidade e distribuição de geoxyles e das pastagens co-dominadas por geoxyles em Angola; b) descrever a dinâmica da vegetação, arquitetura de raízes, biomassa de madeira e propriedades do solo das pastagens de geoxyles; c) estudar o papel de características funcionais (PFTs) de geoxyles em comparações com os seus pares arbóreos estreitamente relacionadas e d) ver se as características funcionais (PFTs) de certos grupos filogenéticos diferem e podem ajudar-nos a explicar a dominância das Fabaceae-Detarioideae nos ecossistemas de miombo.

Uma visão geral dos ecossistemas dominados por geoxyles em Angola, informações sobre a sua exploração científica inicial, a sua distribuição, biodiversidade e endemismos são fornecidos na primeira parte da minha dissertação (Capítulo 2).

Com base nas nossas observações e dados de campo, bem como na literatura existente, forneço ao leitor informações detalhadas sobre a importância das pastagens de geoxyles e enfatizo a necessidade de proteger esses ecossistemas especiais, que foram cientificamente pouco explorados até agora. Identifiquei as acções antrópicas que ameaçam esses ecossistemas, em particular o desenvolvimento da agricultura nessas áreas.

Uma característica marcante das geoxyles é o fraco desenvolvimento das suas partes aéreas e o enorme desenvolvimento de rizomas e raízes lenhosas no solo. Esta rede lenhosa de órgãos de armazenamento subterrâneos constitui o principal reservatório de biomassa e estoque de carbono desse ecossistema, que até agora não tem sido considerado no balanço de carbono dos ecossistemas de miombo. Para ter uma ideia do seu potencial no sequestro de carbono, medi com os meus coautores essa biomassa lenhosa abaixo do solo no meu segundo artigo (Capítulo 3) e descrevi a estrutura dos órgãos lenhosos subterrâneos de seis espécies de geoxyles dominantes (três para cada um dos dois tipos de solos que ocorrem na área de estudo). Nos solos ferralíticos, Brachystegia russelliae, Cryptosepalum exfoliatum subsp. suffruticans e Syzygium guineense subsp. huillensis foram seleccionados; nos solos arenosos, Parinari capensis, Pygmaeothamnus zeyheri e Ochna arenaria. Calculou-se e discutiu-se a biomassa subterrânea e o estoque de carbono correspondentes, cuja magnitude é comparável às florestas tropicais secas. Ambos, biomassa subterrânea e o regime de perturbação pelo fogo diferem muito entre os dois tipos de vegetação geoxílica.

Outra característica importante das pastagens de geoxyles é a existência de espécies arbóreas ou arbustivas intimamente relacionadas para cada espécie de geoxyles. No terceiro artigo descrevo e discuto em comparação as diferenças em PFTs de seis desses pares (geoxyles versus árvores) na área de estudo de Chitembo (Capítulo 4). Foram medidos e comparados, a área foliar específica (SLA), espessura da folha (LT), densidade da madeira (WD), conteúdo foliar de nitrogênio (LN), carbono (LC), fósforo (LP), potássio (LK), cálcio (LCa) e magnésio (LMg), bem

2

como o teor de matéria seca das folhas (LDMC). Além disso, foi medido também o potencial hídrico da folha (WP) dos pares comparados durante as estações seca e chuvosa. Essas características funcionais são conhecidas por mostrarem respostas a uma ampla gama de factores ambientais e uma estreita associação com mecanismos ecofisiológicos. Os resultados deste estudo sugerem que as diferenças nas características funcionais das geoxyles e das árvores são adaptações aos estresses ambientais específicos dos seus respectivos habitats.

No quarto artigo (Capítulo 5), foram medidas e comparadas as características funcionais (PFTs) de um conjunto mais extenso de geoxyles e árvores comuns na área de estudo. Por esta razão o banco de dados foi extendido para doze geoxyles e catorze árvores. Para investigar as diferentes adaptações com as quais essas espécies lidam com as condições ambientais do seu habitat, foram analisadas e discutidas as diferenças em PFTs entre grupos filogenéticos e tipos de estratégia simbiótica (Fabaceae versus não Fabaceae; espécies ectomicorrizadas versus espécies não micorrazadas). Os resultados mostraram claramente adaptações ecofisiológicas e simbióticas que se desenvolveram em certas linhas filogenéticas durante a evolução, permitindo-as lidar eficientemente com as condições extremas do habitat. A dominância geral de Fabaceae-Detarioidae nos solos pobres em nutrientes do ecossistema de miombo parece ser fortemente influenciada por sua associação ectomicorríca e, portanto, maior capacidade de absorção de fósforo. Estudos de ecossistemas semelhantes na ecoregião do miombo seriam necessários para apoiar esta hipótese.

Finalmente, os resultados mais importantes dos quatro artigos que constituem a tese são resumidos e discutidos num capítulo de síntese (Capítulo 6).

Summary

The miombo ecoregion encompasses a vast African dry woodland ecosystem that dominates about 47% of Angola's territory, especially in the central areas of the country. The ecoregion, which extends from the Angolan escarpment to the Indian Ocean in Mozambique and Tanzania, covers more than 3.8 million km².

In general, miombo ecosystems form a mosaic of forest and woodland patches with grasslands co-dominated by geoxyles. Geoxyles (also known as geoxylic suffrutices) are low shrubs or semi-shrubs with mostly short-lived above-ground shoots but strong development of underground woody shoots, roots and tubers. Geoxyles have their global diversity centre in the Zambezian phytochorion, where geoxyles from more than 30 different plant families occur.

As grasslands dominated by geoxyles are an important and little studied part of the miombo ecoregion, I have conducted studies on diversity, root morphology, functional traits (PFTs) and ecological functions of geoxyles on the southern slope of the Bié Plateau (Chitembo municipality, south central Angola) as part of the Future Okavango (TFO) project. My objectives were a) to provide an updated overview of the diversity and distribution of geoxyles and geoxyle grasslands in Angola, b) to describe the vegetation dynamics, root architecture, wood biomass and soil properties of geoxyle grasslands, c) to study the role of functional traits (PFTs) of geoxyles in pairwise comparisons with closely related tree species, and d) to see if the functional traits (PFTs) of certain phylogenetic groups differ and can help us explain the dominance of detarioid Fabaceae in miombo ecosystems.

Chapter 1 provides a general introduction to miombo ecosystems and to geoxyle grasslands.

An overview of the ecosystems dominated by geoxyles in Angola, information on their early scientific exploration, their distribution, biodiversity and endemisms is given in the first essay of my dissertation (Chapter 2). Based on our observations and data as

well as the existing literature, I provide the reader with detailed information on the importance of geoxyle grasslands and emphasize the need to protect these special ecosystems, which have been scientifically largely unexplored so far. Together with my co-authors, I have identified the human activities that threaten these ecosystems, in particular intensive agricultural development in these areas.

A striking feature of geoxyle species is the weak development of their above-ground shoots and the comparatively very strong development of woody rhizomes, roots and tubers in the soil. This woody network of subterranean woody shoot axes and storage organs forms the main pool of biomass and carbon stocks of the geoxyle grassland ecosystems, which so far have not yet been considered in carbon balances of miombo ecosystems. To get an idea of its carbon stocks, I measured the belowground biomass pool in my second paper (Chapter 3) and described the structure of the subterranean woody organs of six dominant geoxyle species (three for each of the two soil types occurring in my study area). I selected *Brachystegia russelliae, Cryptosepalum exfoliatum* ssp. *suffruticans* and *Syzygium guineense* ssp. *huillense* from ferralitic areas and *Parinari capensis, Pygmaeothamnus zeyheri* and *Ochna arenaria* from sandy sites. I calculated and discussed the subterranean biomass and the corresponding carbon stock, whose magnitude is comparable to dry tropical forests. Both, biomass and the disturbance regime by fire differ greatly between the two geoxyle vegetation types.

Another important feature of geoxyle grasslands is the existence of phylogeneticaly related tree or shrub species for each geoxyle species. My third paper describes and discusses the differences in PFTs of six of these congeneric pairs (geoxyles versus trees) in the Chitembo study area (Chapter 4). Together with my co-authors, I measured and compared specific leaf area (SLA), leaf thickness (LT), wood density (WD), leaf contents of nitrogen (LN), carbon (LC), phosphorus (LP), potassium (LK), calcium (LCa) and magnesium (LMg) as well as leaf dry matter content (LDMC). Additionally, we measured the leaf water potential (WP) of the compared pairs during the dry and rainy season. These traits are known to show responses to a wide range

5

of environmental factors and a close association with ecophysiological mechanisms. The results of this study suggest that differences in functional characteristics of geoxyles and trees are adaptations to the specific environmental stresses of their respective habitats.

In my fourth paper (Chapter 5) I measure and compare the functional traits (PFTs) of an extended set of geoxyle and tree species which occur frequently in my study area. For this purpose the database was extended to twelve geoxyles and fourteen trees. To investigate the different adaptations with which these species cope with the environmental conditions of their habitat, I analysed and discussed differences in PFTs between phylogenetic groups and symbiotic strategy types (Fabaceae versus non-Fabaceae; Ectomycorrhiza associated versus non-mycorrhizal species). The results clearly show ecophysiological and symbiotic adaptations that developed in certain phylogenetic lines during evolution, enabling them to successfully cope with extreme habitat conditions. The general dominance of detarioid Fabaceae on the nutrient-poor soils of the miombo belt seems to be strongly influenced by their ectomycorrhiza association and thus superior phosphorus uptake capacity. Studies from comparable ecosystems of the miombo ecoregion would be required to support this hypothesis.

Finally, I summarise and discuss the most important results of my four papers in a synthesis chapter (Chapter 6).

Zusammenfassung

Miombo-Ökosysteme dominieren ungefähr 47 % des angolanischen Staatsgebiets, besonders in den zentralen Bereichen des Landes. Sie sind Teil der größeren Miombo Ökoregion, die sich mit mehr als 3,8 Mio km² vom westlichen angolanischen Escarpment bis an die Küste des indischen Ozeans in Mozambique und Tanzania erstreckt.

Im Allgemeinen bilden Miombo-Wälder ein Mosaik mit Grasländern, die von geoxylen Halbsträuchern (geoxylic suffrutices oder geoxyles) co-dominiert werden. Geoxyle Halbsträucher sind niedrige Sträucher oder Halbsträucher mit meist nur kurzlebigen oberirdischen Sprossen, aber langlebigen unterirdischen holzigen Sprossachsen, Wurzeln und Knollen. Sie haben ihr globales Diversitätszentrum im zambesischen Phytochorion, wo geoxyle Halbsträucher aus mehr als 30 unterschiedlichen Pflanzenfamilien vorkommen.

Da Geoxyle-Grasländer ein wichtiges und bisher wenig erforschtes Ökosystem des Miombo-Gürtels sind, habe ich im Rahmen des Future Okavango (TFO)-Projekts Untersuchungen zu Diversität, Wurzelmorphologie, funktionellen Merkmalen (PFTs) und den ökologischen Funktionen von geoxylen Halbsträuchern am Südhang des Bié-Plateaus in Zentralangola durchgeführt. Meine Ziele waren a) einen aktualisierten Überblick über Diversität und Verbreitung von geoxylen Halbsträuchern und Geoxyle-Grasländern in Angola zu geben, b) die Vegetationsdynamik, Wurzelarchitektur, Holzbiomasse und Bodeneigenschaften von Geoxyle-Grasländern zu beschreiben, c) die Rolle funktioneller Merkmale (PFTs) von geoxylen Halbsträuchern in Paarvergleichen mit nahe verwandten Baumarten zu untersuchen und d) zu schauen, ob die funktionellen Merkmale (PFTs) bestimmter phylogenetischer Gruppen sich unterscheiden und uns helfen können, die Dominanz detarioider Fabaceen in den Miombo-Ökosystemen zu erklären.

Einen Überblick über die von geoxylen Halbsträuchern in Angola dominierten Ökosysteme, Informationen zu frühen Erkundungen, ihrer Verbreitung, Artenvielfalt und Endemismen bietet der erste Aufsatz meiner Dissertation (Kapitel 2). Basierend auf unseren Beobachtungen und Daten sowie der existierenden Literatur gebe ich (mit meinen Mitautoren) dem Leser detaillierte Informationen über die Bedeutung von Geoxyle-Grasländern und betone die Notwendigkeit, diese besonderen Ökosysteme zu schützen, die bisher wissenschaftlich weitgehend unerforscht sind. Wir haben auch Entwicklungen identifiziert, die diese Ökosysteme gefährden, insbesondere die Entwicklung intensiver Landwirtschaft in diesen Gebieten.

Ein auffälliges Merkmal der geoxylen Halbsträucher ist die schwache Entwicklung ihrer oberirdischen Sprosse und die vergleichsweise sehr starke Entwicklung der Rhizome, Holzwurzeln und holzigen Knollen im Boden. Dieses Netzwerk von unterirdischen holzigen Sprossachsen und Vorratsorganen bildet den Hauptpool an Biomasse und Kohlenstoffvorräten dieses Ökosystems, der in Kohlenstoffbilanzen von Miombo-Ökosystemen bisher nicht berücksichtigt wird. Um eine Vorstellung von seinem Potenzial für die Kohlenstoffbindung zu bekommen, messe ich im zweiten Aufsatz (Kapitel 3) den unterirdischen Biomassepool und beschreiben die Struktur der unterirdischen Sprossachsen (i.w.S.) von sechs dominanten Arten geoxyler Halbsträucher (je drei von den beiden in unserem Untersuchungsgebiet vorkommenden Bodentypen). Von ferralitischen Böden wurden Brachystegia russelliae, Cryptosepalum exfoliatum subsp. suffruticans und Syzygium guineense subsp. huillensis ausgewählt, von sandigen Standorten Parinari capensis, Pygmaeothamnus zeyheri und Ochna arenaria. Ich berechne und diskutiere die unterirdische Biomasse und den Kohlenstoffvorrat, Größenordnung entsprechenden dessen mit tropischen Trockenwäldern vergleichbar ist. Sowohl Biomasse als auch das Störungsregime durch Feuer unterscheiden sich zwischen beiden Geoxyle-Vegetationstypen stark.

Ein weiteres wichtiges Merkmal von Geoxyle-Grassländern besteht darin, dass zu jeder Art geoxyler Halbsträucher nahverwandte Baum- oder Straucharten existieren. Der dritte Aufsatz beschreibt und diskutiert die Unterschiede in PFTs von sechs dieser Vergleichspaare (geoxyle Halbsträucher versus Bäume) im Untersuchungsgebiet Chitembo im Okavango-Einzugsgebiet (Kapitel 4). Wir haben die spezifische Blattfläche (SLA), Blattdicke (LT), Holzdichte (WD), Blattgehalte von Stickstoff (LN), Kohlenstoff (LC), Phosphor (LP), Kalum (LK), Calcium (LCa) und Magnesium (LMg) sowie Blatttrockenmassegehalt (LDMC) gemessen und verglichen. Zusätzlich haben wir das Blattwasserpotential (WP) der Vergleichspaare während der Trocken- und Regenzeit gemessen. Es ist bekannt, dass diese Merkmale Reaktionen auf eine breite Palette von Umweltfaktoren eigen und eng mit ökophysiologischen Mechanismen zusammenhängen. Die Ergebnisse lassen den Schluss zu, dass Unterschiede in funktionellen Merkmalen von geoxylen Halbsträuchern und Bäumen Anpassungen an die spezifischen Umwelteinflüsse ihrer jeweiligen Lebensräume sind.

Im vierten Aufsatz (Kapitel 5) messe und vergleiche ich die funktionellen Eigenschaften (PFTs) von einem erweiterten Set geoxyler Halbsträuchern und nah mit ihnen verwandter Baumarten. Hierfür wurde die Datenbank auf zwölf Arten geoxyler Halbsträucher und vierzehn Baumarten erweitert. Um die unterschiedlichen Anpassungen zu untersuchen, die diese Arten vornehmen können, um mit den Umweltbedingungen ihres Lebensraums umzugehen, wurden Unterschiede der PFTs zwischen Verwandtschaftsgruppen und symbiotischen Strategietypen (Fabaceae versus Nicht-Fabaceae; Ectomycorrhiza assoziierte versus nicht-mykorrhizierte Arten) analysiert und diskutiert. Die Ergebnisse zeigen deutlich ökophysiologische und symbiotische Anpassungen, die sich in bestimmten phylogenetischen Linien während der Evolution entwickelten und es ihnen ermöglichten, die extremen Bedingungen ihrer Lebensräume erfolgreich zu meistern. Die generelle Dominanz von Fabaceen aus der Unterfamilie der Detarioideae auf den nährstoffarmen Böden des Miombogürtels scheint stark durch ihre Ectomycorrhiza-Assoziierung und damit überlegene Phosphoraufnahmefähigkeit bedingt zu sein. Studien aus vergleichbaren Ökosystemen des Miombo-Gürtels wären erforderlich, um diese Hypothese zu erhärten.

Abschließend fasse ich am Ende in einem Synthesekapitel (Kapitel 6) die wichtigsten Ergebnisse meiner vier Aufsätze zusammen und diskutiere sie abschließend.



CHAPTER 1- General introduction

Amândio Gomes

Miombo ecosystems

Miombo ecosystems, dominated by tree species of the genera *Brachystegia*, *Julbernardia* and *Isoberlinia* occupy about 47% of the Angolan territory, mostly on the central Angolan Plateau in the Bié, Huambo and Moxico provinces (Barbosa, 1970). The Angolan miombo woodlands are part of the larger Miombo Ecoregion which covers over 3.8 million km² in central and southern Africa, extending from the western escarpment in Angola to the east coast in Mozambique and Tanzania. This ecoregion includes parts of 11 countries: Angola, Namibia, Botswana, South Africa, Zimbabwe, Zambia, Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC), Mozambique, Malawi, Tanzania and Burundi (Timberlake and Chidumayo, 2011).

The Miombo Ecoregion is part of the Southern and Eastern African savannas. Fayolle et al. (2018) divided them into six floristic clusters. In Angola occur mainly three of them, namely the Namibian cluster (*Acacia-Baikiaea* woodlands) in the south-eastern provinces, the South-African cluster (Mopane woodlands) in south-west Angola and the Zambezian cluster (wet Miombo woodlands) in central and eastern Angola. The Zambezian cluster corresponds mostly to White's (1976) "wet miombo" which extends also to northern Zambia, south western Tanzania and central Malawi, in areas receiving more than 1000 mm rainfall per year (Campbel, 1996). This vegetation type is floristically rich and includes most of the characteristic miombo species. Particularly species like *Brachystegia spp., Julbernardia paniculata, Isoberlinia angolensis* and *Cryptosepalum exfoliatum ssp. pseudotaxus* are widely distributed.

The central parts of the Angolan Plateau in the Huambo, Bié and Moxico Provinces partly belong to the Okavango catchment which is shared by Angola, Namibia and Botswana. The catchment has large areas which are still in a near-natural state. The Angolan "wet miombo" forms in general a mosaic with open areas of so called "geoxyle grasslands". These are open ecosystems within the miombo woodlands, where geoxyles co-dominate with C4-grasses (Barbosa, 1970). Shaw (1947) described an important type of geoxyle grasslands as "Anhara de Ongote", dominated by the geoxyle species *Brachystegia*

russelliae. These Anhara's de Ongote covers vast treeless valleys with ferralitic soils on the central Angolan plateau. Ongote (or Kassamba) are the local names of *B. russelliae* (in the local cokwe language).

Another important geoxyle dominated vegetation type are the "Chanas da borracha", socalled for frequent occurrence of rubber-yielding Apocynaceae, i.e. of the genera *Landolphia* and *Chamaeclitandra*. This vegetation type prefers sandy soils and is widely distributed in the Lunda and Moxico provinces.

Geoxyles: concepts and terminology

But what are geoxyles exactly? Geoxylic suffrutices (Rietz, 1931; White 1976), in the following termed geoxyles (Lindman, 1914; Simon et al, 2009), have already been discussed in early botanical literature (Schimper, 1898; Warming, 1908). Geoxyles are low-growing woody plants with annual or short-lived shoots sprouting from massive and/or extensive perennial woody underground axes (White 1976). The woody underground organs of geoxyles are diverse, among others xylopodia (Simon et al., 2009), lignotubers (Kolbek and Alves, 2008) and woody rhizomes (Pausas et al., 2018).

A marked characteristic of this life form is the contrast between a reduced development of aerial shoots and the very strong development of woody underground organs (Figure 1), sometimes in the proportions of 1 to 30, measured vertically (Shaw, 1947).

White (1976) pointed out that the stems of geoxyles (in a strict sense) are woody at their base and persist for several years, giving rise to less persistent or herbaceous shoots, which die back after a relatively short time.

The above-ground shoots of geoxyles are very sensitive to fire (White, 1976). Severe fires kill all (sub-)aerial parts, whereupon the plants resprout from belowground bud banks (Pausas *et al.*, 2018). Thus, the geoxyles dealt with in this study frequently burn back to the ground-level in most years and are well adapted to this disturbance regime. Shortly after burning and well before the onset of the rainy season they produce new shoots, which often flower precociously at the base of the shoots. The associated grasses, which when fully grown may conceal the geoxyles to a considerable extent, to begin their

vegetative development much later in the season, by which time most suffrutices have already finished flowering (White, 1976) and developed their shoots.



Figure 1: Underground woody rhizome of *Brachystegia russelliae* contrasting with the poorly developed aerial shoots. Photo A. Gomes.

The dominant geoxyle on ferralitic soils besides *Brachystegia russelliae* is *Cryptosepalum exfoliatum* ssp. *suffruticans*. Both species belong to the Detarioid Fabaceae, while Ochnaceae (*Ochna* sp., *Brackenridgea* sp.) and Chrysobalanaceae (*Parinari capensis*) dominate on sandy soils. *Brachystegia russelliae* (ongote), the most dominant geoxyle, grows only some 25 to 35 cm in height. His woody rhizomes grows 5 to 10 cm thick and the patchwork formed in August and September in varying shades of red and green by it's resprouts has been compared to a multi-coloured carpet spread over the ground (Shaw, 1947).

Finally, a distinctive feature of many geoxyles is that they have closely related co-generic tree, shrub or climber species (Figure 2) from which they may have evolved (Burtt-Davy, 1922) or to whom they are at least closely related.





Figure 2: Six pairs of geoxyles and co-generic trees or shrubs which occur together in close distance. a) *Syzygium guineense* subsp. *huillense* with fruits; a1) *Syzygium guineense* subsp. *huillense* in flower; b) *Syzygium guineense* subsp. *guineense*; c) *Cryptosepalum exfoliatum* subsp. *suffruticans*; d) *Cryptosepalum exfoliatum* subsp. *pseudotaxus*; e) *Parinari capensis*; f) *Parinari curatellifolia*; g) *Combretum platypetalum*; h) *Combretum zeyheri*; i) *Brachystegia russelliae*; j) *Brachystegia longifolia*; k) *Uapaca nítida* var. *suffrutescens*; l) *Uapaca nítida* subsp. *nítida*. Photos: A. Gomes and M. Finckh

Diversity and distribution of geoxyles

The global distribution of geoxyles in savanna regions is very uneven (White 1976). Less geoxyle species are described from South America than from tropical south-central Africa. In many cases the South American species are taxonomically isolated, obligate suffrutices and less well represented than the species in tropical Africa. However, geoxyles are a conspicuous feature of the Brazilian Cerrado. Only few geoxyles are found in tropical Asia and they seem to lack completely in Australia (Clarke et al. 2015). A few geoxyles occur in arctic-alpine environments, among others in the genera *Salix* and *Betula*.

White (1976) discussed the diversity, origin and adaptive advantages of the geoxyle flora of tropical south-central Africa where its greatest diversity is found. He listed no less than 109 species belonging to 56 genera from 31 families, finding them mostly confined to the two savanna phytoregions: the Sudanian and the Zambezian phytoregion (White, 1976). The Sudanian phytoregion is a wide belt north of the equator between the rainforests of the Guineo-Congolian Region and the arid regions to the north, most of it lowlands. The Zambezian phytoregion on the other hand occupies a comparable position south of the equator, most of it highlands. The Zambezian phytoregion is considered to be 15 times as geoxyle rich than the Sudanian phytoregion which comprises mainly lowlands. Until today, White's (1976) list has been expanded to 198 species (Maurin et al., 2014, Zigelski et al., 2019, own data).

White (1976) stated that the great majority of geoxyles occurring in the Zambezian region were to be found within the range of the former distribution of Kalahari sands. However, geoxyles occur in Angola in grasslands all over the highlands of Huíla, the Bié plateau, the Malange plateau, the Lunda provinces and in the upper Zambezi and Luena Basin in north-eastern Moxico at altitudes between 900 and ca. 2250 m. Geoxyles are especially abundant near the ridge lines that separate the basins of the rivers Kwanza, Keve, Catumbela, Cunene and Kubango, usually appearing in red soils of the ferralitic group or in contact with Kalahari sands (Barbosa, 1970).

Ecology of geoxyles

According to White (1976), the most characteristic habitat of geoxyles in the Zambezian region are seasonally anaerobic grasslands, mostly on sandy, extremely oligotrophic soils, which are waterlogged and badly aerated for parts of the year. Such habitats were to find at the ecotone of Zambezian woodlands and the edaphic grassland of waterlogged depressions (Dambos). However, these conditions do not apply to the typical geoxyle grasslands on the slopes of the Angolan plateau, were soils of most geoxyle grasslands are well drained and do not show hydromorphic patterns.

Geoxyles are normally absent from secondary grasslands which develop after the destruction of forests and woodlands and they are only found on nutrient poor and unfertilized soils (White, 1976).

The evolutionary drivers of the geoxylic life form have intrigued researchers for a long time. Most researchers hypothesised geoxyles to be plants' response to adverse environmental factors like fire, frost, herbivory, edaphic conditions and/or others (Burtt-Davy, 1922; White, 1976; Barbosa, 1970). Barbosa (1970) suggested that the geoxylic habit is probably the result of strong fluctuations of the soil water level and temperature (flooding in the hot summer and drought during the cold winter) associated with hydromorphic shallow soils. Maurin et al. (2014) dismissed herbivory and frost as evolutionary drivers of the geoxylic life form, suggesting instead an interaction of fire frequency and high precipitation as main drivers. Finckh et al. (2016) disagreed and pointed at frost as the main evolutionary driver, based on studies from the Angolan highlands. These conflicting hypotheses indicate the need of further research to better understand ecology and evolutionary background of this fascinating life form.

This lack of knowledge and understanding on basic functional aspects of geoxyle ecology is one of the main motivations for my thesis. The chapters 4 and 5 will address this research gap.

Ecosystem functions and services of geoxyle grasslands

In recent decades the multiple benefits provided by ecosystems and landscapes gained the attention of scientific and stakeholder audiences. The resulting discussions on ecosystem functions and services (ESF/ESS) provided the basis for the Millennium Ecosystem Assessment (2005). This first global assessment classified ecosystem services into four categories: (1) **provisioning services**, the direct supply of goods to people, often with a notable monetary value, such as timber from forests, medicinal plants from all types of natural vegetation, and fish from oceans, rivers and lakes; (2) **regulating services**, the range of functions carried out by ecosystems which maintain the biosphere but are generally not given a monetary value in conventional markets. They include climate regulation through carbon storage and control of local rainfall, the removal of pollutants by filtering air and water, and protection from disasters via stabilisation of slopes and coastlines; (3) **cultural services**, not providing direct material benefits, but contributing to wider needs and desires of the society, and therefore to people's willingness to pay for conservation. They include the spiritual value attached to particular ecosystems such as

sacred groves, and the aesthetic beauty of landscapes or coastal formations that attract tourists; (4) **supporting services**, not of direct benefit to people but essential for the functioning of ecosystems and therefore indirectly responsible for all other services. Examples are the formation of soils and the processes of plant growth.

Miombo ecosystems, including geoxyle grasslands, supply many products and services which are essential for the well-being of rural and urban communities. Miombo woodlands constitute the main source of woodfuel and provide a wide range of non-timber products (Brigham et al., 1996). The population resident in the miombo region obtains the majority of their livelihood needs directly or indirectly from the goods and services provided in miombo ecosystems (Gauslaa 1989; Dewees 1994; Morris 1995). This includes provisioning services via cropping, grazing, collection and sale of a variety of woodland and grassland resources, as well as regulating services such as water provision, nutrient cycling, and carbon sequestration (Williams et al., 2008; Shirima et al., 2011; Ribeiro et al., 2015; Ryan et al., 2016). In studies carried out in Angola (Firmino, 2016; Baptista, 2014; Domptail et al, 2013) and Namibia (Pröpper et al., 2013), ecosystem services and functions provided by miombo ecosystems were regarded as important source of subsistence, supporting the livelihoods of people in the Okavango region.

Meanwhile, most studies related to miombo products and services neglected the ESF/ESS provided by geoxyle grasslands in the region. However, geoxyles provide products and services essential for local populations. Several species have edible fruits, which are a valuable source of nutrition for rural communities (Figure 3). Important examples of fruit-bearing geoxyles are *Diospyros chamaethamnus*, *Pygmaeothamnus zeyheri*, *Annona stenophylla*, *Lannea edulis*, *Landolphia gossweileri*, *Chamaeclitandra henriquesiana*, *Parinari capensis*, *Syzygium guineense* subsp. *huillense* and many more (Figure 3). There are also geoxyles and other plant species from geoxyle grasslands which are used as medicine by rural communities and sold in urban markets (Domptail et al., 2013).

Geoxyle grasslands also provide relevant regulating services, e.g. by carbon storage. The extended network of belowground roots, rhizomes and lignotubers constitutes an important stock of carbon whose contribution to global carbon accounts has been ignored so far (but see chapter 3). Besides, geoxyles stabilise the topsoil and thus protect soils from erosion

through heavy tropical downpours. According to our observations, once broken by modern agricultural machinery, erosion lines appear and progress quickly, developing over time in ravines and gullies, a very frequent phenomenon in the sloping areas with ferralitic soils on the Bié plateau.



Figure 3: Edible fruits of geoxyles from Cusseque. a- Annona stenophylla; b- Landolphia gossweileri; c- Syzygium guineense subsp. huillense; d- Chamaeclitandra henriquesiana; e-Lannea edulis; f- Strychnos sp.; g- Uapaca nitida var. suffrutescens; h- Diospyros chamaethamnus; i- Anisophyllea quangensis. Photos A. Gomes

Aims and structure of the thesis

The overall aims of my thesis are (1) to give an update on diversity and distribution of geoxyle co-dominated ecosystems in Angola; (2) to look at vegetation dynamics, root structure, belowground biomass and soil characteristics of the geoxyle dominated ecosystems; (3) to look at the role of functional traits in a pairwise comparison between closely related geoxyles and trees; and finally (4) to look at life form- and lineage-specific

plant functional trait adaptations of a large set of frequent geoxyles and trees in my study area at Cusseque (Chitembo, Bié).

These aims are addressed in the following sequence:

Chapter 1 gives a general introduction into the conceptual framework used for the present study with a special focus on the miombo ecoregion, the geoxyle life form and geoxyles' diversity, distribution and ecology.

Chapter 2, Geoxyle dominated ecosystems in Angola. This chapter provides an overview of the Angolan geoxyle dominated ecosystems and its diversity. Species composition, endemism, and environmental conditions are the focus of this introductory chapter.

Chapter 3, Vegetation dynamics, root structure, belowground biomass and soil characteristics of geoxyle grasslands on the Bié Plateau. In this chapter I address the vegetation (and disturbance dynamics) of geoxyle ecosystems, the characterisation and quantification of their biomass pools, and some key soil properties of these ecosystems. A large proportion of the geoxyle biomass is hidden in the upper soil horizons, forming a complex network of woody roots, shoots and lignotubers.

Chapter 4, Tree or not tree: differences in functional traits among geoxyles and closely related trees species. As described above, many geoxyles of the Angolan plateau occur together with closely related tree species in adjacent woodlands. To better understand the functional advantages of the geoxyle life form, this chapter addresses pairwise comparisons of 12 plant functional traits among 6 pairs of geoxyles and trees, in order to analyse the functional differences (and respective habitat specific advantages) of the two life forms.

Chapter 5, Functional traits and symbiotic associations of geoxyles and trees explain the dominance of detarioid legumes in miombo ecosystems. In this chapter I finally analyse plant traits to evaluate the role of symbiotic associations for the hyperdominance of detarioid legumes in both, miombo woodlands and adjacent geoxyle grasslands.

Chapter 6) Synthesis. This concluding chapter gathers the current knowledge on diversity, ecology, and evolutionary history of geoxyles and geoxyle dominated ecosystems in Angola and points at important knowledge gaps.

Project context and study area

This thesis has been conducted as part of the transdisciplinary The Future Okavango (TFO) project (Figure 4), funded by the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF) under the umbrella initiative Research for Sustainable Development (FoNa). To implement the TFO project, four core research sites were initially selected representing diverse social-ecological systems from the entire Okavango basin. Two of these research sites were located in Angola, Chitembo (in the headwater region of the Okavango) and Caiundo (at the middle section of the river). Field work has been carried out in a collaborative context of international and Angolan scientists with support by field assistants from the local communities.

Field work for this thesis was mostly conducted at the Cusseque core research site, an area of 100 km² located in the Chitembo Municipality, Bié Province. Specifically, the research site was located at the Cusseque River along the main road EN140 between Chitembo and Mumbué (Figure 4).



Figure 4: Map of the Future Okavango Research Area (FORA) in southern Africa (green) including the Okavango delta in Botswana (blue), Source: http://www.future-okavango.org.

The landscape of the study area can be described as rolling hills on the southern slopes of the Bié-Plateau, intersected by the north to south stretching Cusseque River and its perpendicular tributaries. The mean elevation is 1,575 m above sea level, with a difference in elevation between the Cusseque valley and the surrounding hills of about 100 m (Gröengröeft et al. 2013 b).

The climate on the Angolan Central Plateau is semi-humid with a pronounced wet season lasting from November to April. The mean annual temperature of the Cusseque area is ca. 20.4°C with an annual precipitation of about 990 mm (Weber 2013). Night frost is frequent during the dry season, particularly in June and July (Revermann & Finckh, 2013).

The Cusseque site presents a high pedodiversity. The elevated areas on the hills are characterized by slightly loamy Arenosols, overlying weathered granitic bedrocks. The slopes of the smaller tributary valleys show shallow Plinthisols on granitic bedrocks. The soils along the eastern part of the Cusseque River are characterized by very deep and leached Arenosols. Along the rivers and smaller streams we find linear Histosols with peat layers exceeding 1 m in depth while at the edges of the wetlands Gleysols are the common soil type (Gröngröft et al. 2013 a).

The main vegetation types of the study area are semi-deciduous miombo woodlands and forests, interspersed with geoxyle grasslands in the valleys.

Further information on the natural history of the Cusseque site is given in chapters 3, 4 and 5.

Four small villages are found within the research site Cusseque: Sovi, Cahololo, Cusseque and Calomba. The human population mostly belongs to the ethnic Chokwe group. Subsistence agriculture based on shifting cultivation is their main source of livelihood, with maize (*Zea mays*), cassava (*Manihot esculenta*), beans (*Phaseolus vulgaris*) and peanut (*Arachis hypogaea*) being the main crops. Other sources of income include small livestock, wage labour and, notably in the nearby town of Chitembo, the retail of natural resources like charcoal, bushmeat and honey (Domptail et al., 2013).



CHAPTER 2- Geoxyle co-dominated ecosystems

Paulina Zigelski, Amândio Gomes and Manfred Finckh

Biodiversity of Angola, Science and Conservation: A Modern Synthesis

Abstract A small-scale mosaic of miombo woodlands and open grasslands is a typical aspect of the Zambezian phytochorion that extends into the eastern and central parts of Angola. The grasslands are home to so-called 'underground trees' or geoxyles, a life form with massive underground wooden structures. Some (but not all) of the geoxyles occur also in open woodland types. These iconic dwarf shrubs evolved in many plant families under similar environmental pressures, converting the Zambezian phytochorion into a unique evolutionary laboratory. In this chapter we assemble the current knowledge on distribution, diversity, ecology and evolutionary history of geoxyles and grasslands in Angola and highlight their conservation values and challenges.

Keywords Endemism; Geoxyles; Miombo; Phytochorion; Underground forests; Vegetation.

Open grassy vegetation is a common aspect of Angolan landscapes and is a characteristic part of the Zambezian phytochorion. Grasses are the most conspicuous element of these landscapes towards the end of the rainy season, whereas at the onset of the rainy season many woody species of so called geoxyles or 'underground trees' (Burt-Davy 1922; White 1976) dominate the aspect of the vegetation. Thus, in vast areas of central and eastern Angola, the open 'grasslands' are de-facto co-dominated by grasses and geoxyles. Closely intertwined with miombo woodlands and with wetlands, geoxyle grasslands constitute one of the main and most particular ecosystem types of Angola. According to Mayaux et al. (2004), they cover at least 70,080 km2 or 5.6% of the Angolan territory (not including the small scale woodland geoxyle grassland mosaics of the central Angolan plateau).

The geoxyle life form is marked by proportionally massive underground woody organs, in literature often termed as lignotuber, xylopodia or woody rhizomes. Annual shoots sprout readily from the buds on these perennial woody organs, bearing leaves, inflrescences and fruits before they die back after the end of the rainy season. Coexistence of grasses and suffrutices is made possible by occupation of different ecological niches together with phase-delayed activity periods (i.e. main assimilation/flwering/fruiting time) that reduces competition.

Exploration of geoxyle grasslands

The first authors who indicated the distribution and ecological particularity of geoxyle grasslands in Angola were Gossweiler and Mendonça (1939), who classifid them as heathland-like woodlands ('Ericilignosa'). They already noted the main differentiation between the *Cryptosepalum* and *Brachystegia* dominated geoxyle communities ('Anharas de Ongote') on ferralitic and psammoferralitic soils and the vegetation types characterised by *Parinari capensis* and the Apocynaceae *Landolphia thollonii* and *L. camptoloba* on leached sandy soils ('Chanas da Borracha'). They had also already observed the strong thermic oscillations of which at least the 'Anharas de Ongote' are subject (see below) and commented on the generative cycle of *Brachystegia russelliae* from flowering to fruiting in the dry season (and thus, being inverse to the generative cycle of the C4-grasses).

Using a different mapping and classifiation approach, typical geoxyle grassland mostly on sandy soils were again mapped and described by Barbosa (1970) as 'Chanas da Borracha' (alluding to the presences of species of the genus *Landolphia*), 'Chanas da Cameia', and 'Anharas do Alto'. The *Cryptosepalum* spp. dominated 'Anharas de Ongote' on ferralitic soils are described (but not depicted on the map) as being inserted in the main miombo types of the Angolan plateau. However, he describes the typical spatial pattern, i.e. how they appear closes to the headwaters of the small tributaries and then follow the watercourses in narrow or broad fringes downstream. Gossweiler and Mendonça (1939) as well as Barbosa (1970), treated these ecosystems as particular site specific plant

communities closely linked to woodland ecosystems, and not as grass-dominated savannas.

White (1983), however, mapped and described only the sandy 'Chanas' as 'Kalahari and dambo-edge geoxylic grassland' in the context of the 'Zambezian edaphic grassland', but did not refer to the 'Anharas de Ongote' which constitute a key (but small scale) element of the miombo ecosystems of the Angolan plateau. Even in his prominent suffrutex review, White (1976) focuses solely on the 'Chanas' in the range of the Zambezi Graben and neither mentions (psammo-) ferralitic 'Anharas', nor lists their dominant key species *Brachystegia russelliae* and *C. exfoliatum* ssp. *suffruticans* in his geoxyle list. He certainly recognises a transition zone between Zambezian and Guineo-Congolian floras that spans over central and northern Angola (where the 'Anharas' are included) (White 1983). However, he did not recognise the importance and floristic singularity of the ferralitic geoxyle grasslands dominated by *Cryptosepalum* spp.

Geoxyle flora and endemism

The geoxyle life form appears in many different floristic groups and obviously evolved convergently. A similar center of geoxyle diversity has been reported from the Brazilian Cerrado. Today, 198 species from 40 families are listed for the western Zambezian phytochorion (White 1976; Maurin et al. 2014, own data), but an even higher number is expected as floristic exploration of the region is still poor and new species might be found (see Goyder and Gonçalves 2019). In some cases geoxyles are considered a dwarf variety or subspecies of a closely related tree species (e.g. *Gymnosporia senegalensis* var. *stuhlmanniana*, *Syzygium guineense* ssp. *huillense*) and hence classifid as such and not as one species, although the genetic relatedness between tree and dwarf form is rarely investigated. On the other hand, not all dwarf forms are obligate suffrutices; some can facultatively outgrow the dwarf state if protected from environmental stressors (White 1976), for instance *Oldfildia dactylophylla* or *Syzygium guineense* ssp. *macrocarpum* (Zigelski et al. 2018).

Within the geoxyle communities of the Zambezian phytochorion, the Rubiaceae have the highest number of described taxa (46), followed by Anacardiaceae (22) and Lamiaceae (14). Table 1 lists all families with known geoxyle taxa occurring in Angola and gives examples of common geoxyles for each family. Furthermore, Figure 5 shows some examples and aspects of geoxyle species given in Table 1. The unique Zambezian geoxylic flora with a high number of endemic species (Brenan 1978; White 1983; Frost 1996) is a consequence of challenging environmental conditions, as illustrated further below. According to Figueiredo and Smith's catalogue of Angolan plants (2008) and our list of suffrutices (Table1), 121 of the 198 geoxyle species occurring in the Zambezian phytochorion are known from Angola (61%). Of these 121 species 12 are endemic to Angola (10%).

Environmental conditions of geoxyle grasslands through the year

The substrate strongly inflences the species composition of the geoxylic grassland. In Angola geoxyles occur on (a) well-drained arenosols which are found as seasonally floded savannas in the Zambezi Graben of the Moxíco province or as sandy alluvial deposits on fossil river terraces along the valleys of the southern slopes of the Angolan plateau (Figure 6 a); (b) on psammo- ferralitic plinthisols as they frequently occur on the Bíe Plateau in central Angola. The geoxyle grasslands on ferralitic soils mostly occur on mid- and foot-slopes and are embedded within a matrix of miombo woodland (Figure 6 b).

Environmental conditions in geoxyle grasslands change dramatically throughout the year. The most perceived stresses are man-made fires in the dry season (May–October) which are mostly deployed to induce resprouting for livestock fodder or to facilitate hunting (Hall 1984). Depending on fire intensity, which in turn depends mostly on fuel load, ambient temperature and wind (Govender et al. 2006), such fires can completely burn unprotected aboveground biomass.

Plant family	n	Species commom in Angola	Angolan endemics
Rubiaceae	46	<i>Pygmaeothamnus zeyheri</i> (Sond.) Robyns, <i>Pachystigma pygmaeum</i> (Schltr.) Robyns	2, e.g. Leptactina prostrata
Anacardiaceae	22	Lannea edulis (Sond.) Engl., <i>Rhus</i> arenaria Engl.	3, e.g. Lannea gossweileri
Lamiaceae	14	<i>Clerodendrum ternatum</i> Schinz, <i>Vitex</i> <i>madiensis</i> ssp. <i>milanjensis</i> (Britten) F.White	
Fabaceae- Papilionioideae	13	<i>Erythrina baumii</i> Harms, <i>Abrus melanospermum</i> ssp. <i>suffruticosus</i> Hassk.	3, e.g. Adenodolichos mendesii
Proteaceae	11	Protea micans ssp. trichophylla (Engl. & Gilg) Chisumpa & Brummitt	1, <i>Protea paludosa</i> (Hiern) Engl <i>.</i>
Ochnaceae	9	Ochna arenaria De Wild. & T. Durand, Ochna manikensis De Wild.	
Passifloraceae	7	Paropsia brazzaeana Baill.	
Fabaceae- Detarioideae	6	Brachystegia russelliae I.M. Johnst., Cryptosepalum exfoliatum ssp. suffruticans (P.A.Duvign.)	
Apocynaceae	5	<i>Chamaeclitandra henriquesiana</i> (Hallier f.) Pichon	1, Landolphia gossweileri
Ebenaceae	5	Diospyros chamaethamnus Mildbr, Euclea crispa (Thunb.) Gürke	
Celastraceae	4	Gymnosporia senegalensis var. stuhlmanniana Loes.	
Dichapetalaceae	4	Dichapetalum cymosum (Hook.) Engl.	
Fabaceae- Caesalpinioideae	5	Entada arenaria Schinz, Bauhinia mendoncae Torre & Hillc.	
Myrtaceae	4	<i>Syzygium guineense</i> ssp. <i>huillense,</i> (Hiern) F. White, <i>Eugenia malangensis</i> (O.Hoffm.) Nied.	
Tiliaceae	4	Grewia herbaceae Hiern	
Combretaceae	3	<i>Combretum platypetalum</i> Welw. ex M. A. Lawson	2, e.g. Combretum argyrotrichum
Euphorbiaceae	3	<i>Sclerocroton oblongifolius</i> (Müll.Arg.) Kruijt & Roebers	
Loganiaceae	3	Strychnos gossweileri Exell	

Table 1: List of plant families with geoxyles in the Zambezian phytochorion.
Annonaceae	2	<i>Annona stenophylla</i> ssp. <i>nana</i> (Exell) N. Robson	
Apiaceae	2	<i>Steganotaenia hockii</i> (C. Norman) C. Norman	
Chrysobalanaceae	2	Parinari capensis Harv., Magnistipula sapinii De Wild.	
Meliaceae	2	Trichilia quadrivalvis C.DC.	
Moraceae	2	Ficus pygmaea Welw. ex Hiern	
Myricaceae	2	Morella serrata (Lam.) Killick	
Phyllanthaceae	2	Phyllanthus welwitschianus Müll.Arg.	
Ranunculaceae	2	Clematis villosa DC.	
Achariaceae	1	<i>Caloncoba suffruticosa</i> (Milne-Redh.) Exell & Sleumer	
Anisophyllaceae	1	Anisophyllea quangensis Engl. ex Henriq.	
Clusiaceae	1	Garcinia buchneri Engl.	
Dilleniaceae	1	Tetracera masuiana De Wild. & T. Durand	
Hypericaceae	1	Psorosperum mechowii Engl.	
Ixonanthaceae	1	<i>Phyllocosmus lemaireanus</i> (De Wild. & T. Durand) T. Durand & H. Durand	
Lecythidaceae	1	Napoleonaea gossweileri Baker f.	
Linaceae	1	Hugonia gossweileri Baker f. & Exell	
Malpighiaceae	1	<i>Sphedamnocarpus angolensis</i> (A. Juss.) Planch. ex Oliv.	
Malvaceae	1	Hibiscus rhodanthus Gürke	
Melastomaceae	1	Heterotis canescens (E. Mey. ex Graham) JacqFél.	
Picrodendraceae	1	<i>Oldfildia dactylophylla</i> (Welw. ex Oliv.) J.Léonard	
Rhamnaceae	1	Ziziphus zeyheriana Sond.	
Urticaceae	1	Pouzolzia parasitica (Forssk.) Schweinf.	

Note: Nº: Overal number of geoxyle species in the Zambezian phytochorion; examples of species occuring in Angola are given for each family. Compilation of families and species according to White (1976), Maurin et al. (2014) and own data.



Figure 5. Common Angolan geoxyle species. (a) *Ochna arenaria* (Ochnaceae), fruiting and growing on sandy sediments of the Bíe Plateau. (b) *Syzygium guineense* ssp. *huillense* (Myrtaceae) flwering in the dry season and growing on sandy soils of the Bíe Plateau. (c) *Lannea edulis* (Anacardiaceae), bearing edible fruits, growing on Kalahari sands in southeast Angola. (d) *Hibiscus rodanthus* (Malvaceae), growing on Kalahari sands in southeast Angola and flwering in the rainy season. (e) *Landolphia gossweileri* (Apocynaceae), typical element of the 'Chanas da Borracha', growing on sandy soils of the Bíe Plateau and bearing edible fruits. (f) *Phyllanthus welwitschianus* (Phyllanthaceae), growing on sandy soils of the Bíe Plateau and flwering in the

rainy season. (g) *Cryptosepalum exfoliatum* ssp. *suffruticans* (Fabaceae – Detarioideae) with excavated rootstocks, typical element of the 'Anharas de Ongote', growing on psammoferralitic soils of the Bíe Plateau. (h) *Parinari capensis* (Chrysobalanaceae), typical element of the 'Chanas da Borracha', growing on slightly elevated termite mounds in floded savannas of the Cameia National Park, Moxico Province.



Figure 6. Typical geoxyle grassland of Angola. (a) 'Chanas da Cameia' in the Cameia National Park, Moxíco Province, during dry season in June. The slightly elevated termite mounds provide habitat for several geoxyle species that avoid the low-lying areas that are waterlogged from January to May. (b) 'Anharas de Ongote' in the Sovi Valley on the southern slopes of the Bíe Plateau, in August. The mid- and footslopes are dominated by suffrutex-grassland with the characteristic reddish and green patches of the fresh leaves of *Brachystegia russelliae*, whereas the wetlands in the drainage lines are covered mostly by Cyperaceae (background, in dark green).

Another abiotic stress occurring mostly in the early dry season (June–August) is nocturnal frost, peaking immediately before sunrise. At this time of year masses of cold dry air from southern latitudes intrude into south-central Africa (Tyson and Preston-Whyte 2000). As depressions accumulate confluent cold air, the undulating topography of the Angolan highlands facilitates frequent radiation frost especially in valleys (Revermann and Finckh 2013; Finckh et al. 2016). Up to 44 frost events per dry season (with a minimum temperature of -7.5 °C) were recorded by Finckh et al. (2016), with a temperature span of up to 40 degrees within 12 h. Most woody species from tropical background (including geoxyles) are sensitive to frost, their leaves wilt or their shoots die-off entirely.

The geoxyle species seem to be triggered by the destruction of their shoots by frost and/or fire, as they readily resprout after these disturbances and in most cases already start flwering in the dry season. The geoxyles therefore have often already finished their generative cycle when the grasses start to cover them.

The geoxyles of the sandy plains in eastern Angola are furthermore subject to seasonal floding in the late rainy and early dry season (January–May), leading, for example, in the Cameia National Park to standing water up to 0.5 m deep. Whereas grass species dominate the sites which are inundated for several months, geoxyle species seem to avoid fully waterlogged sites and grow patchily on slightly elevated termite mounds (Figure 6 b) or other well drained sites.

The dominant grass species seem to profit from inundation. Their tufts develop massively in the middle of the rainy season and they flower and bear fruits throughout the flooding season (own observations).

Knowledge gaps on the evolution of the geoxyles and the formation of geoxyle grasslands

A common observation within geoxyle ecosystems is the resemblance (Meerts 2017) and assumed close relatedness of geoxyle species to tree species that occur in forests and woodlands. The indigenous people (e.g. the Chokwe in eastern Angola) in many cases recognise the similarity and relatedness and use similar local names for such pairs, for instance *Muhaua* and *Mupaua* for the tree and geoxyle forms of *Syzygium guineense* Willd. DC. The striking fact that the suffrutex life form was developed by several plant families independently and at roughly the same time (Maurin et al. 2014) indicates a common driver that triggered its convergent evolution.

Grassy biomes emerged in Africa in the late Miocene approximately 10 mya (Cerling et al. 1997; Keeley and Rundel 2005; Herbert et al. 2016). This period is characterised by global climatic fluctuations which led to cooler, drier conditions, to a drop of atmospheric CO₂ concentrations and particularly to pronounced precipitation seasonality (i.e. wet and dry seasons) in southern Africa (Pagani et al. 1999). As a consequence, humid tropical forests retreated to more favorable sites further north and were replaced by more open dry and seasonal tropical forest ecosystems like the miombo (Bonnefile 2011). In parts where miombo landscapes prevail today, canopies were disrupted and allowed the establishment of open ecosystems embedded in woodland matrices. These open ecosystems were then rapidly occupied by lightdemanding C4-grasses and the evolving geoxyles.

It is still an open discussion why open geoxyle grasslands are able to persist within the woodlands (or vice versa). It is however likely that rainfall seasonality and the above described abiotic stresses that characterise the geoxyle grasslands play a major role in their establishment and maintenance (Sankaran et al. 2005; Staver et al. 2011).

Savanna ecologists tend to see fire as the main driver for grassland formation. On the one hand frequent fires prevent tree establishment if saplings cannot outgrow the reach of the flmes and are destroyed therein. For woodlands in eastern South Africa, a fire free time period of at least 5 years is necessary for many tree species to escape the 'fire trap' (Sankaran et al. 2004; Gignoux et al. 2009). This time window, allowing for successful reestablishment of trees, is rarely achieved in Angolan grasslands, at least nowadays (Schneibel et al. 2013; Stellmes et al. 2013). C4-savanna grasses, however, respond positively to periodic burning and resprout within weeks (Bond and Keeley 2005), thus being able to colonise seasonally burnt sites.

Forest ecologists, on the other hand, attribute the frequent short duration frost events in the dry season for preventing tree recruitment in the open areas (Finckh et al. 2016). As the list of geoxyles (Table 1) shows, mainly (but not exclusively) tropical families or genera evolved suffrutex life forms. Frost is deleterious to most tropical tree taxa, as they have not developed physiological adaptations to this 'untropical' stress factor, thus showing little or no frost tolerance (Sakai and Larcher 2012). As the geoxyle grasslands are typically situated in particularly frost prone sites (depressions), tree taxa that are not adapted to frost are being filtered out of such environments.

In any case, a promising strategy to cope with seasonally returning thermic stress (by frost or fire) is to protect sensitive organs (buds) by hiding them underground. Tree species relocated their woody biomass and regenerative buds belowground at the expense of growth height and were thus able to cope with frost and fire prone sites (White 1976; Maurin et al. 2014; Finckh et al. 2016). Even shallow soil depths of less than 10 cm are sufficient to alleviate thermic stresses (Revermann and Finckh 2013). The high number of tropical genera and families that contribute to the geoxyle flora show how successful this strategy is for frost sensitive and fire susceptible taxa, in order to survive the adverse conditions of the open grasslands.

Concomitantly other evolutionary advantages of the geoxylic life form have been discussed, for instance poor edaphic conditions, as favoured by White (1976). He considered the low nutrient status of the leached and locally seasonal waterlogged soils on Kalahari sands as a likely cause for the lack of regular trees and the suffrutication of them as means of compensation. However, trees as well as geoxyles often grow on the same or similarly poor soils, with comparable physical and chemical properties (Gröngröft et al. 2013); forests and grasslands are not separated by edaphic boundaries but follow topographic rather than edaphic logics.

The waterlogging argument on the other hand would imply that the woody underground organs show adaptations to inundation, for instance aerenchymatic tissue or adventitious roots (Parolin 2008). Anatomical analyses of the rootstocks of four common geoxyles

species however did not provide any support for aerenchymatic tissue nor other adaptations to inundation (Sanguino 2015). Moreover, in seasonally floded savannas geoxyles avoid inundated sites. This is even the case for *Syzygium guineense* ssp. *huillense*, a geoxyle closely related to a tree species that grows along and in rivers and floodplains (Coates Palgrave 2002; Meerts and Hasson 2016).

To summarise, so far the main environmental driver for the astonishing radiation of geoxyles has not been conclusively identifid. The emergence of the geoxyle grassland at the end of the Pliocene and the peak of radiation at the beginning of the Pleistocene is clearly related to climatic seasonality and pronounced dry seasons. Dry seasons, however, did not only provide the necessary dry fuel for fire but also provided the atmospheric conditions for nocturnal frost events – the seasonality argument, thus, do not tip the balance toward fire or frost.

Conservation value and conservation challenges

Various studies recognise the high floristic singularity of the Zambezian phytochorion and geoxyle grasslands with its unique life forms contribute prominently to its high number of endemic species (Clayton and Cope 1980; White 1983). The high degree of geoxyle endemics within the Zambezian phytochorion as well as within Angola is a consequence of a unique setting of environmental drivers like nutrient poor soils, frequent frosts and fires or precipitation seasonality in a small-scale heterogeneous landscape (Linder 2001). Thus, the Zambezian phytochorion can be seen as an evolutionary laboratory that promoted the evolution of many specialised plant species, e.g. geoxyles, orchids and grasses.

Geoxyle grasslands are sometimes misunderstood as 'degraded forests', overlooking their naturalness. Through this misconception they are listed as sites for reforestation in order to recover presumably lost forests and to sequestrate atmospheric CO₂ (Parr et al. 2014). However, the well-intentioned act of reforestation would in fact destroy biodiverse natural ecosystems (Bond 2016). A lack of understanding, however, frustrates the development of appropriate conservation measures for the geoxyle grassland today and in the future. The rebuilding process in Angola also has risks, happening at a rapid pace and shaping the

landscape to human demands with limited consideration for sustainable management (Pröpper et al. 2015). Flooded savannas in the Moxíco Province for instance are targeted for largescale agro-industrial development (ANGOP 2017). Not even National Parks offer adequate protection to ecosystems in this area, as the first rice schemes emerged during 2016 within the limits of Cameia National Park (own observation). Deficiencies in communication and cooperation between different ministries and governance levels aggravate such problems.

Outlook

Many questions still remain to be answered around the enigmatic life form of the geoxyles. In order to effiiently safeguard geoxyle grasslands, we need to understand the evolutionary drivers and evolutionary processes shaping these ecosystems. For instance, a thorough understanding of the evolutionary drivers and the response of geoxyles to them would help to assess how current environmental conditions affect the Zambezian ecosystems and how landscape shaping processes work. Moreover, investigations about genetic patterns of geoxyle and close tree relatives would give insight to speciation processes, means of propagation (clonal or sexual) and evolutionary history. Also, ecophysiological or morphological measurements would contribute another perspective from which to assess how geoxyles react to environmental stresses and change processes. All these facets are currently the subjects of incipient research.



CHAPTER 3- Suffrutex grasslands in south-central Angola: belowground biomass, root structure, soil characteristics and vegetation dynamic of the "underground forests of Africa"

Amândio L. Gomes, Rasmus Revermann, Francisco M. P. Gonçalves, Fernanda Lages, Marcos P. M. Aidar, Graciela A. Sanguino Mostajo and Manfred Finckh

Accepted to Journal of Tropical Ecology

Abstract

Despite its importance for many vegetation types, ecosystems and land-use systems, below-ground biomass so far has seldom been measured due to methodological complexity, the high effort, and the costs involved. This study assessed woody belowground biomass and related carbon stocks, soil properties and human impact of sandy Parinari capensis- and ferralitic Brachystegia russelliae-grasslands on the central Angolan plateau. MODIS remote sensing products on EVI and Fire were retrieved via Google Earth Engine, biomass and soil data were taken from plots using direct destructive sampling. Soil samples were analysed for a small set of selected key parameters. Both grassland types differ strongly in EVI and fire-seasonality. Brachystegia russelliaegrasslands have all year round a considerably higher EVI than Parinari capensisgrasslands, while these burn almost twice more frequent than Brachystegia russelliaegrasslands. All soils were extremely acid, showing a low nutrient availability. Most woody below-ground biomass is located in the top 30 cm of the soil. Mean below-ground woody biomass was estimated at 17 t/ha in sandy Parinari capensis-grasslands and 44 t/ha in ferralitic Brachystegia russelliae-grasslands of which 50% correspond to carbon stocks. We conclude that below-ground biomass in geoxylic grasslands is an important component for carbon stock accounting of African dry-tropical ecosystems.

Key words: Angola, belowground biomass, *Brachystegia russelliae*, carbon stocks, EVI, grassland fire, geoxyles; miombo, *Parinari capensis*.

Introduction

Patterns of aboveground biomass (AGB) distribution in terrestrial ecosystems are reasonably well understood, whereas interest in belowground biomass (BGB) and its distribution has risen only in recent years (IPCC 2006, Ravindranath and Ostwald 2008, Rosillo-Calle et al. 2007). However, BGB contributes strongly to the total plant biomass for many plant communities (Cairns et al. 1997, Chidumayo 2013, de Castro and Kauffman 1998, Grace et al. 2006, IPCC 2006, Ryan et al. 2010). Probably due to the difficulties in harvesting and measuring belowground organs less attention has been given to BGB and methods of analysis have not been standardized (IPCC 2006, Lichacz et al. 2009, Sanford and Cuevas 1996, Wetzel and Howe 1999).

Yet, AGB and BGB both are important components of terrestrial ecosystem carbon stocks (Mokany et al. 2006). AGB, the most visible of all carbon pools, includes all biomass in living vegetation, both woody and herbaceous, above the soil including stems, stumps, branches, bark, seeds and foliage whereas BGB is the entire biomass of all living roots, tubers, bulbs and rhizomes, excluding fine roots less than 2 mm in diameter because empirically these cannot be easily distinguished from other components (Ravindranath and Ostwald 2008).

BGB is an important carbon pool for many vegetation types, ecosystems and land-use systems. Globally, BGB has a high share of total biomass in most grassland ecosystems (Coupland 1992). In addition, many tropical grasslands are co-dominated by geoxylic suffrutices (du Rietz 1931; White 1976) or geoxyles (Lindman 1914; Simon et al. 2009) e.g. in the Brazilian Cerrado or in the miombo woodland landscapes of south-central Africa. Geoxyles are small woody plants with annual or short-lived woody shoots sprouting from massive or extensive perennial woody underground axes (White 1976), comprising xylopodia (Simon et al. 2009), lignotubers (Kolbek and Alves 2008) or woody rhizomes (Pausas et al. 2018). Most geoxylic biomass is located below ground (Robertson, 2005) in a complex network of rhizomes, roots, or tubers, and thus was referred to as "underground forests" by White (1976) in his pioneering paper on geoxylic suffrutices.

The Zambezian centre of endemism is a hotspot of geoxyle diversity (White 1976), but the reasons for this surprising diversity are still not well understood (Zigelski et al. 2019). On the Angolan Central Plateau suffrutex grasslands cover a substantial part of the land surface (Stellmes et al. 2013). While miombo woodlands grow on the hills and upper slopes, the lower slopes of most valleys are covered by open vegetation types dominated by grasses and geoxyles. Thus, to correctly quantify carbon allocation and storage of these particular ecosystems BGB has to be taken into account.

Obtaining accurate estimates of BGB is recognized as essential for determining its contribution to carbon storage (Chamberlain et al. 2013) and, thus, required for reporting to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change and REDD+. So far, most inventories have used an average root to shoot ratio and allometric equations to estimate BGB for several purposes such as carbon accounting (Chidumayo 2013, Nieto-Quintano et al. 2018, Ryan et al. 2011). However, none of these methods can be applied to suffrutex grasslands due to the great difference between above and belowground organs (Robertson 2005). Thus, direct, destructive sampling is the only method to obtain accurate estimates of BGB of suffrutex grasslands. To our knowledge, BGB of suffrutex grasslands has so far not being quantified by direct sampling in the African tropics. Therefore, in this paper we aim (1) to shortly describe and compare the ecology, structure and phenology of the two main types of suffrutex grasslands in central Angola; (2) to describe habitat preferences and morphology of the dominant geoxyle species of these two habitat types; (3) to assess BGB and carbon stocks of the suffrutex grasslands; (4) to discuss the relationship between BGB, soil properties and geoxyle morphology; and (5) to briefly assess current human impacts on suffrutex grasslands. The results will allow us to better understand the ecological importance of suffrutex grasslands and their role in the functioning of African savannas which are still strongly data deficient (Ryan et al. 2010).

Material and Methods

Research site

The study was conducted in the Cusseque area of the Chitembo Municipality in Bié Province, Angola (Figure 7). The elevation of the study area varies between 1397 m and 1562 m. The landscape is dominated by miombo woodlands (main tree species belong to the Fabaceae genera *Brachystegia*, *Cryptosepalum*, *Julbernardia* and *Isoberlinia*).



Figure 7: a) The research site Cusseque of The Future Okavango (TFO) project (www.futureokavango.org) in the upper Cubango basin (red rectangle, 100 km2). The occurrence of open suffrutex grasslands on ferralitic soils (light green color, e.g. in the Sovi River valley) and sandy deposits (white, eastern bank of the Cusseque River) is a characteristic feature in the valleys, contrasting with the miombo woodlands on the hills (dark green); b) location in south-central Africa (the Okavango Basin marked with grey square); c) the Cubango/Okavango Basin in the three countries Angola, Namibia and Botswana, black square indicates the research site Cusseque; d) mean monthly rainfall in the study area (Fick and Hijmans 2017). The vegetation distribution follows the topography of the landscape. While the hill tracts are dominated by closed canopy woodlands, the valleys are dominated by geoxylic grasslands. In this area, two types of geoxylic grassland can be distinguished: Brachystegia russelliae dominated "Anharas de Ongote", hereafter called Brachystegia-grasslands on ferralitic soils of the east-west running tributary rivers, and Parinari capensis dominated "Chanas de borracha", hereafter called Parinari-grasslands on sandy deposits of the main north-south stretching Cusseque valley (Revermann et al. 2013, 2017, 2018). Brachystegia-grasslands cover 23.3 % of the study site and Parinari-grasslands 8.5 % (Schneibel et al. 2013). The diversity of geoxyles in both grassland types is high, Zigelski et al. (2019) report more than 121 species of geoxyles for Angola of which more than 70 species occur in the study area (Revermann et al. 2017; own unpublished data).

The study area has a subhumid summer-rainfall climate with a pronounced wet season lasting from October to April with a mean annual precipitation of 987 mm. Mean annual temperature is 20.4°C (Weber 2013). Night frosts occur frequently during the winter (June and July) especially in the valleys (Revermann and Finckh 2013; Finckh et al. 2016).

Data collection

Seasonal vegetation dynamics of geoxylic grasslands in central Angola

We used data from the Moderate Resolution Imaging Spectroradiometer (MODIS) to compare the seasonal land cover dynamics of *Brachystegia*- and *Parinari*-grasslands. For 20 sites systematically distributed over the suffrutex grasslands of the study area (10 in each vegetation unit) we used the Google Earth Engine to retrieve the Enhanced Vegetation Index (EVI) based on the combined MYD13Q1 and MOD13Q1 data products covering the observation period 2010-2019. The systematic sampling design was chosen to cover all main grassland tracts separated by fire breaks (forests, wetlands, roads) and to minimize the probability that several sampling points were affected by single fire events. To analyse the phenological development and to obtain a proxy for the above ground biomass throughout the season we calculated the mean annual course of the EVI for both vegetation types over the ten year period.

Structure and morphology of woody belowground plant organs

The area covered by suffrutex grasslands exhibited two characteristic soil types, ferralitic and sandy soils. For each of the two present soil types we chose the three most dominant geoxyle species for structural and morphological analyses. In ferralitic soils these were Brachystegia russelliae I. M. JOHNSTON, Cryptosepalum exfoliatum subsp. suffruticans (P. A. DUVIGN.) P. A. DUVIGN. & BRENAN and Syzygium guineense subsp. huillensis (HIERN.) F. WHITE; in the sandy soil we chose Parinari capensis HARV., Pygmaeothamnus zeyheri (SOND.) ROBYNS and Ochna arenaria DE WILD. & T. DURAND. We excavated five individuals of each species. During excavation we carefully removed the soil around the individuals with shovel, knife and by hand, striving for the extraction of intact belowground organs (roots, shoots, tubers and buds). We observed and described in detail their complex woody belowground structures and morphology. For classification of the belowground bud bank type we followed Pausas et al. (2018). The taxon which we call in this paper Cryptosepalum exfoliatum subsp. suffruticans (P. A. Duvign.) P. A. Duvign. & Brenan does not fullymatch the description in Flora Zambesiaca. Specimen have been deposited at the herbaria LUBA and HBG under the collection numbers 132481, 132685, 132754, 132825, 133059, 134697 and 143366. D.Goyder and R.Polhill (both at Royal Botanic Gardens, Kew) consider it a putative new *Cryptosepalum* species (pers. comm.). However, in order to maintain consistency with previous publications (e.g., Gomes et al, 2019, Revermann et al., 2013, 2017, 2018, Zigelski et al, 2019), for the time being we continue to use the name.

Belowground biomass and carbon stocks

Belowground biomass (BGB) per unit area was assessed based on field measurements of samples collected in 138 square pits dug within the study area (99 in *Brachystegia*-grasslands and 39 in *Parinari*-grasslands), harvesting all woody biomass. Pits were distributed in the following order: 60 pits (all in *Brachystegia*-grasslands) were located in two 1,000 m² (20 m x 50 m) plots divided into 10 sub-plots of 10 m x 10 m each; for each sub-plot we dug three pits of 0.5 m x 0.5 m x 0.5 m (length, width and depth) diagonally,

with two pits in the opposite corners and one in the centre (Dengler 2009) as shown in Figure 8.



Figure 8: Sampling design of BGB within a 1000 m^2 plot subdivided in ten 100 m^2 subplots containing three soil pits (Adapted from Dengler 2009).

Furthermore, 48 pits (36 in *Brachystegia*-grasslands and 12 in *Parinari*-grasslands) of the same size were located in 16 plots of 10 m x 10 m spread in the geoxylic grasslands (12 in *Brachystegia*-grasslands and 4 in *Parinari*-grasslands); 20 pits (3 in *Brachystegia*-grasslands and 17 in *Parinari*-grasslands) were dug randomly in surrounding grasslands. Despite the highest woody biomass concentration being in many vegetation types in a depth of 0.3 m (de Castro and Kauffman 1998, Jackson et al. 1996, Ravindranath and Ostwald 2008), we harvested down to 0.5 m to include almost all BGB. Before digging, each pit was cleared of all AGB with pruning-shears. During excavation, all woody roots and/or branches > 2 mm in diameter were carefully separated from the soil material. All harvested biomass was dried to constant weight. Dry mass was obtained using a digital scale, after eliminating the last remnants of soil material. For sake of comparability with data from the literature, all weights are given as t/ha.

Carbon stocks were estimated assuming that 50% of the biomass corresponds to carbon (Ciais et al. 2011, IPCC 2006, Nabuurs et al. 2003, Schlesinger 1997). We used the measured dry mass to calculate the corresponding carbon stock in suffrutex grasslands.

Soil characteristics

Soil samples were taken in the centre of 46 plots (18 in ferralitic soils and 28 in sandy soils). Soil samples were taken at three depths: 1) 0 cm - 10 cm; 2) 10 cm - 30 cm; 3) 30 cm - 50 cm. Soil analyses were made in the soil laboratory of the Instituto de Investigação Agronómica da Chianga, in Huambo, Angola. For each layer we analysed

texture (particle size class distribution by sedimentation test), pH (by potentiometer in water, KCI and CaCl₂)_, exchangeable bases (EB) (by ammonium acetate method), exchangeable acidity (AI+H) (by KCI extraction), cation exchange capacity (CEC) by calculation (CEC=K+Ca+Mg+(H+AI)), extractable phosphorous (by Truog method), aluminium saturation (m) by calculation (m=100*AI³⁺/CEC), total exchangeable bases (TEB) by calculation (TEB=K⁺+Ca²⁺+Mg²⁺+Na⁺) and base saturation (V) by calculation (V=100*TEB/CEC). Subsequently we calculated the average of each parameter per plot and finally the mean for the study area was calculated.

Human impact

Since 2011 we conducted field research on the southern slopes of the Bié Plateau, visiting the wider study area at least twice a year. Since then, we continuously surveyed the study area for human activities affecting the woodlands (including suffrutex grasslands) and observed changes in land use practices. Of particular importance are human made fires, which are often used in the study area during dry season to facilitate hunting of small game.

To quantify the fire frequency in the suffrutex grasslands and to compare fire dynamics between the vegetation units, we again used data from the Moderate Resolution Imaging Spectroradiometer (MODIS). For the same 20 sites as used for the EVI, we retrieved the MCD64A1 Version 6 Burned Area data product to assess the seasonal fire of *Brachystegia*- and *Parinari*-grasslands. Based on the ten year period from 2010 to 2019, we calculated for both vegetation types the seasonal mean monthly fire incidence per plot.

Data analysis

One-way ANOVA was used to test for significant differences of mean values of BGB and soil properties between the two different grassland types. All statistical analyses were carried out using BioEstat (Version 2.0) and PAST (Version 2.16).

Results

Ecology, structure and seasonal vegetation dynamics of the two main types of geoxylic grasslands in central Angola

The suffrutex grasslands of the study area are subject to strong seasonal changes. Field observations indicate that geoxyles dominate from mid-August to December while grasses shape the appearance from January to June. Senescence of the leaves of geoxyles and grasses occurs in the cold dry season from mid-May to mid-August. The EVI-curves of both vegetation types clearly depict this general seasonal pattern with lowest values observed in July, corresponding to the peak of the dry season, a marked increase in September already prior the onset of the rainy season, and the peak in December and January (Figure 9).

However, throughout the year the EVI of *Brachystegia*-grasslands is considerably higher than the EVI of *Parinari*-grasslands. This higher EVI reflects the dense (micro-) canopy cover and high leaf biomass of the dominant *Brachystegia russelliae*, which has no equivalent in the *Parinari*-grasslands (Figure 9).



Figure 9: Annual phenology of *Brachystegia*- (A) and *Parinari*- (B) grasslands in the Cusseque study site on the Angolan central plateau. The graph shows monthly mean EVI values of a ten year observation period (2010-2019) for 20 systematically selected sample plots. Data was derived from the combined MYD13Q1 and MOD13Q1 data products via Google Earth Engine.

Structure and morphology of complex belowground organs

The six geoxyle species displayed a wide spectrum of belowground organs in terms of their morphology, spatial distribution and area occupied, despite being encountered under similar environmental conditions (Table 2). However, all species showed belowground bud banks (BBB) (Pausas et al. 2018) in the thickened underground woody organs from which new aerial shoots regenerate after die-off of aboveground shoots through local disturbance such as fire, frost or herbivory.

Table 2 describes the habitat preferences and the morphology of the dominant geoxyle species based on *in situ* measurements. The first three species dominate the ferralitic *Brachystegia*-grasslands in the east-west stretching tributary valleys, the following three are characteristic of the *Parinari*-grasslands in the north-south stretching main valley of the study area. Examples of the underground organs of the studied species are shown in the Figure 10.

	Brachystegia russelliae	Cryptosepalum exfoliatum subsp. suffruticans	Syzygium guineense subsp. huillense	Parinari capensis	Pygmaeo- thamnus zeyheri	Ochna arenaria
Soil type	ferralitic	ferralitic	ferralitic and sandy	sandy	sandy	sandy
BBB-type ¹	woody rhizome	woody rhizome	lignotuber	woody rhizome	woody rhizome	woody rhizome
Growth direction	horizontal, interwoven, 2 layers	horizontal, interwoven, up to 4 layers	lignified tubers, few thickened ramifications	horizontal, wide stretching,	horizontal, wide stretching,	horizontal
Ν	29	29	12	14	19	17
Mean height of aerial shoots±SE (cm)	18.24±0.55	5.17±0.12	40.25±6.42	4.50±0.31	10.42±0.29	6.88±0.51
Maximum height of aerial shoots (cm)	26	7	72	6	13	10
Patch diameter (m)	>10	>5	<10	>10	>10	<3
Main depth of BGB (cm)	20	20	25	25	25	25
Maximum diameter of underground woody organs (cm)	>10	>10	7	>10	5	2.5
Depth of maximum fine root development (cm)	0-10	0-10	0-10	0-10	0-10	0-10
Presence of adventitious roots	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes

Table 2: Habitat preferences and morphological description of selected geoxyle species.

¹ according to the classification by Pausas et al., 2018



Figure 10: The six geoxyle species discussed in the text, four of them with top-soil removed to show the complex woody rhizome belowground. a- *Brachystegia russelliae*; b-*Cryptosepalum exfoliatum* subsp. *suffruticans*; c- *Syzygium guineense* subsp. *huillense*; d-*Parinari capensis*; e- *Pygmaeothamnus zeyheri*; f- *Ochna arenaria*.

Below-ground biomass and carbon stocks

BGB varied considerably within and between the two types of geoxylic grassland. In *Parinari*-grasslands BGB varied from 0.56 to 45.60 t/ha with an average and standard error of 16.61±3.05 t/ha, while in *Brachystegia*-grasslands on ferralitic soil BGB varied from 4.56 to 95.20 t/ha with an average and standard error of 44.25±3.99 t/ha

(Table S6, S7 and Figure 11). One-way ANOVA showed that BGB in *Brachystegia*grasslands was significantly higher than in *Parinari*-grasslands (F=25; p<0.001).



Figure 11: Box-whisker plots showing the range of BGB in *Brachystegia russelliae*- and *Parinari capensis*-grasslands).

Assuming that 50% of the biomass is carbon (Ciais et al., 2011, Nabuurs et al., 2003, Schlesinger, 1997), we can estimate that BGB associated carbon stocks in *Parinariand Brachystegia-*grasslands are equivalent to 8.30 t/ha and 22.12 t/ha, respectively.

Soil properties

Our analyses revealed that the soils in the study sites are extremely acidic, with low clay and high sand content, low contents of the main exchangeable bases (K, Mg and Ca) and base saturation (V), very low cation exchange capacity (CEC), very low exchangeable phosphorus and consequently very low soil fertility. Aluminium was the cation dominating CEC and sodium was completely absent in all soil samples from suffrutex grasslands (Table S3 and S4).

Comparing the two grassland-types (Table 3), one-way ANOVA revealed significant differences in soil properties: Sand content and pH_{KCI} were higher in *Parinari*- than in *Brachystegia*-grasslands, while pH_{CaCl_2} , K, Ca, P, AI+H, CEC and EB were higher in *Brachystegia*- than in *Parinari*-grassland soils. In general, sand content in *Parinari*-grassland soils (92.3%) was higher than in *Brachystegia*-grassland soils (84.6%). Clay content was very low (2.9%) in *Parinari*-grassland soils and but slightly higher in

*Brachystegia-*grassland soils (5.6%). However, clay content did not show a constant vertical distribution pattern in the soil profiles (Tables S3 and S4).

	Parinari-grassland		Brachystegia-grassland		One-Way ANOVA	
	mean	Std error	mean	Std error	F	p(same)
Clay (%)	2.90	0.69	5.56	1.15	3.05	0.085
Silt (%)	4.72	0.72	6.26	0.49	3.37	0.071
Sand (%)	92.33	1.00	84.58	1.93	9.59	0.003
рН (H ₂ O)	4.82	0.08	4.76	0.06	0.33	0.566
pH (KCI)	4.32	0.05	4.18	0.05	4.18	0.045
pH (Ca ₂ Cl)	4.10	0.04	4.28	0.04	7.95	0.006
K (cmolc dm ⁻³)	2.50	0.55	6.63	0.78	15.55	0.000
Ca (cmolc dm ⁻³)	1.83	0.78	7.07	1.95	4.62	0.035
Mg (cmolc dm⁻³)	1.05	0.41	1.94	0.54	1.46	0.231
P (mg dm⁻³)	2.42	0.33	5.75	0.45	29.15	0.000
AI (cmolc dm ⁻³)	0.50	0.05	0.53	0.04	0.10	0.749
AI+H (cmolc dm ⁻³)	1.42	0.28	2.33	0.27	5.07	0.028
CEC (cmolc dm ⁻³)	7.65	1.40	18.71	2.00	16.67	0.000
EB (cmolc dm ⁻³)	5.99	1.22	15.85	2.03	13.49	0.000
V%	71.06	4.57	77.83	2.53	1.96	0.167
m%	22.17	2.53	28.94	4.57	1.96	0.167

Table 3: One-way ANOVA comparing mean soil properties in two types of grassland. Significant differences are marked in bold.

Human impact on geoxyle grassland

To date, the main human impacts in both types of suffrutex grasslands are anthropogenic dry season fires. The analysis of fire frequency based on MODIS time series data showed that over a ten year period *Parinari*-grassland sites experienced a much higher mean annual fire incidence (0.70±0.058 fires per year) than *Brachystegia*-grassland sites (0.37±0.086 fires per year), meaning that *Parinari*-grasslands burn in two out of three years while *Brachystegia*-grasslands burn only (a bit more than) once in three years. These data for fire incidence are minimum values as small patchy fires might go undetected in the MODIS Burned Area data product with a resolution of 500 m. Besides that, the fire season in *Parinari*-grasslands starts





Figure 12: Mean monthly number of fires per plot over the 10 year period from 2010 to 2019 for *Parinari capensis*- and *Brachystegia russelliae*-grasslands in the study area (10 sample sites per vegetation type, based on the MODIS MCD64A1 Burned Area data product).

Some geoxyle species (e.g. *Syzygium guineense*, *Landolphia gossweileri* (STAPF) PICHON, *Anisophyllea fruticulosa* ENGL. & GILG. and *Parinari capensis*) are sources of edible fruits and medicines. During the rainy season fruits are harvested in suffrutex grasslands and eaten by the local population or sold along the main roads (e.g. Chitembro-Mumbué). Moreover, many leaves, roots and rhizomes of grassland plants are used as medicine (Firmino 2016).

At present, only very small parts of the suffrutex grasslands are used for subsistence agriculture; where this is the case, the *Parinari*-grasslands are preferred for cultivation as working the soils of the *Brachystegia*-grasslands without machinery is almost impossible.

Discussion

Seasonal vegetation dynamics

Our results show strong seasonal changes of EVI in geoxylic grassland ecosystems with minima in the dry season and maxima during the peak of the rainy season. In so far, the EVI seems to follow seasonal patterns of aridity. However, a closer analysis of the data reveals that the EVI is rising already from mid-August onwards, more than six weeks before the onset of the rainy season in the first half of October. The period of 6-8 weeks of pre-rain green-up of suffrutex grasslands is in line with the phenological strategy of 53 +/- 18 days reported by Ryan et al (2017) for wet miombo. Thus, in terms of phenology suffrutex grasslands resemble closely the neighbouring woodland and forest ecosystems.

The parallel EVI-curves of *Parinari*- and *Brachystegia*-grasslands indicate constant differences in AGB and land cover between the two geoxylic grassland types throughout the year, with *Brachystegia*-grasslands having significantly higher values than *Parinari*-grasslands. Thus, the differences in EVI between the two grassland types are in line with the differences in BGB.

Structure and morphology of complex belowground organs

Our results show that geoxyles have a highly complex system of underground organs, their functional origins (stem, root or tubers) being difficult to determine based on morphological observations. Anatomical analyses are needed to describe precisely the complex morpho-anatomical system of the geoxyles, as shown by Vilhalva and Appezato da Glória (2006) who described geoxyle species occurring in the Brazilian cerrado biome.

Basal and or belowground bud banks (Clarke et al. 2013, Pausas et al. 2018) are found in all studied geoxyle species. Buds positioned below ground level are protected by the soil against short lasting temperature extremes due to the low thermal conductivity of soils (Clarke et al. 2013). Thus, they allow for rapid resprouting of aerial shoots after fire and frost, the two main local disturbances (Finckh et al. 2016, Revermann and Finckh 2013) and thus for the persistence of these species in the ecosystem (Pausas et al. 2018). Woody rhizomes are a characteristic feature among the dominant geoxyles of both grassland types, indicating their strong ability for vegetative, horizontal growth and lead to a competitive advantage.

Belowground biomass and carbon stock

This study is among the first to quantify BGB of geoxyle dominated ecosystems in Africa. Our results show that an enormous amount of biomass is stored underground in these treeless vegetation types: *Parinari*-grasslands showed an average of 16.61 t/ha BGB; in *Brachystegia*-grasslands BGB with 44.25 t/ha was significantly higher. Thus, structurally similar but floristically different suffrutex grasslands differ widely in their BGB.

BGB decreased quickly with depth and was mostly concentrated in the upper soil horizons (0 to 30 cm). These results concur with other results from tropical savannas where more than 70% of BGB are reported to occur in the upper 30 cm of the soil (Jackson et al. 1996; de Castro & Kauffman 1998). Differences in BGB between *Parinari-* and *Brachystegia-*grasslands can be attributed to the differences in the morphology of the woody underground organs, depending again on species specific traits of the dominant geoxyle species.

Empirical studies around the globe of different vegetation types show BGB values to range from 1.1 t/ha (minimum in miombo woodland) up to 206.3 t/ha (maximum in Douglas fir forests) (Table 4). The BGB recorded for the suffrutex grasslands in central Angola amount to similar values recorded in other grassland and tropical savanna ecosystems (Table 4). As such, they are also in the range reported by De Castro & Kauffmann (1998) for the Brazilian cerrado, another geoxyle-rich ecosystem.

Comparing the obtained BGB values for the two types of suffrutex grasslands with regional studies on woodland vegetation shows that BGB in *Parinari*-grasslands is at least as high and that *Brachystegia*-grasslands partly even exceed these values: Ryan et al. (2011) recorded 17.2 t/ha in miombo woodlands in Mozambique and Chidumayo (2013) estimated 18 t/ha and 44 t/ha (for regrowth and old-growth, respectively) in Zambian miombo woodlands. The relevance of the BGB of suffrutex

grasslands is further illustrated by a comparison of our measured BGB data with AGB estimates of the surrounding miombo woodlands. Sichone et al. (2018) report, depending on the allometric equation used, a median of 48.8 or 60.4 t/ha AGB for the miombo woodlands on the Angolan Central Plateau. Accordingly, the BGB of the geoxylic *Brachystegia*-grasslands almost equals the amount of above ground biomass of the neighbouring woodlands.

BGB t/ha)	Vegetation type	Country	Reference
16.0 to 37.0	Grassland	Szech Republic	Fiala 2011
44.6 to 49.4*	Grassland	USA	Fiala 2011
7.0 to 13.0*	Savanna	Cuba	Fiala 2011
32.0+	Gallery forest	Repub. of Congo	Ekoungoulou et al. 2014
44	Woodland (Old growth Miombo)	Zambia	Chidumayo 2013
18	Woodland (Regrowth Miombo)	Zambia	Chidumayo 2013
1.2 to 206.3	Upland Forest	global data	Cairns et al. 1997
7.0 to 52.0 ⁺	Savanna	global data	Grace et al. 2006
1.1 to 17.0	Woodland (Miombo)	Mozambique	Ryan et al. 2011
16.3 to 52.9	Savanna/woodland (Brazilian cerrado)	Brazil	De Castro & Kauffmann 1998
21.4 to 29.5	Savanna	Brazil	Barbosa et al. 2012
17.8	Grasslands	Brazil	Miranda et al. 2014
33.6	Shrublands	Brazil	Miranda et al. 2014
17.8	Forestlands	Brazil	Miranda et al. 2014
6 to 7	Wet grasslands	Brazil	Fidelis et al. 2013
16.9-43.5	Rangeland	Nepal	Limbu & Koirala 2011

Table 4: Global compilation of data on BGB for different vegetation types.

* data include dead BGB; * modelled data

According to the land cover classification of Schneibel et al. (2013), *Brachystegia*grasslands cover about 23.3% of the study site and *Parinari*-grassland a further 8.5% and thus cover a substantial share of the land surface on the Angolan Central Plateau (and further parts of the miombo region).

Although the AGB component of suffrutex grasslands is negligible (branches of most geoxyle species barely reach a few decimetres in height), these figures highlight the relevance of taking suffrutex grasslands into account for carbon stock assessments in the miombo region and also for African savannas if geoxyles form an important part of the vegetation. Especially for remote sensing based studies it should be

highlighted that BGB of structurally similar vegetation types, in this case *Brachystegia* and *Parinari*-grasslands, can differ fundamentally in their BGB allocation.

Soil properties and physiological reasons for high BGB allocation

Many factors are thought to influence BGB allocation. Soil characteristics, such as nutrient availability (Cavelier 1992, Gower 1987, Pérez-Harguindeguy et al. 2013) and texture (Keyes and Grier 1981, Vitousek and Sanford Jr. 1986, Vogt et al. 1995, Waring and Schlesinger 1985) were reported to have a significant influence on root biomass allocation.

As shown by our analyses the soils of the study region are dystrophic or nutrient-poor soils common in tropical regions (Ronquim 2010) and characteristic for the miombo belt (Frost 1996). Soil properties did not vary considerably in our study area. However, some of the significant differences in soil properties between the two geoxylic grassland types (sand content, pH (in KCl and CaCl₂), K, Ca, P, Al+H, CEC, SB, V% and m%) reflect differences due to parent material, landform and topographic position in the landscape which also affect water permeability, soil moisture and transport of ions within soils and could explain the differences in species composition, BGB and carbon stocks between the two types of grasslands.

The absence of sodium in almost all analysed soil samples can be explained by its great solubility. Under conditions of high rainfall and coarse sandy texture in inclined landscapes, sodium is rapidly leached from the soil profile (Duchaufour 1982). The climate of our study area is sufficiently humid and the drainage of the sandy soils good enough to rapidly remove soluble cations like sodium from the soil profile.

The results of the soil analyses are in line with Gröngröft et al. (2013). Extreme soil conditions, associated with an intense local disturbance regime (fire and frost) appear to be contributing to high BGB allocation. As well as the main miombo species, geoxyles have developed adaptations to survive in nutrient poor habitats, withdrawing nutrients before leaf shedding at the onset of the cold dry season and storing them in belowground organs for later use (Aerts and van der Peijl 1993). This seems to be one of the main strategies used to cope with low soil nutrient availability. Leaf analysis of the main species from suffrutex grasslands at the Cusseque area

revealed normal nutrient contents, not reflecting the low nutrient availability in soils (Gomes et al. 2019). Differences in biomass allocation (BGB vs. AGB) between woodlands and suffrutex grasslands in miombo suggest that geoxyles invest more in belowground structures as an adaptation to cope with the high disturbance regime aboveground (e.g. frost and fire) (Finckh et al. 2016, Maurin et al. 2014).

Human impacts on geoxylic grasslands

So far, the low interest in agricultural use of the suffrutex grasslands has maintained these ecosystems and their stunning species diversity. With few exceptions, suffrutex grasslands in the study area were little impacted by human activities.

The only notable exception is man-made fire. Natural ignition is virtually absent during the grassland fire season and thus almost all fires can be attributed to human activities (Stellmes et al., 2013). It is important to highlight the difference in fire seasonality between the two structurally similar geoxylic grassland types as they have important management implications for handling and for prevention of fires. Due to the denser vegetation and higher share of geoxyles in the vegetation cover the *Brachystegia*–grasslands retain higher humidity in the dry season and thus early dry season burning is reduced (M.Finckh, unpublished experimental data). However, in terms of late dry season fires (which imply a much higher risk to affect the adjacent dense miombo woodlands), the two grassland types do not differ significantly.

In both vegetation types, fires remove dry AGB of grasses and geoxyles and leave the landscape widely bare for a short period of time. However, geoxyles and also the associated grass and forb species are well adapted to this disturbance regime. The removal of AGB by fire may be an important factor leading to vegetative and reproductive renewal (Bond et al. 2005). We noted that local people also use fire to manage or enhance the production of some of the wild edible fruits that grow in these grasslands.

The currently still widely natural state of the geoxyle dominated ecosystems on the Angolan Central Plateau may however be strongly affected by the increasing availability of agricultural machinery and turn the *Brachystegia*-grasslands into targets for agro-industrial transformation. This would lead to great losses of BGB and

the corresponding release of the current carbon stocks into the atmosphere. Misdirected afforestation attempts may cause similarly destructive consequences to these fascinating ecosystems and their associated flora and fauna (Veldman et al. 2019).

Conclusion

The study revealed for the first time, based on empirical data, the high relevance of BGB stored in the "Underground Forests of Africa", grasslands dominated by geoxyles that occur throughout south-central Africa. We reported data from the Angolan Central Plateau that show that belowground carbon stocks in theses ecosystems are much higher than in neighbouring miombo woodlands and, in the case of *Brachystegia*-grasslands, are almost as high as values for above ground carbon stocks in the surrounding woodlands. Thus, any study on regional and global carbon stock assessments need to take these findings into account. Furthermore, we provided insights into the morphology, structure and environmental drivers leading to the success of the geoxylic life form. Currently, suffrutex grasslands are, due to their low soil fertility and the extended root network, largely excluded from agriculture cultivation. The advent of agro-industrial machinery may however change this situation rapidly.

Acknowledgements

The authors thank all people in the Cusseque valley which contributed during field work, especially the traditional authorities in Cahololo, Calomba and Cusseque. We equally thank Dr. Santos Quizembe, previous Director of the Laboratory of Soil and Plants of Instituto de Investigação Agronnómica da Chianga, Huambo for performing the soil analyses. Thanks to David Goyder for language editing and also to Paulina Meller for your contribution.

Financial support

This research was funded by the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF) in the context of The Future Okavango project (TFO) Grant No.01LL0912.



CHAPTER 4- Tree or not a tree: differences in plant functional traits among geoxyles and closely related tree species

A.L. Gomes, R. Revermann, F.M.P. Goncalves, F. Lages, M.P.M. Aidar, M. Finckh, N. Jurgens

South African Journal of Botany 127 (2019) 176-184

Abstract

Geoxyles and their congeneric tree species are a very common feature in the Zambezian Floristic Region, however, little is known about differing expression of plant functional traits between the two life forms and thus their evolutionary adaptations to prevailing habitat conditions. Therefore, we measured selected plant functional traits and compared them between the geoxyle and tree growth forms. We selected six species pairs that are common in the study area, i.e. Brachystegia russelliae vs. Brachystegia longifolia (Fabaceae Detarioideae); Cryptosepalum exfoliatum subsp. suffruticans vs. Cryptosepalum exfoliatum subsp. pseudotaxus (Fabaceae Detarioideae); Combretum platypetalum vs. Combretum zeyheri (Combretaceae); Parinari capensis vs. Parinari curatellifolia (Chrysobalanaceae); Syzygium guineense subsp. macrocarpum (suffrutex form vs. tree form) (Myrtaceae); Uapaca nitida var. suffrutescens vs. Uapaca nitida var. nitida (Phyllanthaceae). For analysis we selected traits reflecting adaptations to environmental conditions such as specific leaf area (SLA), leaf thickness (LT), wood density (WD), leaf nitrogen (LN), leaf carbon (LC), leaf phosphorus (LP), leaf calcium (LCa), leaf magnesium (LMg), leaf potassium concentrations (LP) and leaf dry matter content (LDMC). Additionally, we measured leaf water potential (WP) during dry and wet seasons. The results did not show a general pattern of inter life-form trait variation among trees and geoxyles. There were significant differences in LA, WD, LN, LC, LMg and LK between geoxyles and trees, but mostly among species pairs. This indicates that the growth form transition is largely decoupled from leaf economics. Thus, the detected differences in plant functional traits among the species pairs are

mostly taxon related responses to specific environmental stresses and habitat conditions.

Keywords: Zambezian Floristic Region; Miombo; Geoxyles; Geoxylic suffrutex; Plant functional traits; Angola.

Introduction

The Zambezian Floristic Region is a diversity hotspot of 'geoxyles' (Simon and Pennington, 2012) in Africa. Geoxyles (also termed 'geoxylic suffrutices' (White, 1983) are widely distributed on the Kalahari sand deposits of the Upper Zambezi basin and within miombo ecosystems in Barotseland and southern Democratic Republic of the Congo (DRC) and Central Angola (White, 1983). Miombo woodlands (dominated by the genera *Brachystegia, Cryptosepalum, Isoberlinia* and *Julbernardia* from the Fabaceae subfamily Detarioideae) cover about 47% of Angola (Barbosa, 1970), mainly on the Angolan Central Plateau. However, these woodlands are broken up systematically by extended grasslands generally on lower slopes and valley floors, the so called 'anharas de ongote' or 'anharas de borracha', that harbour a high diversity of geoxyles.

Geoxyles are characterised by the reduction of perennial aerial stems and branches in favour of low, annual shoots protruding from disproportionally high underground woody biomass in the form of rhizomes or roots (Shaw, 1947). According to White's definition, each geoxyle can be paired with a congeneric tree counterpart, frequently in miombo woodlands (Burtt Davy, 1922; White, 1976). Beyond south-central Africa, they constitute a conspicuous feature of the campos cerrados of the Planalto of Central Brazil and similar growth forms occur as well in arctic alpine tundra environments in genera like Salix and Betula.

Geoxyles were mentioned in early botanical literature (Schimper, 1898; Warming, 1908) but discussions on the evolutionary drivers of the geoxylic life form are still ongoing. Environmental factors such as fire, frost, edaphic conditions and herbivory have been proposed as key drivers (Barbosa, 1970; Burtt Davy, 1922; Lamont et al., 2017; Steenkamp et al., 2001; White, 1976). Barbosa (1970) suggested geoxyles may be the result of strong fluctuations in soil water availability, associated with

shallow hydromorphic soils, and low temperatures. Recently, studies conducted by Maurin et al. (2014) pointed at the interaction of fire frequency and high precipitation as main evolutionary drivers of the geoxylic life form. Finckh et al. (2016), in studies conducted in Angola, contradicted their point of view and proposed frost as the key driver of the evolution of geoxyles. Lamont et al. (2007) in a study on *Protea* species, stated that fire acted prior to frost in the evolution of the geoxylic life form.

Originating in most cases from tree ancestors starting in the late Miocene (approx. 10 Ma), the radiation of geoxyles reached a peak in the early Pleistocene (approx. 2.3 Ma) (Maurin et al., 2014). The speciation process has led to differentiation of trees and geoxyles into distinct taxonomic levels: there are cases where pairs of geoxyles and trees occur within subspecies, between subspecies, and between species. Finally, in some cases the level of differentiation is simply so far unknown, as floristic exploration and taxonomic studies of the Zambezian flora are still incomplete.

As geoxyles and tree life forms generally occur in contiguous but different habitat types (grasslands versus woodlands or forests), interactions between physiological and morphological traits may play a crucial role in explaining their evolutionary adaptations. 'Plant functional traits' are defined as morphological, physiological or phenological features measured at the individual level that impacts fitness (Violle et al., 2007).

Despite the stunning morphological similarities shown by many pairs of closely related geoxyle and tree species, few studies have examined the divergence of functional traits between the two growth forms. So far, studies investigating functional traits of plant species of the geoxylic grasslands of the Zambezian Floristic Region and the miombo ecosystems in general are rare (Chidumayo, 1994; Ernst and Walker, 1973; Ernst, 1975; Vinya et al., 2012). Meerts (2017) addressed the question of a diverging trait space of geoxyles and trees in Katanga, DRC, by analysing 7 morphological traits of 35 congeneric pairs obtained from standard floras. He found nested similarities in reproductive and vegetative traits. Hoffmann et al. (2005) found differences in leaf traits between savannah and forest trees in Cerrado vegetation in south-central Brazil.

Considering the specific environmental conditions prevailing in the habitats of geoxyles and trees, we hypothesise that the expression of plant functional traits of geoxyles in comparison to their tree counterparts differs and it is related to different physiological adaptation strategies to cope with environmental stresses. This study aims (1) to identify general differences in the trait space among the two life forms; (2) to describe differences in plant functional traits between congeneric pairs of geoxyles and trees; and (3) to identify adaptive traits of each life form to cope with environmental conditions of their respective habitats.

Material and methods

Research site

The study was conducted in the Cusseque area of Chitembo Municipality in Bie Province, Angola (Figure 13). The landscape of the study area is dominated by miombo forests on the hills and open geoxylic grasslands in the valleys. Altitude varies from 1397 to 1562 m. Predominant soils are either ferrallitic or sandy (Revermann et al., 2013).



Figure 13: Location of the study area in Chitembo Municipality on the Angolan Central Plateau. The occurrence of open geoxylic grasslands on ferralitic soils (light green colour) and sandy deposits (white) is a characteristic feature in the valleys, contrasting with the forests on the hills (dark green).

The study area has a semi-humid summer-rainfall climate with a pronounced wet season lasting from October to April with a mean annual precipitation of 987 mm. Mean annual temperature is 20.4 °C (Weber, 2013). Night frosts occur frequently during winter (June and July) especially in the valleys (Revermann and Finckh, 2013).

Species selection and study species

As the divergence between geoxyles and trees occurs at different levels in the various taxonomic groups, we selected cases for geoxyle tree pairs (a) within subspecies, (b) between subspecies, (c) between species, and (d) between subspecies and varieties (Table S1; Fig. S1 a-u). We attributed acronyms for each genus as follows: *Brachystegia* (B), *Cryptosepalum* (Cr), *Uapaca* (U), *Parinari* (P), *Syzygium* (S) and *Combretum* (Cb).

Trait sampling

We collected samples of all species pairs in early March 2014 near the peak of the growing season in close proximity to each other. All taxa are common in the study area, appearing well adapted to the local environmental conditions. Of each geoxyle and tree taxon five individuals fully exposed to the sun were selected for sampling. The geoxyles *Parinari capensis* and *Combretum platypetalum* were collected on sandy soils at the main Cusseque valley (North south oriented, white areas in Fig. 1), whereas all others taxa were sampled on ferrallitic soils of the Sovi tributary (west east oriented, light green areas in Fig. 1).

Measurements of plant functional traits

We selected plant traits known to show responses to a broad range of environmental factors and with a link to eco-physiological mechanisms well supported in literature (Kattge et al., 2011; Moles, 2018). For all species, we measured specific leaf area (SLA), leaf thickness (LT), leaf area (LA), wood density (WD), leaf carbon (LC), leaf nitrogen (LN), leaf phosphorus (LP), leaf calcium (LCa), leaf magnesium (LMg), leaf potassium (LK) concentrations and leaf dry matter content (LDMC). For five species we measured leaf water potential (LWP). Measurement of traits followed
standardised protocols (Cornelissen et al., 2003; Muller, 2014; Perez-Harguindeguy et al., 2013)

SLA (LA/LDM)

For each species, 10 young leaves were collected from each of the 5 individuals. Each leaf (excluding petioles) was scanned with a portable scanner to determine leaf area (LA). Subsequently, the leaves were placed in a paper envelope and dried in an oven at 70 °C for 48 h until constant weight was achieved. Then we determined the leaf dry mass (LDM) using a high precision digital Kern 770 scale. LA for the scanned images was determined using XnViewMP software (available at: http://downloads.tomsguide.com/XnViewMP). For compound leaves we used only the leaflets, excluding the petiole and/or rachis.

LT

Ten leaves of five individuals (totalling 50 leaves per species) were collected following the same procedures as for SLA. The measurements were made using digital callipers at an intermediate position between the leaf margin and the midrib for each leaf. These individual measurements were then averaged to calculate mean values per species.

WD

For the geoxyles we collected woody samples (Diameter 2 cm) by digging up woody parts located belowground. For related tree species we collected branches with the same diameter size. To measure wood density we used the volume displacement method (Osazuwa-Peters and Zanne, 2011). After drying the woody segment in an oven at 103 °C for at least 72 h, we measured the weight and calculated WD (ratio of the dry mass and the fresh volume). Values were averaged per species.

LN and LC

Dried samples were ground finely with a disc mill (from Retsch solutions) and kept dry in an exsiccator. 100 200 mg of grounded material was then used for analysis in

a Vario Max Cube Elemental C/N Analyser following the Dumas Combustion Method (Muller-Landau, 2004).

LP, LCa, LMg and LK

About 250 mg of dry leaf matter, finely ground, was digested with 8 ml of concentrated HNO3 plus 800 ml H2O2 in a tightly closed Teflon tube in a microwave (1600 W) for 15 min with a temperature ramp to 200 °C and heating for a further 15 min at 200 °C under pressure.

The resulting product was diluted in 50 ml of distilled water. Before measurement of all of these parameters in the ICP-OES (Spectro Arcos) all samples were centrifuged to precipitate any particles.

Before each run, a calibration was conducted with solutions of known concentration (0.0, 0.5, 1.0, 5.0, 10.0, 50.0 mg P/L) and a linear regression was fitted between P-concentration and signal intensity.

The ICP simultaneously measures signals (spectra) that were created by passing ionising Argon plasma at different wavelengths, with each wavelength characteristic for an element or ion. For P, seven wavelengths were measured and signals from Ca, K and Mg wave lengths were recorded as well. The signals of all elemental specific wavelengths were averaged (except when a wavelength gave deviating signals, in which case it was excluded; for this reason only five spectral lines were used for averaging P). Furthermore, the spectra were examined thoroughly to detect any interfering signals or background/underground disturbance. In such cases the errors were corrected and concentrations recalculated.

LDMC

Because water-satured fresh leaf mass was not measured in the field, LDMC was estimate indirectly from the following equation: LDMC $1/(SLA \times LT)$ (Perez-Harguindeguy et al., 2013). Prior to calculation, values of LT were divided by 10 to achieve the same units as in SLA (cm).

LWP

Measurements were made under field conditions using a pressure Pump-Up Chamber Instrument (PMS Instrument Company USA), a methodology first described by Scholander et al. (1965). Measurements were made twice a day in the rainy season (end of March) and in the dry season (early June), just before dawn (5 6 am) and at noon. Five leaves per species from five different individuals were successively cut and placed inside the chamber, with the cut end protruding from the seal. Pressure was gradually increased until a water film appeared on the cut. Then, pumping was stopped and the pressure recorded. It was not possible to measure LWP of *Combretum platypetalum* in the dry season because this species is deciduous and sheds its leaves early. For this reason, we excluded the pair of *Combretum* species when analysing data for LWP. Due to pressure limitations of the pump, we regarded the pump's maximum pressure (21 bar) as LWP for those species where no sap flowed at the cut surface. However, the real values were more negative than 21 bar indicating high water stress.

Data analysis

Principal components analysis (PCA) was used to examine relationships between the groups and among traits simultaneously based on the correlation matrix of variables. PCA was also used to assess the relationship among species and traits simultaneously. Before calculating the PCA, variables were standardised in order to eliminate influence among the variables in the formation of components. Comparisons of all plant traits between the groups were made using a Two-way ANOVA with genera and life form as main factors and the interaction term of both. While a significant life form effect indicates a systematic difference of the tested trait among geoxyles and trees, a significant interaction term points at genus-specific differences among the two life forms. Tukey's LSD post-hoc test was used to identify significant differences within the pairs. Analyses were done using the statistical software R (R Core development team, 2017) using 'vegan', PAST (Version 2.16), and BioEstat (Version 2.0) packages.

Results

General patterns of correlation among traits

Principal component 1 (PC1) and 2 (PC2) together explained about 65% of the variance (Figure 14). PC1 is associated with LP, SLA, LN, WD and LT, while PC2 is associated with LMg, LK, LCa and LC. PC1 clearly separates Fabaceae-Detarioideae (*Brachystegia*, *Cryptosepalum*) species having higher SLA and LN from the species with thick leaves, having a more efficient stomatic control to maintain water potential.

PC2 separates the Fabaceae Detarioideae into geoxyles and trees as well. Geoxyles have higher LCa, LMg and WD, while respective trees have higher LN.



Figure 14: PCA showing the relationship among species, plant traits and life form. Geoxyles (red circle) and trees (blue circles) include B, *Brachystegia*; Cr, *Cryptosepalum*; U, *Uapaca*; P, *Parinari*; S, *Syzygium*; Cb, *Combretum*.

Trait differences among the two life forms: Inter-life-form variation

Seven of the eleven plant traits varied among the two life forms (geoxyles and trees). Two-way ANOVA (Tables 5 and 6) showed significant differences in LA, WD, LN, LC, LMg, LK and LWP among geoxyles and trees. On average geoxyles had denser wood and higher LMg than trees while LA, LN, LC and LK were higher in trees than in geoxyles.

	Mean	Mean	Two-way ANOVA (α=0.05)					
Trait	geox.	trees	-	Inter life form	Inter genera (pairs)	interaction life form: genera		
$SI \wedge (cm^2 c^{-1})$	81.66	82.80	F	0.49	52.66	15.46		
		82.89	p-value	0.49	0.000	0.000		
	0.2995	0.2996	F	0.0017	277.3	82.02		
			p-value	0.967	0.000	0.000		
$I \wedge (cm^2)$	83.20	97.38	F	16.08	231.85	7.63		
			p-value	0.000	0.000	0.000		
M/D (a cm ⁻³)	0.6226	0.5457 -	F	12.45	5.72	1.04		
			p-value	0.000	0.000	0.405		
	1.552	1.725	F	22.38	110.9	32.52		
LIN (70)			p-value	0.000	0.000	0.000		
LC (%)	48.97	49.87 ·	F	4.48	45.91	10.69		
			p-value	0.039	0.000	0.000		
LP (mg g ⁻¹ tissue)	1.033	1.083	F	2.35	63.69	27.06		
			p-value	0.132	0.000	0.000		
LCa (mg g⁻¹	4.89	5.53	F	3.79	8.84	25.46		
tissue)			p-value	0.057	0.000	0.000		
LMg (mg g ⁻¹	2.64	0.31	F	108.08	26.94	23.41		
tissue)			p-value	0.000	0.000	0.000		
LK (mg g ⁻¹ tissue)	5.88	9.97	F	1128.97	138.65	243.08		
			p-value	0.000	0.000	0.000		
LDMC (mg g-	0.44	0.43	F	2.10	55.76	8.29		
1 tissue)	0.44	0.43	p-value	0.154	0.000	0.000		

Table 5: Results of a two-way ANOVA of all plant traits with the factors life form, genera and the interaction term of both; significant differences are marked in bold.

Trait differences among species pairs of geoxyles and trees: Interpair variation

In the ANOVA the interaction term of life form and genera was significant in all traits except in wood density, indicating a genus specific response. As such, the pairwise comparison based on Tukey LSD showed inter-pair trait variation in all plant traits (Table 6). In some plant traits the variation was in only one pair (e.g. WD), while in others it was in all pairs (e.g. LT and LCa).

Table 6: Inter-pair trait variation based on Tukey LSD pairwise comparison. Significant differences were obtained comparing absolute value of the mean difference (AMD) of each pair with least significant difference (LSD) (AMD<LSD: there are no differences; AMD>LSD: significant differences). Significant differences are marked in bold. B = *Brachystegia* pair; Cr = *Cryptosepalum* pair; U = *Uapaca* pair; P = *Parinari* pair; S = *Syzygium* pair; Cb = *Combretum* pair.

Troito	Absolu						
	В	Cr	U	Р	S	Cb	LSD value
SLA	5.380	13.692	1.561	18.099	2.343	29.906	8.720
LT	0.016	0.054	0.048	0.119	0.053	0.055	0.0159
LA	12.65	2.760	15.382	46.84	5.240	38.020	17.524
WD	0.125	0.072	0.067	0.087	0.018	0.063	0.108
LN	0.160	0.184	0.077	0.307	0.209	1.137	0.182
LC	1.775	5.737	0.712	4.651	0.195	1.993	2.095
LP	0.106	0.399	0.318	0.170	0.096	0.753	0.161
LCa	4.446	4.444	2.770	3.502	1.953	4.471	1.612
LMg	4.229	2.773	0.064	0.034	4.436	0.151	1.114
LK	8.698	8.172	0.142	0.930	8.075	0.399	0.604
LDMC	0.008	0.051	0.039	0.045	0.053	0.066	0.035

In the following we consider significant differences of each trait separately. The symbol g < t or g > t indicates that the *geoxyle* trait is lower or higher than the tree trait, respectively.

SLA

Overall, SLA did not vary significantly between geoxyles and trees (p>0.05). Twoway ANOVA showed significant differences between genera and also significant interaction between life form and genera (p<0.05), indicating genus-specific differences between the two life forms. Tukey's LSD pairwise comparison detected differences in three pairs: *Cryptosepalum* (g>t), *Parinari* (g>t) and *Combretum* (g<t).

LT

In general, LT did not vary significantly between geoxyles and trees (p>0.05). Two way ANOVA showed significant differences between genera and also significant interaction between life form and genera (p<0.05), indicating also genus-specific differences between two life forms. However, Tukey's LSD pairwise showed

significant differences in all pairs studied (*Brachystegia*, *Uapaca*, *Syzygium* and *Combretum*: g>t; *Cryptosepalum* and *Parinari*: g<t).

LA

In spite of the significant differences between geoxyles and trees, between genera and also significant interaction between life form and genera (p<0.05), Tukey's LSD only found significant differences in *Parinari* and *Combretum* (both g<t).

WD

Two way ANOVA showed significant differences between geoxyles and trees and between genera (p<0.05) but no significant interaction between life form and genera. Tukey LSD pairwise showed differences only in the *Brachystegia* pair (g>t).

LN

There were significant differences between geoxyles and trees, between genera and also significant interaction between life form and genera (p<0.05). LN was higher in trees than in geoxyles. Tukey LSD pairwise detected differences in the pairs *Cryptosepalum* (g<t), *Parinari* (g>t), *Syzygium* (g>t) and *Combretum* (g<t).

LC

Similarly, there were significant differences between geoxyles and trees, between genera and significant interaction between life form and genera p<0.05). LC was higher in trees than in geoxyles. Tukey LSD pairwise showed differences in two pairs namely *Cryptosepalum* (g<t) and *Parinari* (g>t).

LP

Significant differences were found between genera and there was also significant interaction between life form and genera p<0.05). Tukey LSD pairwise detected differences in the pairs *Cryptosepalum* (g>t), *Uapaca* (g<t), *Parinari* (g>t) and *Combretum* (g<t).

LCa

There were significant differences between genera and significant interaction between life form and genera (p<0.05). Tukey LSD pairwise detected differences in

all pairs (*Brachystegia* and *Cryptosepalum*: g>t; *Uapaca*, *Parinari*, *Syzygium* and *Combretum*: g<t).

LMg

There were significant differences between geoxyles and trees, between genera and there was significant interaction between life form and genera (p<0.05). Meanwhile Tukey LSD pairwise only detected differences in three pairs namely *Brachystegia*, *Cryptosepalum* and *Syzygium* (for all, g>t).

LΚ

There were significant differences between geoxyles and trees, between genera and there was significant interaction between life form and genera (p<0.05). Tukey LSD pairwise detected differences in four pairs namely *Brachystegia*, *Cryptosepalum*, *Parinari* (for all, g>t) and *Syzygium* (g<t).

LDMC

ANOVA did not show any differences between the two life forms (p > 0.05), however, the significant interaction term indicates genus-specific differences. This becomes evident in the pairwise comparison (**Table 6**): five out of six showed significant differences. The boxplots (**Figure 15**), however, show an inconsistent pattern. In two cases the trees have significantly lower LDMC (U, S) and in three (Cr, P and Cb) the geoxyles do. Figure 15 illustrates all traits among the pairs of geoxyles and trees.



Figure 15: Boxplots depicting the mean values of traits for pairs of geoxyles and trees for the 6 genera. B- *Brachystegia*; Cr- *Cryptosepalum*; U- *Uapaca*; P- *Parinari*; S- *Syzygium*; Cb- *Combretum*.

LWP

There were significant differences among the two life forms before dawn in the rainy season (p<.05). At midday of the same season there were also significant differences among life form, between genera and interaction (p<.05). However, no significant

differences were detected among life forms (p>.05) before dawn in the dry season but there were significant differences among genera (p<.05) indicating different plant strategies to cope with water stress. This can be seen in the high significance of interaction (p<.01). At midday in the dry season differences among life forms were significant, as well as between genera and significant interaction (p<.05). However, there were strong differences from predawn to midday and between seasons. Generally, there was low or no water stress at predawn, while plants experienced low to high water stress at midday and LWP showed significant variations from predawn to midday in both seasons ranging from 0 to less than -21 bars (Table 7). Some species pairs showed high water stress experienced by both life forms at midday. The degree of water stress severity varied according to species and to the strategy adopted by the plants to cope with water scarcity. The three large-leaved evergreen trees Uapaca nitida, Parinari curatellifolia and Syzygium guineense subsp. macrocarpum were seen to do considerably better than the corresponding geoxyles. At midday LWP varied between -15 and -6.9 bar, compared with much higher values for their *geoxyle* partners.

0	wania d	Mean	Mean	Two-way ANOVA (α=0.05)					
Season	period	geox.	trees	-	sample	columns interaction			
Rainy —	Dradown (Eb)	-0.11	0	F	5.98	0.012	0.012		
	Fledawii (511)			p-value	0.019	0.999	0.999		
	Middov (12b)	10.44	14 5	F	64.87	46.33 1	14.81		
	Midday (1211)	-19.44	-14.5	p-value	0.000	0.000	0.000		
Dry —	Prodown (5h)	1 0 1	-1.52	F	3.17	8.26	5.89		
	Fledawii (51)	-1.81		p-value	0.082	0.000	0.000		
	Midday (12b)	16 74	F 80.18 177.75		177.75	17.32			
	iviluuay (1211)	-10.74	-12.8	p-value	0.000	0.000	0.000		

Table 7: Two-Way ANOVA of LWP (bar) comparing two life form (geoxyles and trees) measured in two seasons (rainy and dry) twice a day (predawn and midday). Significant differences are marked in bold.

During the rainy season, among geoxyles, only *Uapaca nitida* var. *suffrutescens* did not show strong variation of water potential and consequently was less stressed than the other species. During the dry season, geoxyles showed slight water stress at predawn, with LWP ranging between -2.8 and -0.5 bars. At midday, the stress experienced by these plants was less severe than observed at the same period of the rainy season for most species. Only *Cryptosepalum exfoliatum* reached the maximum pump pressure (-21 bar) during the dry season. Among trees, at predawn of the dry season LWP ranged between -2 and -1 bars while at midday it ranged between -2.6 and -21 bars.

Discussion

Due to the limited sample size of the present study our results should not be extrapolated to apply to entire genera. Nevertheless, these results could constitute a base for future research.

Differences among the two life forms

While trees and geoxyles differ drastically in their growth form, they are remarkably similar in other morphological traits (Meerts, 2017). Yet, we found a general pattern of inter-life-form variation of traits in LA, WD, LN, LC, LMg and LK. None of the other traits showed a general pattern of inter-life-form variation. Within one taxonomic group, the Fabaceae Detarioideae, we detected significant differences between trees and geoxyles, which may indicate a certain phylogenetic conservatism in ecophysiological and functional traits. Thus, a main finding, considering the differences in traits among the two life forms, is the surprising inconsistency of responses among the different families.

Traits differing among the life forms were LA, WD, LN, LC, LMg and LK. In general, WD was higher in geoxyles than in trees. Lower WD tends to be associated with faster stem diameter and volumetric growth (Enquist et al., 1999; King et al., 2005; Muller-Landau, 2004; Roderick, 2000), however, it has never been systematically analysed for underground woody organs. Higher WD of geoxyles is associated with lower volume of xylem (Sanguino Mostajo, 2015). This may be related to less transpiring leaf biomass per shoot and thus lower demand for the corresponding hydraulic capacity (Ackerly, 2004; Bucci et al., 2004; Givnish, 1995; Loehle, 1988). However, higher WD decreases stem water storage (Ackerly, 2004; Bucci et al., 2004). Lower stem water storage and higher transpiration losses in the open

grasslands may be two factors that contribute to the higher water stress in geoxyles than in trees.

LN was another trait that differed among life forms (trees had more LN than geoxyles). A high LN concentration is associated with increase of SLA and LP and decrease of LT and LA (see PCA). The relation between LN and SLA is in general linear (Schulze et al., 1994), playing both a key role in the rate of photosynthesis, as there is a close relationship with CO₂ assimilation rate. Two-way ANOVA results showed that trees in general had a higher SLA than geoxyles, indicating a higher rate of photosynthesis associated with efficient CO₂ assimilation.

LMg and LK are also two plant traits with significant differences among life forms (LMg: g > t; LK: g < t). Magnesium is very important in photosynthesis, being the central atom in the chlorophyll molecule and involved in many enzymatic reactions (Schwartzkopf, 1972; Tuma et al., 2004). Potassium plays a key role in the stomatal movements impacting the plant water balance (Hugouvieux et al., 2002). Lower K+ associated with Ca2+ deficiency in geoxyles could be related to their lower resistance to water stress (Seyed et al., 2012), as they activate leaf shedding and stomatal control earlier than the trees.

Differences in plant functional traits between the species pairs

For all analysed traits we found significant differences at least in some species pairs. As discussed above, the direction of these differences was not consistent among taxonomic groups. All pairs differed among life forms in LT and LCa while only the *Brachystegia* pair (g > t) differed in WD. While not differing significantly among life forms in general, SLA was different in three pairs: *Cryptosepalum* (g > t), *Parinari* (g > t) and *Combretum* (g < t). The general correlations among traits as shown in the PCA correspond to patterns observed in related studies (Douma et al., 2011; Wilson et al., 1999). SLA is known to be positively related to LN, LP, relative growth rate (RGR), leaf carbon assimilation rate and energy supply (Lambers and Poorter, 1992; Reich et al., 1992, 1997) and negatively related to LT (Poorter, 1990) and LDMC (Westoby et al., 2002). Our results showed a negative correlation between LT and LDMC and very weak correlation between SLA and LDMC. These results point to

differences in terms of better light capture and gas exchange, as SLA, LN and LP are closely linked with leaf gas exchange (Evans, 1989; Field and Mooney, 1986). For *Cryptosepalum* and *Parinari*, SLA was higher for geoxyles than for trees. *C. exfoliatum* subsp. *suffruticans* and *P. capensis* are very low-growing geoxyles reaching a mean height of less than 5 cm. Thus, they are grassland understorey species that may need an efficient assimilation system to cope with shading. On the contrary, their tree counterparts are normally not shaded, such that the enhancement of assimilation efficiency at the cost of water efficiency (reduced leaf thickness) may not be an evolutionary priority. For *Combretum*, SLA, LN and LP of the geoxyles were much lower than the SLA of the tree partner *C. zeyheri*. As *C. platypetalum* emerges for the first half of the vegetation period from the ground layer, an inverse optimisation strategy may make sense.

Despite no difference among life form, LT and LCa varied considerably between genera. LT is negatively correlated with SLA, LN, LP and LDMC. Negative relationships between LT and photosynthetic rate (Enriquez et al., 1996; Garnier et al., 1999) and relative growth rate (Nielsen et al., 1996; Poorter, 1990) have been reported, and thicker leaves have been associated with increased longevity and construction costs (Mediavilla et al., 2001; Westoby et al., 2002). PCA (Figure 14) shows the negative correlation between LT and SLA, LN, LP and LDMC. Geoxyles that have thicker leaves showed lower SLA, LN, LP and LDMC, respectively, than their tree counterparts and vice-versa. Some of the taller geoxyles, like Uapaca, Syzygium and Combretum, have thicker leaves than their counterparts, indicating that they have to trade a lower photosynthetic rate and also a lower relative growth rate for improved water efficiency. Growing tall and exposed to the sun in the open grasslands, this trade-off is easy to explain. Consistent with this line of reasoning, for the lower growing and less exposed 'grassland understorey species' Cryptosepalum exfoliatum subsp. suffruticans and Parinari capensis the situation was reversed, with trees having the thicker leaves (see discussion on SLA above).

LMg tended to be higher in the *Brachystegia*, *Cryptosepalum* and *Syzygium* geoxyles than in their tree partners. Magnesium cannot be discussed separately from other nutrients, especially calcium and potassium, due to the antagonistic relation in uptake

(Tuma et al., 2004). Higher LMg in geoxyles could be a quick development strategy. After leaf shedding and early before the onset of the rainy season, these species resprout, grow, and start flowering and fruiting rapidly, before being covered by C4 grasses and other herbs in the later rainy season in January. Their tree counterparts keep their leaves over the dry season and renew them successively at the start of the next rainy season. This precocious development of these geoxyles is an ecological strategy, and must be associated with high photosynthesis rates and gas exchange, processes that are influenced by Mg and K concentrations (Peoples and Koch, 1979). The consistently lower LK in geoxyles may allow them to acquire Mg more easily (Tuma et al., 2004) for a quick development strategy.

Leaf nutrient concentrations reflect soil nutrient availability (Brockley, 2001) and also the capacity of the species to take up nutrients, e.g. via mycorrhiza, proteoid roots or symbionts. Soils of the Kalahari region are considered extremely poor in terms of nutrients (Frost, 1996). According to Groengroeft et al. (2013), the top soils of our study area have significantly lower nutrient contents than the lower soil horizons. Our results did not reflect this limitation and leaf nutrient contents of our samples correspond to the range of variation found in many cultivated plants (Uchida, 2000). This surprisingly high nutrient status of the natural flora could be partly attributed to translocation processes, phenomena that occur in most plants (Ackerly and Bazzaz, 1995; Nooden, 1988). Nutrient conservation through resorption is a main ecophysiological strategy adopted by many plants in nutrient-poor soils like in miombo woodlands (Chidumayo, 1994), allowing for nutrient recycling rather than loss with leaf fall. For *Cryptosepalum, Brachystegia* and *Uapaca*, however, the association to ectomycorrhizal fungi (Corrales et al., 2018) allowing for fast recycling of nutrients from litter may play an important role for their high nutrient status.

Comparable adaptation strategies to water stress among pairs of trees and geoxyles

The three broad-leaved evergreen trees *Uapaca nitida*, *Parinari curatellifolia* and *Syzygium guineense* subsp. *macrocarpum* maintained their water status over the day considerably more stable than the corresponding geoxyles. This suggests that these trees either have more efficient stomatal control or that they are favoured by more

mesic microclimatic stand conditions compared to the sun-exposed geoxyles in the grasslands.

However, it was also interesting to observe that the broad-leaved evergreen species with higher LT and lower SLA in general, namely *Uapaca* spp., *Parinari* spp. and *Syzygium guineense* subsp. *macrocarpum*, showed a more efficient stomatal control than the other (partly deciduous) species in both seasons of the year, e.g. *Brachystegia longifolia* and *B.russelliae*. The higher the SLA, the more negative was the water potential. This indicates that the leaf construction cost is associated with water use efficiency (Mediavilla et al., 2001). However, it was also evident that LT was associated with leaf life span. Thicker leaves with more LDMC remain for a longer time on the plant and thus have to maintain water use efficiency or water potential over the dry season (Poorter and Bongers, 2006), while deciduous species can control their water losses by successive leaf shedding.

Adaptive traits

The results obtained in this study demonstrate that the pairs of *geoxyle* and trees, despite having different life forms, rather have similar (phylogenetically inherited) strategies to deal with drought. Each strategy adopted occurred first in geoxyles and then in trees (Table S1), maybe because they are more strongly exposed to climate related stresses. Two mechanisms were identified to cope with water stress: stomatal control and leaf shedding. While the broad-leaved evergreen taxa primarily use stomatal control, the *Brachystegia* and *Combretum* pairs primarily fall back on leaf shedding. However, according to the severity of drought, the species sequentially apply stomatal control before resorting to shedding their leaves.

The lower growth rate of the aerial parts of geoxyles seems to be an evolutionary adaptation to destructive above-ground processes like frost and fires in open grassland. High LMg in geoxyles indicates an intense photosynthetic activity. In the absence of light competition in the first half of the growing season, however, geoxyles tend to invest more strongly in belowground organs (stems, roots and/or storage organs) and in turn reduce the growth rate of aerial parts.

Finally, there were no significant overall differences in SLA between geoxyles and trees. The taxa have evolved different strategies to optimise the balance between assimilation rate and water losses according to their habitat niche.

Conclusions

This study is one of the first to analyse physiological differences between trees and their enigmatic diminutive counterparts, the geoxyles, based on plant functional traits. We show that there is no consistent shift in the phenetic space of geoxyles compared with closely related tree counterparts. There is no easy trait dualism between trees and geoxyles, but each taxon tends to optimise its evolutionary fitness in a multidimensional trait space according to its (phylogenetically inherited) eco-physiological pre-adaptations and the available environmental niche space.

Acknowledgements

This research was funded by the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF) in the context of The Future Okavango (TFO) project (Grant Number 01LL0912A). The authors thank all individuals that contributed to the field work, especially the traditional authorities in Cahololo, Calomba and Cusseque. Thanks to Paulina Zigelski for laboratory analysis.

Supplementary materials

Supplementary data associated with this article can be found in the appendix of this thesis or in the online version, at DOI:10.1016/j.sajb.2019.08.044.



CHAPTER 5- Functional traits and symbiotic associations of geoxyles and trees explain the dominance of detarioid legumes in miombo ecosystems

Amândio L. Gomes, Rasmus Revermann, Paulina Meller, Francisco M. P. Gonçalves, Marcos P. M. Aidar, Fernanda Lages and Manfred Finckh

New Phytologist, DOI: 10.1111/nph.17168

Summary

- The miombo region in Africa is covered by a mosaic of woodlands and geoxylic grasslands and subject to disturbances like fires, frost and drought, and low nutrient availability. The dominance of Fabaceae Detarioideae species in miombo ecosystems is remarkable but little understood. We therefore compared plant functional traits (PFTs) of common woody species of the Angolan plateau, grouped by life form (trees, geoxyles), lineage (Fabaceae: Detarioideae, non-Detarioideae) and symbiont association (ectomycorrhiza, rhizobia).
- PFTs reflect group-specific adaptations to prevalent environmental conditions. To analyse the impact of environmental drivers, we selected PFTs reflecting ecophysiological aspects of leaf morphology, nutrient content and water transport. Traits were measured following standardized protocols.
- We found differences in key PFTs between trees and geoxyles reflecting both, life form specific adaptations to environmental conditions and lineage specific strategies to cope with environmental stresses. We interpret higher leaf thickness and higher wood density of geoxyles as responses to harsher open environments. Fabaceae in general and ectomycorrhizal species showed better nutrient status.
- Symbiotic associations of detarioid legumes with ectomycorrhiza show specific advantages for phosphorous uptake as compared to Rhizobia associated Fabaceae and to non-Fabaceae and thus may be crucial for the stunning dominance of Detarioideae in miombo landscapes.

Key words: ectomycorrhiza; Fabaceae Detarioideae; geoxyles; geoxylic grasslands; Rhizobia; trait-based plant strategies; trees.

Introduction

The miombo ecoregion is one of the main biomes of south-central Africa covering more than 3.6 million km² across 11 countries including Angola (Chidumayo, 1995; Frost, 1996). Miombo ecosystems are typically dominated by woody plants from the genera *Brachystegia*, *Julbernardia*, *Isoberlinia* and *Cryptosepalum* (Frost, 1996; Timberlake & Chidumayo, 2011), belonging to the legume subfamily Detarioideae (LPWG, 2017).

In Angola, miombo woodlands correspond to approx. 47% of the total land area (Barbosa, 1970) and are the main vegetation type, covering the landscape of the Central Plateau. Generally, miombo woodlands form mosaics with open habitats along the valleys (Stellmes *et al.*, 2013 a). These open habitats are co-dominated by dwarf shrubs with massive underground woody structures (geoxylic suffrutices; White, 1976, Zigelski *et al.*, 2019; hereafter termed geoxyles) together with tall C4-grasses. These geoxylic grasslands are locally known as *Anharas* or *Chanas*.

Due to their ecological and socioeconomic importance (Campbell, 1996; Syampungani et al., 2009; Timberlake & Chidumayo, 2011; Sanfilippo, 2014) miombo woodlands have been subject of studies in many countries in the eastern miombo region (Williams et al., 2008; Shirima et al., 2011; Kalaba et al., 2012; Jew et al., 2016). In Angola, however, miombo woodlands have been less well-studied (e.g. Sanfilippo, 2014; Revermann et al., 2016, 2018; Goncalves et al, 2017).

The need to study the ecophysiology of miombo woodlands as a base for its sustainable management has been emphasized for more than two decades (Chidumayo, 1995; Campbell, 1996). Human population growth accompanied by land use change and intensification makes it urgent to better understand the stresscoping mechanisms of miombo vegetation. Miombo is subject to many environmental stresses such as generally low nutrient availability (Chidumayo, 1994; Frost, 1996), and fire (Ryan & Williams, 2011), frost (Finckh et al., 2016) and water stress (Vinya et al., 2012) in the dry season. Leaf shedding (Frost, 1996) by woody plants and underground allocation of assimilates and biomass by geoxyles (White, 1976; Zigelski et al., 2019) are conspicuous responses to these stresses. Nitrogen-fixing

root nodules and mycorrhizal associations are less obvious and remain understudied in the western miombo region, although they are known to improve the ecophysiological fitness of plants in challenging environments (Malloch et al., 1980; Dakora & Phillips, 2002; Tedersoo et al., 2020).

Plant functional traits (PFTs) have been used as an approach to study ecophysiological responses of plants to a broad range of environmental factors which allows a better understanding of functional groups associated with resource use, life strategies and ecosystem functioning (Reich et al., 2003; Violle et al., 2007; Garnier & Navas, 2012; Perez-Harguindeguy et al., 2013). So far, some baseline studies on functional traits from savanna and forest ecosystems have included miombo ecosystems (Chidumayo, 1994; Hoffmann et al., 2005; Poorter & Bongers, 2006; Vinya et al., 2012). However, studies comparing traits from tree species in miombo woodlands with geoxyle species from the neighbouring geoxylic grasslands are still scarce (Meerts, 2017; Gomes et al., 2019).

Of specific interest in this context is the dominance of the legume subfamily Detarioideae in African tropical and subtropical forests (Estrella et al., 2017) (comprising miombo woodlands and associated geoxylic grasslands). Detarioid legumes are not associated with nitrogen-fixing Rhizobia (as is the case in most Fabaceae) but many genera have ectomycorrhizal (ECM) symbionts (Estrella et al., 2017). Corrales et al. (2018) suggest that ECM associations on nutrient-poor tropical soils optimize nutrient supply and thus might be pivotal for the dominance of ECMassociated taxa in many tropical forest ecosystems, especially among the families Dipterocarpaceae (Asia) and Myrtaceae (Australia). However, Corrales et al. (2018) indicate that grassland ecosystems have been poorly studied in relation to ECM occurrence and species composition. So far, no analysis has been made on how detarioid and nondetarioid legumes perform comparatively under woodland vs grassland conditions.

Thus, to better understand functional adaptations of woody taxa in grassland vs woodland habitats, we compare PFTs of geoxyles and trees co-occurring in contiguous miombo landscapes and discuss the role of environmental factors for the differences in PFTs. Then we investigate how far the differences in PFTs are influenced by lineage-specific symbiotic interactions in order to better understand why detarioid legumes are such a dominant element in miombo woodland as well as associated grassland habitats.

Material and Methods

Research site

The study was conducted in the Cusseque area of the Chitembo Municipality, located in Bié Province, Angola (Figure 16). The landscape of the study area is dominated by miombo woodlands on the hills and open geoxylic grassland in the valleys. Predominant soils are either sandy (Arenosols) or ferralitic (Plinthosols), characteristically very acid (average pH=3.3) and with low plant available phosphorous (average 9.3-10.1 mg kg⁻¹) (Gröngröft *et al.*, 2013).

The study area has a sub-humid summer rainfall climate with a pronounced wet season lasting from October to April. The mean annual precipitation is about 987 mm. Mean annual temperature is 20.4°C (Weber, 2013), with maximum temperatures above 40°C and minima below -7°C. Night frosts occur frequently in the valleys during the dry season, with highest frequency in June and July (Finckh *et al.*, 2016).

Apart from frost, dry season fire is the main disturbance factor for the open habitats in the area, occurring from May to September with a peak in July (Schneibel *et al.*, 2013). These fires affect more than 70% of all geoxylic grasslands in the Okavango Basin annually, whereas for comparison only about 10% of the surface of dense miombo woodlands is affected (Stellmes *et al.*, 2013 b). Almost all fires in the study area are set by local people to clear grasslands for hunting and woodlands for agriculture (Schneibel *et al.*, 2017).



Figure 16: Location of the research site Chitembo. Left: the miombo ecoregions in Africa (based on Olson DM, Dinerstein E, 2002). Right: location in the upper Cubango catchment, Angola. The occurrence of open geoxylic grasslands on ferralitic soils (light green colour) and sandy deposits (white) is a characteristic feature in the valleys, contrasting with the woodlands on the hills (dark green).

Sample collection

We sampled 14 tree species from woodland habitats (9 Fabaceae and 5 non-Fabaceae) and 12 *geoxyle* species from open habitats (3 Fabaceae and 9 non-Fabaceae), all being very common in the area (Revermann *et al.*, 2017). An overview of the sampled species is given in Table S6. Samples were collected at the end of February and early March 2014 during the growing season and advanced wet season (Weber 2013; Revermann & Finckh 2013). At this time of the year the plants are fully developed. Five individuals from each tree and *geoxyle* species were sampled, whereby several sun exposed, fully expanded leaves that showed no symptoms of pathogen/herbivore attack were chosen.

Plant Functional Type (PFT) measurements

We selected plant functional traits known to show responses to a broad range of environmental factors. Links of the selected PFTs to ecophysiological mechanisms are well reported in the literature (Kattge *et al.*, 2011; Singh & Verma, 2020). For all species, we measured specific leaf area (SLA), leaf thickness (LT), leaf area (LA), leaf dry matter content (LDMC), wood density (WD), leaf nutrients content [carbon (LC), nitrogen (LN), phosphorus (LP), calcium (LCa), magnesium (LMg), potassium (LK)], C/N and N/P ratios and leaf water potential (LWP). Trait measurements were made following standardized protocols (Cornelissen *et al.*, 2003; Perez-Harguindeguy *et al.*, 2013; Muller, 2014).

SLA and LA: For each species, ten leaves were collected from each of the five individuals (totalling 50 leaves per species). Every leaf (excluding petioles) was scanned with a portable scanner to determine LA. Subsequently, the leaves were placed in a paper envelope and oven dried for 48 hours at 70°C until constant weight was achieved. Then we determined the leaf dry mass (LDM) using a high precision digital scale Kern 770. SLA was calculated dividing LA by LDM. LA for the scanned images was determined using XnViewMP software (available at: https://downloads.tomsguide.com/XnViewMP,0319-51391.html). For compound leaves we used only the leaflets, excluding petiole and/or rachis.

LT: Here, the same leaves were used as for the SLA determination. The measurements were made using a digital calliper at an intermediate position between the leaf margin and the midrib for each leaf. These individual measurements were then averaged to calculate species-mean values.

LDMC: Because water-saturated fresh leaf mass was not measured in the field, LDMC was estimated indirectly from equation as LDMC≈1/(SLA x LT) (Pérez-Harguindeguy *et al.*, 2013). Prior to calculations, values of LT were divided by 10 to achieve the same units as in SLA (cm).

WD: For geoxyles we collected woody samples (Diameter ≥ 2 cm) by digging up woody parts located belowground. For related tree species we collected branches of

the same diameter. To measure wood density we used the volume displacement method (Osazuwa-Peters & Zanne, 2011). After drying the woody segment in an oven at 103 °C for at least 72 h, we measured the weight and calculated WD (ratio of the dry mass and the fresh volume). Values were averaged per species.

LN and LC: The same leave samples used for SLA and LT were analysed for all leaf nutrient contents. Dried samples were ground finely with a disc mill (from Retsch-solutions) and kept dry in an exsiccator. 100-200 mg of ground material was then used for analysis in the Elementar C/N Analyzer Vario Max Cube. Samples were burned at 900°C in presence of O_2 and the released NO_x gases were led through a column containing copper, zinc and tungsten, reducing them to N₂, which was quantified with a detector (Dumas Combustion Method) (Muller, 2014). The released CO_2 was quantified similarly. The measured carbon and nitrogen values were calculated into the C/N percentage of the respective samples, according to the calibration standards of known C/N content that were also combusted. The C/N ratio of each species was determined by dividing LC by LN.

LP, LCa, LMg and LK: About 250 mg of dry matter, finely ground, were digested with 8 ml of concentrated HNO₃ plus 800 μ l H₂O₂ in a tightly closed Teflon tube in a microwave (1600 W) during 15 min of temperature ramp until 200°C and cooked for further 15 min at 200°C under pressure. The resulting product was diluted in 50 ml of distilled water. Before measurement with an inductively coupled plasma–optical emission spectrometer (ICP-OES, Spectro Arcos, Kleve, Germany), all samples were centrifuged to precipitate all particles. Before each run, a calibration was conducted with solutions of known concentration (0.0, 0.5, 1.0, 5.0, 10.0, 50.0 mg P/L) and a linear regression was fitted between P concentration and signal intensity.

To infer a robust estimate of total P concentration, five wavelengths (177.4 nm, 178.3 nm, 213.6 nm, 214.9 nm and 253.6 nm) were used, while concentrations of Ca/K/Mg were deduced from signals at 422.6 nm, 766.4 nm and 279.5 nm, respectively. Furthermore, the spectra were examined thoroughly to detect any interfering signals or background/underground disturbances, in which cases the errors were corrected

and the concentrations recalculated. The concentrations inferred from signals of all element specific wavelengths were averaged.

Leaf Water Potential (LWP): The measurements were made under field conditions using a pressure Pump-Up Chamber Instrument (PMS Instrument Company USA; methodology (Scholander *et al*, 1965), a standard method used for plant water status measurements (Cornelissen et al. 2003; Pérez-Harguindeguy et al. 2013). Measurements were made in the rainy (end of March) and dry seasons (early June) twice a day, at pre-dawn (5 hours) and midday (12 hours). All measurements were made within one hour after starting operation. Five leaves from five individuals per species (totalling 25 leaves) were successively cut and placed inside the chamber, with the cut end protruding from the seal. Once the chambers had been hermetically closed, pressure was gradually applied pumping the chamber. Once a water film appeared, pumping was stopped and the pressure indicated on the display was recorded. It was not possible to measure the leaf water potential of *Combretum platypetalum* in the dry season as it is leafless at this time of year. For this reason, we excluded the species when analysing LWP. Mean LWP was considered the mean of the two seasons (rainy and dry).

Data analysis

Comparisons of all plant functional traits within and between groups were calculated, using One-Way ANOVA (*t-test*). Principal components analysis (PCA) was used to analyse multivariate associations of the plant functional traits based on the scaled covariance matrix of variables. In particular, we investigated whether the spectra of trait-based plant strategies differed between life forms (tree / *geoxyle*) and symbiont type (Rhizobia yes / no; ECM yes / no).

Missing values for wood density in *Rhus exelliana* (due to the excessively soft-wood of the rhizome) and for leaf water potential in *C. platypetalum* (due to early leaf shedding) were imputed beforehand using imputePCA in R package missMDA (Josse & Husson, 2016). All statistical analyses were carried out using STATISTICA (Version 7) and packages FactoMineR (Husson *et al.*, 2010) and factoextra (Kassambara & Mundt, 2017) in R.

Results

Principal Component Analysis

The first six components of the PCA sufficiently explain the variance in the data (85.3 %), with the first two covering almost 50 % (Figure 17). The first component shows a strong positive correlation with SLA, LP and LN and a negative with C/N ratio. Tree species are separated from *geoxyle* species, as well as Fabaceae from non-Fabaceae and ECM species from non-ECM species. The second component correlates with LDMC, and reflects the well-known antagonism between LMg and LK. Geoxyles spread more across the first components than trees, indicating a higher variance across plant functional traits. WD and LA showed no clear pattern in this analysis.



Figure 17: Principal component analysis (PCA) showing correlation of traits and species dispersion in relation to life form, belonging to Fabaceae and symbiotic status. The abbreviations are: SLA-Specific Leaf Area; LT- Leaf Thickness; LA- Leaf Area; LDMC- Leaf Dry Matter Content; WD- Wood Density; LN- Leaf Nitrogen; LC- Leaf Carbon; LP- Leaf Phosphorus; LMg- Leaf Magnesium; LCa- Leaf Calcium; LK- Leaf Potassium; C.N- Carbon to Nitrogen ratio; N.P- Nitrogen to Phosphorus ratio; WP- Water Potential. ECM-Ectomycorrhizal species, Fab- Fabaceae.

Within life form variation

We found highly significant differences for most plant functional traits within the life forms (Table 1). For geoxyles, all species differed significantly from each other in all plant functional traits, while for trees all but LMg differed between all species. The highest trait variance within life forms was found for WP, LT and C/N ratio (both), and LA plus LMg (geoxyles). For species specific details in the analysed traits, see Table S7 (geoxyles) and Table S8 (trees).

Table 8: Mean and standard error of all Plant Functional Traits, including results of One-Way ANOVA between geoxyles and trees and within each group. SLA- Specific leaf area; LT-Leaf thickness; LA- Leaf area; LDMC- Leaf dry matter content; WD- Wood density; LN- Leaf nitrogen content; LC- Leaf carbon content; LP- Leaf phosphorus content; LCa- Leaf calcium content; LMg- Leaf magnesium content; LK- Leaf potassium content; C/N- Carbon to nitrogen ratio; N/P- Nitrogen to phosphorus ratio; WP- Leaf water potential.

	Ме	ANOVA		ANOVA within					
Traits	Geoxyles	Troop	bet	between		Geoxyles		Trees	
		TTEES	F	р	F	р	F	р	
SLA (cm² a ⁻¹)	74.33±2.42	83.27±1.77	9.16	***	36.64	***	14.86	***	
LT (mm)	0.35±0.01	0.28±0.01	27.48	**	143.40	***	89.51	***	
LA	95.05±6.94	118.38±7.46	5.13	***	89.75	***	32.15	***	
LDMC	0.43±0.016	0.46±0.01	2.23	n.s.	19.05	***	12.67	***	
WD	0.62±0.02	0.56±0.01	13.68	***	3.13	***	12.01	***	
	1.51±0.06	1.97±0.07	26.04	***	35.60	***	35.44	***	
(%) LC (%)	49.57±0.35	51.03±0.47	6.0	**	8.88	***	15.58	***	
(76) LP $(mg.g^{-1})$	0.94±0.05	1.12±0.04	8.45	***	27.53	***	23.70	***	
LCa	5.99±0.41	5.06±0.24	3.27	n.s.	25.33	***	7.10	***	
LMg (mg g ⁻¹)	1.96±0.35	0.26±0.05	26.59	***	57.07	***	0.94	n.s.	
LK	7.48±0.47	10.21±0.09	38.02	***	56.30	***	15.58	***	
C/N	36.14±1.92	28.24±1.12	16.48	***	53.70	***	62.69	***	
N/P	17.05±0.65	18.08±0.5	1.60	n.s.	4.13	***	21.97	***	
WP (bar)	-7.21±0.48	-9.29±0.5	8.66	***	366.15	***	245.34	***	

(n.s.- not significant; **- significant; ***- highly significant, p<0.05).

Between groups variation

Comparison between trees and geoxyles

One-way ANOVA (Table 8) showed significant differences between geoxyles and trees for most plant functional traits, except for LDMC, LCa and N/P ratio. On average SLA, LA, LN, LC, LP, LK and WP were higher in trees than in geoxyles, while LT, WD, LMg and C/N ratio were higher in geoxyles than in trees.

Comparison between Fabaceae and non-Fabaceae

Separating Fabaceae species from non-Fabaceae species in both life forms, oneway ANOVA (Table S9) showed significant differences in many plant functional traits (Figure 18).



Figure 18: Plant functional traits (PFT) that differ significantly between geoxyles and trees with regard to lineage (Fabaceae (Fab) / non-Fabaceae (non-Fab)) (Table S9). Jittered points indicate variance of the data and non-overlapping notches show significant differences. Horizontal lines indicate the scale of values adopted for each PFT. Blue circles indicate trees and orange circles indicate geoxyles. SLA-Specific Leaf Area; LN- Leaf Nitrogen; LP- Leaf Phosphorus; LMg- Leaf Magnesium; LCa- Leaf Calcium; LK- Leaf Potassium; C.N- Carbon to Nitrogen ratio; N.P- Nitrogen to Phosphorus ratio.

Within geoxyles SLA, LN, LP, LCa and LMg were higher for Fabaceae species than for non-Fabaceae species, while LK, C/N and N/P ratios were higher for non-Fabaceae species. Within trees, SLA, LDMC, LN, LC, LP, LK and N/P ratio were higher for Fabaceae species than for non-Fabaceae species, while LT, LA, LCa and C/N ratio were higher for non-Fabaceae species.

Comparison between ECM associated and non-ECM associated species

To investigate the effect of ectomycorrhizal associations, we separated geoxyles and trees in ectomycorrhizal (ECM) species from species without this association (non-ECM) to analyse its influence in traits variation (Table S5). Regardless of the life form, again SLA and LP were significantly higher in ECM associated species. The differences in other traits varied between life forms, nevertheless, those traits that were significant relate to a better nutritional status of ECM associated species. Geoxyles differ in more traits between groups, reflecting the higher variance already encountered in the PCA (Figure 19).



Figure 19: Plant functional traits (PFT) that differ significantly between geoxyles and trees with regard to symbiotic type (Ectomycorrhiza (ECM) / non-Ectomycorrhiza (non-EMC)) (Table S5). Jittered points indicate variance of the data and non-overlapping notches show significant differences. Horizontal lines indicate the scale of values adopted for each PFT. Blue circles indicate trees and orange circles indicate geoxyles. SLA-Specific Leaf Area; LN-Leaf Nitrogen; LP-Leaf Phosphorus; N.P- Nitrogen to Phosphorus ratio.

In a separate consideration, we looked for the influence of ectomycorrhiza within the dominant plant family of the miombo region. We compared how detarioid species and non-detarioid Fabaceae species (regardless of the life form) perform concerning the most important variables of the PCA (Figure 19, Table S5). Here, one-way ANOVA showed significantly higher LN and N/P ratio for non-detarioid species, while SLA and

LP were the opposite. There were no significant differences in C/N ratio between detarioid and non-detarioid species.

Table 9: One-way ANOVA comparing Detarioideae (Det) and non-Detarioideae (n-Det) legume species regarding Specific Leaf Area (SLA), Leaf Nitrogen (LN), Leaf Phosphorus (LP) contents, Carbon to Nitrogen (C/N) and Nitrogen to Phosphorus (N/P) ratios.

	Mean±sta	ntard error	One-Way ANOVA		
	Det	n-Det	F	р	
SLA (cm²/g)	92.93±1.92	85.63±2.75	34.10	***	
LN (%)	2.12±0.04	2.35±0.09	7.43	***	
LP (mg/g)	1.34±0.04	1.13±0.06	9.92	***	
C/N ratio	24.66±0.52	22.75±0.86	3.99	n.s.	
N/P ratio	15.65±0.57	21.11±0.77	34.10	***	

Significant differences (p<0.05) are marked with asterisk. n.s. (no significant).

Discussion

What drives the functional differences between geoxyles and trees?

Apart from the large differences in height, the morphology of trees and geoxyles is strikingly similar. Reproductive traits do not show substantial differences while vegetative traits of geoxyles are restricted to a part of the phenetic space of trees (Meerts, 2017). However, until now the specific ecophysiological adaptations of these life forms have rarely been analysed. In this study, we show that they comprise distinct combinations of functional traits reflecting different ecophysiological strategies. We often observe trade-offs between two strategies, e.g. higher wood density (WD) of geoxyles which balances survival investment (high WD; Loehle, 1988; King et al., 2006) against hydraulic conductivity (low WD; Borchert, 1994). Lower specific leaf area (SLA) and higher leaf thickness (LT) for geoxyles indicate that the lower xylem volume in *geoxyle* stems is associated to a lower volumetric flow rate of water. Two explanations spring to mind. Vinya et al. (2012) indicate coordination between branch hydraulic properties and leaf functional traits in miombo woodland trees. A lower leaf area ratio to sapwood area (huber value) in comparison to trees may simply result in reduced needs for high volumetric flow rates. However, we are not aware of any comparative study on huber values comparing trees with geoxyles. Alternatively, a relation of lower xylem vulnerability to cavitation, associated with higher WD (Barotto *et al.*, 2018), seems also plausible. This would be in line with the fact that the frost prone *geoxyle* habitats have also promoted strategies towards higher drought tolerance with increment on WD and mycorrhizal colonization (Midgley et al. 2010; Brunner et al. 2015; Volaire, 2018; Rodriguez-Zaccaro & Groover, 2019).

Another ecophysiological distinction is apparent in that geoxyles had higher magnesium (LMg) and lower potassium (LK) than trees and *vice versa*, representing the trade-off between investment in photosynthesis and adaptation to water stress (Hugouvieux *et al.*, 2002; Tůma *et al.*, 2004; Seyed *et al.*, 2012). Geoxyles optimize photosynthesis and relative growth rate. Since geoxyles are increasingly covered by tall C4-grasses from mid-December onward (Zigelski *et al.*, 2019), rapid growth with incipient vegetation period is beneficial. By allocating carbohydrates belowground to storage, geoxyles are able to cope with reduced assimilation in the later rainy season and during the dry season, and to resprout rapidly afterwards (Pausas *et al.*, 2018).

Strikingly, leaf dry matter content (LDMC) did not differ between life forms. Used as indicator of plants' resource use strategies, it represents a trade-off between rapid assimilation/growth (high LDMC) and efficient resource conservation (low LDMC) (Wilson *et al.*, 1999; Garnier *et al.*, 2001; Díaz *et al.*, 2004). Furthermore, LDMC is a reliable predictor of total aboveground net primary production (aNPP; Smart *et al.* 2017) and the similarity of LDMC between life forms suggests a comparable productivity of geoxylic grasslands and woodlands, but with different strategies of biomass allocation. "Underground forests" (White, 1976) are thus not only similar in terms of dominant genera (e.g. *Brachystegia, Cryptosepalum*), but also show similar productivity to aboveground forests.

Ecophysiological differentiations between geoxles and trees are thus driven by different stress and disturbance regimes in their respective environments. Nutrient limitation, however, affects all life forms in the miombo region regardless, as shown e.g. by the nitrogen and phosphorus content ratio (N/P) indicating consistently P-

limited systems (Aerts & Chapin, 2000; Güsewell & Koerselman, 2002). In the following we discuss the role of symbiotic interactions to cope with this deficiency.

How are functional differences influenced by lineages with different symbiotic associations?

For several traits, we find lineage specific differences that show Fabaceae to have more favourable trait values. This is caused by their ability to fix nitrogen via microbial root symbionts, which directly affects important traits. SLA for example is strongly linked to growth rate and resource use by plants (Vendramini *et al.*, 2002) and is vital for resource capture, usage and availability (Grime *et al.*, 1997). Nitrogen is directly affecting vegetative growth and determining photosynthetic ability (Waite & Sack, 2010; Blonder *et al.*, 2011). Fabaceae are among the plants with highest LN and have in general low C/N ratios (McKey, 1994; Miller, 2000; Colgan *et al.*, 2015). This is in line with the negative correlation we found between C/N ratio and SLA, LN and LP. Besides, while environmental conditions are favourable, Fabaceae have a higher photosynthetic rate than most other plant families (Tuohy *et al.*, 1991; McKey, 1994). Often, they increase their competitive ability by allocating resources to storage organs (Pérez-Harguindeguy *et al.*, 2013). Furthermore, low C/N ratios in Fabaceae allow for high decomposition rates and, thus, for a quick nutrient turnover (Lewis *et al.*, 2016).

Why are Detarioideae so dominant in miombo ecosystems?

We compared several groups in our study, but we want to draw particular attention to the comparison between Detariodeae (ECM) and non-Detariodeae in the nutrient analyses (Tables 2, S4, S5). Leaf phosphorous content (LP) was significantly higher in trees than in geoxyles, in Fabaceae than in non-Fabaceae and in ECM than in non-ECM species. Phosphorus is essential for plant growth and reproduction (White & Hammond, 2008), but limited in the soils of the study area (Gröngröft *et al.*, 2013, own measurements). Besides ECM, plants adapt to low phosphorous availability through conservative use in tissues, e.g. redeployment (Hedin 2004; McGroddy *et al.* 2004; Güsewell, 2005; Minden & Kleyer, 2014) and changes in biomass allocation (Hermans *et al.* 2006) within the organism during ontogeny.

The dominant genera of the miombo are detarioid with ECM (Högberg, 1982). They are thereby enabled to take up P directly from organic matter (Högberg & Nylund 1981; Högberg & Piearce 1986; Frost, 1996; Hall *et al.*, 2019) and to stimulate biological N-fixation (Tiessen, 2008). Contrariwise, non-detarioid legumes have to invest fixed nitrogen into phosphatase production to cope with phosphorous-limitation (Houlton *et al.*, 2008).

Lower LP in geoxyles compared to trees may partly be biased by the lower proportion of detarioid geoxyles (25% of species) compared to trees (64%) in our analysis. Yet, we also find lower LP in geoxyles compared to trees among non-Fabaceae, indicating that this pattern also reflects less soil organic matter in geoxylic grasslands due to their much higher fire frequency compared to woodlands (Stellmes et al., 2013 b).

Conclusions

Our study found significant differences between geoxyles and trees co-occurring in contiguous areas of the Angolan Central plateau for almost all analyzed traits. These differences reflect adaptations to the disturbance regime and environmental stresses of their respective habitats. Each group developed a wide range of responses to cope with these local environmental conditions, particularly through changes in biomass allocation (below or aboveground), ecophysiological strategy and leaf/wood morphology.

Lineage specific symbiotic interactions like ECM or rhizobia, which are improving nutrient uptake, dominate the pattern of variation in most traits. Strikingly, key traits like specific leaf area, nitrogen and phosphorus content were dominated by detarioid Fabaceae. ECM associations provide even better nutrient provision than rhizobia for both tree and *geoxyle* species. The striking dominance of detarioid species in both grasslands and woodlands of the miombo is linked to their symbionts, which provide advantageous ecophysiological adaptations to nutrient deficient soils and environmental stresses. With our study, we provide new insights into little-studied, fundamental aspects of biogeochemical cycles in the miombo region.

Acknowledgements

The authors thank all people in the Cusseque area who contributed during field work, especially the traditional authorities in Cahololo, Calomba and Cusseque for their hospitality. We thank David Goyder for language editing.

Author contribution

The research was firstly conceived by ALG and MPMA and subsequently performed by all co-authors. Field work was carried out by ALG together with FMPG, MPMA, RR and MF. Laboratory analysis was carried out by PM. FL assured logistical and bureaucratic support for the research. Data analysis and interpretation of results were performed by ALG, RR, MF, MPMAA and PM. The writing of the manuscript was done by ALG, PM and MF with contribution of all co-authors.



CHAPTER 6- Synthesis

Geoxyle co-dominated ecosystems

In this overview chapter, I shortly review the current knowledge on distribution and diversity of geoxyles and geoxyle grasslands in Angola, their ecology and their evolutionary history and I point at important knowledge gaps.

Geoxyle grasslands, which form at landscape scale a mosaic with miombo woodlands, constitute one of the most particular ecosystem types of Angola. Early on, they attracted the attention of vegetation scientists, as shown by Gossweiler & Mendonça's (1939) classification as Ericilignosa, followed by Barbosa's (1970) typification as "Anharas de Ongote" and "Chanas da Borracha". White (1976) was the first author who gave a general overview on geoxyles and geoxyle grasslands in the Zambezian phytochorion, with a special focus on the areas covered by Kalahari sands.

Our results show, that from about 198 geoxyles known from the Zambezian phytochorion at least 121 species occur in Angola and about 10% of those are Angolan endemics. However, large areas with extended geoxyle grasslands in eastern Angola are still little explored, so these data have to be seen as preliminary.

Frost and/ or fire are important environmental drivers in geoxyle habitats, while seasonal flooding and waterlogging seem to impede the growth of most geoxyle species. In seasonally flooded landscapes like the flat plains of the Cameia National Park in eastern Angola the geoxyles occupy mostly highlying microsites like fossil dunes and termite mounds, thus avoiding prolonged waterlogging.

Important knowledge gaps concern ecosystem services related to geoxyle dominated ecosystems, but also the astonishing convergent evolution of so many geoxyles from different plant families in the Zambezian phytochorion is far from being understood. The role environmental drivers played for this process is still in discussion. I only gathered first insights on the functional benefits the geoxylic habitat brought along for surviving in these disturbance prone habitats.
The lack of floristic data and the just mentioned research gaps indicate once more the need of further research on distribution, biodiversity, ecology and conservation needs to improve our scientific knowledge about this singular ecosystem. Aspects of ecosystem services delivered by geoxyle grasslands and aspects of the functional benefits of the geoxyle life form have been addressed in the following chapters of my thesis.

Geoxyle grasslands in south-central Angola: vegetation dynamics, root structure, belowground biomass and soil characteristics

The following Chapter 3 dealt with woody belowground biomass and related carbon stocks, soil properties of and human impact on vegetation types shaped by geoxyle species on the Angolan Central Plateau. This is the first study to measure woody belowground biomass in geoxyle dominated Afrotropical grasslands, the so called "underground forests of Africa". It significantly advances our understanding of carbon storage in ancient tropical grasslands, showing that the belowground biomass of *Brachystegia russelliae* dominated geoxyle grasslands reaches 44 t/ha and almost equals the amount of above ground biomass of neighbouring miombo woodlands. Almost the entire woody below-ground biomass is located in the top 30 cm of the soil. Thus, this chapter emphasizes the high relevance of below-ground biomass in geoxyle grasslands for carbon stock accounting African dry-tropical ecosystems.

Both major vegetation types, *B. russelliae* dominated geoxyle grasslands on ferralitic soils and *Parinari capensis* dominated geoxyle grasslands on arenosols were extremely acid and showed a low nutrient availability. However, both grassland types differed strongly in EVI and fire-seasonality. *Brachystegia russelliae*-grasslands showed a considerably higher EVI than *Parinari capensis*-grasslands all year round. The latter burnt almost twice as frequently as *Brachystegia russelliae*-grasslands in a ten year period. Man-made disturbances and differences in fire-resilience between the two vegetation types seem to control the respective disturbance regimes.

Tree or not a tree: differences in plant functional traits among geoxyles and closely related tree species

Chapter 4 addresses functional traits of geoxyles, comparing them with closely related, congeneric or conspecific trees. I selected six species pairs that are common in the study area, i.e. *Brachystegia russelliae* vs. *Brachystegia longifolia* (Fabaceae-Detarioideae); *Cryptosepalum exfoliatum* subsp. *suffruticans* vs. *Cryptosepalum exfoliatum* subsp. *pseudotaxus* (Fabaceae-Detarioideae); *Combretum platypetalum* vs. *Combretum zeyheri* (Combretaceae); *Parinari capensis* vs. *Parinari curatellifolia* (Chrysobalanaceae); *Syzygium guineense* subsp. *macrocarpum* (suffrutex form vs. tree form) (Myrtaceae); *Uapaca nitida* var *suffrutescens/ Uapaca nitida* var. *nitida* (Phyllanthaceae). I measured plant functional traits known to show responses to a broad range of environmental factors aiming to find adaptive traits of geoxyles and trees to their respective environments. I specifically selected traits linked to known eco-physiological mechanisms like specific leaf area, leaf thickness, leaf area, leaf dry matter content, wood density, several leaf nutrient concentrations, C:N and N:P ratios and leaf water potential.

Results did not show a trait dualism between trees and geoxyles. The growth form transition seems to be largely decoupled from leaf economics. Taxon related responses to specific environmental stresses and habitat conditions in a multdimensional trait space dominate the detected differences among the species pairs.

Functional traits and symbiotic associations of geoxyles and trees explain the dominance of detarioid legumes in miombo ecosystems

Chapter 5 addresses the question, in how far these taxon specific responses in traits of geoxyles and trees are based on phylogenetically inherited symbiotic interactions, with a special view on the role of ectomycorrhizal associations. To do so, I measured and compared the same plant functional traits as before for a larger set of geoxyle and tree species (12 and 14, respectively) which all co-occur in the Cusseque area.

As typical for the miombo ecoregion, the study area is covered by a mosaic of woodlands and geoxyle grasslands, both dominated by detarioid legume species.

This dominance of Detarioidae is remarkable but so far little understood. I therefore compared the plant functional traits (PFTs) according to life form (trees, geoxyles), lineage (e.g. Fabaceae, non Fabaceae; Detarioideae, non-Detarioideae) and symbiont association (ectomycorrhiza, rhizobia), aiming to better understand if plant functional traits reflect group-specific adaptations to their respective environmental conditions.

Results showed both lineage specific adaptations to nutrient poor soils and life form specific strategies to cope with environmental stresses. Higher wood density and leaf thickness can be regarded as a response to harsher conditions in open grassland environments. Fabaceae as a whole and ectomycorrhizal species showed higher leaf nutrient contents. The specific symbiotic associations of Detarioidae clearly have specific advantages to capture phosphorous in comparison to non-Fabaceae and Rhizobia associated Fabaceae, as shown e.g. by their significantly higher phosphorous content. Thus, the hyperdominance of detarioid species in miombo ecosystems is linked to their ectomycorrhizal association. This finding provides new insights into fundamental aspects of biogeochemical cycles in the miombo ecosystems.

Final remarks

Based on local studies on the Angolan plateau, the presented study has contributed to a broader understanding not only of geoxyle grasslands but also to environmental constraints of the miombo woodlands on the Bié plateau and beyond. The study provides for the first time data for belowground woody biomass and associated carbon storage of Zambezian geoxyle grasslands, indicating dimensions which are relevant for subcontinental carbon balances. Together with my co-authors, I have measured and compared PFT that allowed me to better understand the ecophysiological adaptations of geoxyles to harsh and disturbance prone environmental conditions for the Angolan plateau. Finally I showed the role of microbiological associations for the dominance of Detarioid species in grasslands and woodlands on the Angolan plateau and probably the wider miombo ecoregion. One of the fundamental vegetation patterns of the African continent, the divide

between dominant Rhizobia associated legume trees in the dry savannas and dominant ectomycorrhiza associated Detarioidae in the wet savannas and dry tropical forests seem to be (at least partly) based on different strategies of nutrient capture.



References

Α

- Ackerly, D.D. (2004). Functional strategies of chaparral shrubs in relation to seasonal water deficit and disturbance. *Ecology Monographs* 74, 25–44.
- Ackerly, D.D., Bazzaz, F.A. (1995). Seedling crown orientation and interception of diffuse radiation in tropical forest gaps. *Ecology* 76, 1134–1146.
- Aerts, R., Chapin, F.S. (2000). The mineral nutrition of wild plants revisited: a reevaluation of processes and patterns. *Advances in Ecology Research* 30, 1–67.
- Aerts, R. and van der Peijl, M.J. (1993). A simple model to explain the dominance of low-productive perennials in nutrient-poor habitats. *Oikos* 66 (1), 144–147.
- Agência Angola Press (ANGOP) (2017). Cameia prepara mais de mil hectares para cultivar arroz. Agência Angola Press, Moxico, 16.07.2017. http://www.angop.ao/angola/pt_pt/noticias/economia/2017/6/28/ Moxico-Cameia-prepara-mais-mil-hectares-para-cultivar-arroz,be825477-10c7-72d-b6e3-cb1ed5d25974.html. Accessed 22 Aug 2017.
- Alves RJV, da Silva NG, Fernandes Júnior AJ, Guimarães AR (2013) Longevity of the Brazilian underground tree *Jacaranda decurrens* Cham. *Anais da Academia Brasileira de Ciências*. 85, 671–677.

В

- Baptista, N. (2014). Literature study of the woody miombo vegetation and forest management in the southeast Angola with focus on data from the colonial era. Polytechnic of Namibia, Windowek.
- Barbosa, L.A.G., (1970). Carta Fitogeográfica de Angola. Instituto de Investigação Científica de Angola, Luanda.
- Barotto AJ, Monteoliva S, Gyenge J, Martinez-Meier A and Fernandez ME. (2018). Functional relationships between wood structure and vulnerability to xylem cavitation in races of Eucalyptus globulus differing in wood density. *Tree Physiology* 38, 243–251.
- Blonder, B., Violle, C., Bentley, L.P., Enquist, B.J. (2011). Venation networks and the origin of the leaf economics spectrum. *Ecology Letters* 2, 91–100.

Bond, W.J. (2016). Ancient grasslands at risk. *Science* 351(6269),120–122.

- Bond, W., Keeley, J. (2005). Fire as a global 'herbivore': the ecology and evolution of flammable ecosystems. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 20(7), 387–394.
- Bond, W.J., Woodward, F.I., Midgley, G.F. (2005). The global distribution of ecosystems in a world without fire. *New Phytologist* 165, 525-538.
- Bonnefile, R. (2011). Rainforest responses to past climatic changes in tropical Africa. In: Tropical rainforest responses to climatic change. Springer, Berlin/Heidelberg, pp 125–184.
- Borchert, R. (1994). Soil and Stem Water Storage Determine Phenology and Distribution of Tropical Dry Forest Trees. *Ecology* 75, 1437–1449.
- Brenan, J.P. (1978). Some aspects of the phytogeography of tropical Africa. *Annals* of *Missouri Botanical Garden* 65(2), 437–478.
- Brigham, T., Chihongo, A., Chidumayo, E. (1996). Trade in woodland products from the miombo region, in: Campbell, B. (Eds), *The Miombo in Transition: Woodlands and Welfare in Africa.* Centre for International Forestry Research, Bogor, pp. 137-174.
- Brockley, R.P., (2001). Foliar analysis as a planning tool for operational fertilization. In C. Bamsey (eds). *Enhanced Forest Management: Fertilization and Economics Conference*, March 1-2, 2001, Edmonton, AB. pp. 63-68.
- Bucci, S.J., Goldstein, G., Meinzer, F.C., Scholz, F.G., Franco, A.C., Bustamante, M. (2004). Functional convergence in hydraulic architecture and water relations of tropical savanna trees from leaf to whole plant. *Tree Physiology* 24, 891–899.
- Burtt-Davy, J.B. (1922). The Suffrutencent Habit as an Adaptation to Environment. *Journal of Ecology* Vol. 10, 211-219.

С

- Cairns, M.A., Brown, S., Helmer, E.H., Baumgardner, G.A. (1997). Root Biomass Allocation in the World 's Upland Forests. *Oecologia* 111, 1–11.
- Campbell, B., (1996). The Miombo in Transition : Woodlands and Welfare in Africa. Center for International Forestry Research, Bogor.
- Castro, E.A de., Kauffman, J.B. (1998). Ecosystem structure in the Brazilian Cerrado: A vegetation gradient of aboveground biomass, root mass and consumption by fire. *Journal of Tropical Ecology* 14, 263–283.

- Cauldwell, A.E., Zieger, U. (2000). A reassessment of the fire-tolerance of some miombo woody species in the Central Province, Zambia. *African Journal of Ecology* 2, 138–146.
- Cavelier, J. (1992). Fine-root biomass and soil properties in a semideciduous and a lower montane rain forest in Panama. *Plant and Soil* 142,187–201.
- Cerling, T.E., Harris, J.M., MacFadden, B.J., Leakey, M.G., Quade, J., Eisenmann, V., Ehleringer, J.R. (1997). Global vegetation change through the Miocene/Pliocene boundary. *Nature* 389(6647), 153–158.
- Chamberlain, J.L., Ness, G., Small, C.J., Bonner, S.J., Hiebert, E.B. (2013). Modeling below-ground biomass to improve sustainable management of Actaea racemosa, a globally important medicinal forest product. *Forest Ecology and Management* 293, 1–8.
- Chapin, F.S.I., Shaver, G.R., Kedrowski, R. A. (1986). Environmental controls over carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus chemical fractions in Eriophorum vaginatum L. in Alaskan tussock tundra. *Journal of Ecology* 74(1), 167–195.
- Chidumayo, E.N. (1997). Handbook of Miombo Ecology and Management. Environment Institute, Stockholm.
- Chidumayo E. (1994). Phenology and nutrition of miombo woodland trees in Zambia. *Trees* 2(9), 67–72.
- Chidumayo, E.N. (2013). Estimating tree biomass and changes in root biomass following clear-cutting of Brachystegia-Julbernardia (miombo) woodland in central Zambia. *Environmental Conservation* 41(01), 54-63.
- Chidumayo, E., Frost, P. (1996). Population biology of miombo trees, in: Campbell B eds. The Miombo in Transition: Woodlands and Welfare in Africa. Centre for International Forestry Research, Bogor, pp. 59–71.
- Ciais, P., Bombelli, A., Williams, M., Piao, S.L., Chave, J., Ryan, C.M., Henry, M., Brender, P., Valentini, R. (2011). The carbon balance of Africa: synthesis of recent research studies. *Philosophical Transactions of The Royal Society A Mathematical Physical and Engineering Sciences* 369, 2038-2057.
- Clarke, P.J., Lawes, M.J., Midgley, J.J., Lamont, B.B., Ojeda, F., Burrows, G.E., Enright, N.J., Knox, K.J.E. (2013). Resprouting as a key functional trait: how buds, protection and resources drive persistence after fire. *New Phytologist* 197, 19–35.
- Clarke, P.J., Lawes, M.J., Murphy, B.P., Russell-Smith, J., Nano, C.E.M., Bradstock, R., Enright, N.J., Fontaine, J.B., Gosper, C.R., Radford, I., Midgley, J.J.,

Gunton, R.M. (2015). A synthesis of postfire recovery traits of woody plants in Australian ecosystems. *Science of The Total Environment* 534, 31-42.

- Clayton, W.D., Cope, T.A. (1980). The chorology of Old World species of Gramineae. *Kew Bull* 35(1),135–171.
- Coates, P. K. (2002). Trees of southern Africa, 3rd edn. New edition revised and updated by Meg Coates Palgrave, Struik, Cape Town, pp 833–836.
- Colgan, M.S., Martin, R.E., Baldeck, C.A., Asner, G.P. (2015). Tree foliar chemistry in an African savanna and its relation to Life History Strategies and environmental filters. *PLoS-ONE* 10(5), e0124078.
- Cornelissen, J.H.C., Lavorel, S., Garnier, E., Díaz, S., Buchmann, N., Gurvich, D.E., Reich, P.B., ter Steege, H., Morgan, H.D., Heijden, van der M.G.A., Pausas, J.G., Poorter, H. (2003). A handbook of protocols for standardised and easy measurements of plant functional traits worldwide. *Australian Journal of Botany* 51, 335–380.
- Corrales, A., Henkel, T.W., Smith, M.E., (2018). Ectomycorrhizal associations in the tropics biogeography, diversity patterns and ecosystem roles. *New Phytologist* 220, 1076-1091.
- Coupland, R.T. (1992). Mixed prairie, in: Coupland, R.T. (Ed.), Grasslands of the World. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 151–182.

D

- Dengler, J. (2009). A flexible multi-scale approach for standardised recording of plant species richness patterns. *Ecological Indicators* 6(9), 1169–1178.
- Dewees, P.A. (1994). Social and economic aspects of miombo woodland management in Southern Africa. Options and opportunities for research. CIFOR Occasional Paper 2, Bogor, Indonesia.
- Díaz, S., Hodgson, J.G., Thompson, K., Cabido, M., Cornelissen, J.H.C., Jalili, A., Montserrat-Martí, G., Grime, J.P., Zarrinkamar, F., Asri, Y., Band, S.R., Basconcelo, S., Castro-Díez, P., Funes, G., Hamzehee, B., Khoshnevi, M., Pérez-Harguindeguy, N., Pérez-Rontomé, M.C., Shirvany, F.A., Vendramini, F., Yazdani, S., Abbas-Azimi, R., Bogaard, A., Boustani, S., Charles, M., Dehghan, M., De Torres-Espuny, L., Falczuk, V., Guerrero-Campo, J., Hynd, A., Jones, G., Kowsary, E., Kazemi-Saeed, F., Maestro-Martínez, M., Romo-Díez, A., Shaw, S., Siavash, B., Villar-Salvador, P., Zak, M.R. (2004). The PFT that drive ecosystems: Evidence from three continents. *Journal of Vegetation Science* 15, 295–304.

- Domptail, S., Groβe, L. M., Kolwalski, B., Baptista, J. (2013) Cusseque/Cacuchi-The People. *Biodiversity & Ecology* 5, 73–80.
- Douma, J.C., Aerts, R., Witte, J.P.M., Bekker, R.M., Kunzmann, D., Metselaar, K., Bodegom, P.M. Van. (2011). A combination of functionally different plant traits provides a means to quantitatively predict a broad range of species assemblages in NW Europe. *Ecography* 000: 001–010.
- Duchaufour, P. (1982). Pedology, Pedogenesis and Classification, 1st ed. George Allen and Unwin (Publishers) Ltd, London.

Ε

- Ekoungoulou, R., Liu, X., Loumeto, J.J., Ifo, S.A. (2014). Tree Above-And Below-Ground Biomass Allometries for Carbon Stocks Estimation in Secondary Forest of Congo. *Journal of Environmental Science, Toxicology and Food Technology* 8(4), 9-20.
- Enquist, B.J., West, G.B., Charnov, E.L., Brown, J.H. (1999). Allometric scaling of production and life-history variation in vascular plants. *Nature* 401, 907–911.
- Enriquez, S., Duarte, C.M., Sand-Jensen, K., Nielsen, S.L., (1996). Broad-Scale Comparison of Photosynthetic Rates Across Phototropic Organisms. *Oecologia* 108 (2), 197–206.
- Ernst, W., Walker, B.H. (1973). Studies on the hydrature of trees in miombo woodland in south central Africa. *Journal of Ecology* 61, 667-673.
- Ernst, W., (1975). Variation in the mineral contents of leaves of trees in miombo woodland in south central Africa. *Journal of Ecology* 63, 801-807.
- Estrella, M. de Ia, Forest, F., Wieringa, J.J., Fougere-Danezan, M., Bruneau, A. (2017). Insights on the evolutionary origin of Detarioideae, a clade of ecologically dominant tropical African trees. *New Phytologist* 214, 1722–1735.
- Evans, J. (1989). Photosynthesis and nitrogen relationships in leaves of C3 plants. *Oecologia* 78, 9–19. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00377192.

F

Fayolle, A., Swaine, M.D., Aleman, J., Azihou, A., Bauman, D., Beest, M., Chidumayo, E.N., Cromsigt, J.P.G.M., Dessard, H., Finckh, M., Gonçalves, F.M.P., Gillet, J.F., Gorel, A., Hick, H., Holdo, R., Kirunda,B., Mahy, G., McNicol, I., Ryan, C.M., Revermann, R., Plumptre, A., Pritchard, R. Nieto-Quintano, P., Schmitt, C.B., Seghieri, J., Swemmer, A., Talila, H., Woollen, E. (2018). A sharp floristic discontinuity revealed by the biogeographic regionalization of African savannas. Journal of Biogeography 00:1 –12.

- Fiala, K. (2011). Belowground plant biomass of grassland ecosystem and its variation according to ecological factors. *Ekológia* 29, 206–210.
- Fick, S., Hijmans, R. (2017). WorldClim 2: New 1-km spatial resolution climate surfaces for global land areas. *International Journal of Climatology* 37(2). https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.5086.
- Fidelis, A., Lyra, M.F.S., Pivello, V. (2013). Above- and belowground biomass and carbon dynamics in Brazilian Cerrado wet grasslands. *Journal of Vegetation Science* 24, 356–364.
- Field, C., Mooney, H.A. (1986). The photosynthesis–nitrogen relationship in wild plants, in: Givnish, T.J. (Ed.), On the Economy of Plant Form and Function. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 25–55.
- Figueiredo, E., Smith, G.E. (2008). Plantas de Angola/Plants of Angola. *Strelitzia* 22, 1-279.
- Finckh, M., Revermann, R. and Aidar, M. P. M. (2016). Climate refugees going underground – a response to Maurin et al. (2014). *New Phytologist* 209, 904– 909.
- Firmino, R.K.V.S. (2016). Valorização da flora de Cusseque e Caiundo no centro e sul de Angola e avaliação da biomassa lenhosa utilizada para combustível e construção. Universidade de Lisboa.
- Frost, P., (1996). The ecology of miombo woodlands, in: Campbell, B. (Ed.), The Miombo in Transition: Woodlands and Welfare in Africa. Centre for International Forestry Research, Bogor, pp. 11–57.

G

- Garnier, E., Navas, M.L. (2012). A trait-based approach to comparative functional plant ecology: concepts, methods and applications for agroecology. A review. Agronomy for Sustainable Development, Springer Verlag/EDP Sciences/INRA, 32 (2), pp.365-399.
- Garnier, E., Salager, J.L., Laurent, G., Sonié, L. (1999). Relationships between photosynthesis, nitrogen and leaf structure in 14 grass species and their dependence on the basis of expression. *New Phytologist* 143, 119–129.
- Gauslaa, Y. (1989). Management and regeneration of tropical woodlands with special references to Tanzanian conditions. A literature review. *Lidia* 2, 37-112.

- Gignoux, J., Lahoreau, G., Julliard, R., Barot, S. (2009). Establishment and early persistence of tree seedlings in an annually burned savanna. *Journal of Ecology* 97(3), 484–495.
- Givnish, T.J. (1995). Plant stems: biomechanical adaptation for energy capture and influence on species distributions, in: G, B. (Ed.), *Plant Stems: Physiology and Functional Morphology*. Academic Press, San Diego, pp. 3–49.
- Grime, J.P., Thompson, K., Hunt, R., Hodgson, J.G., Cornelissen, J.H.C., Rorison, I.H., Hendry, G.A.F., Ashenden, T.W., Askew, A.P., Band, S.R., Booth, R.E., Bossard, C.C., Campbell, B.D., Cooper, J.E.L., Davison, A., Gupta, P.L., Hall, W., Hand, D.W., A, H.M., Hillier, S.H., Hodkinson, D.J., Jalili, A., Liu, Z., Mackey, J.L.M., Mattews, N., Mowforth, M.A., Neal, A.M., Reader, R.J., Reiling, K., Ross-Fraser, W., Spencer, R.E., Sutton, F., Tasker, D., Thorp, P.C., Whitehouse, J. (1997). Integrated screening validates primary axes of specialisation in plants. *Oikos* 79 (2), 259–281.
- Gomes, A.L., Revermann, R., Gonçalves, F.M.P., Lages, F., Aidar, M.P.M., Finckh, M., Jüergens, N. (2019). Tree or not a tree: Differences in plant functional traits among geoxyles and closely related tree species. *South African Journal of Botany* 127, 176-184.
- Gonçalves, F.M.P, Revermann, R., Gomes, A.L., Aidar, M.P.M., Finckh, M., Juergens, N. (2017). Tree Species Diversity and Composition of Miombo Woodlands in South-Central Angola: A Chronosequence of Forest Recovery after Shifting Cultivation. *International Journal of Forestry Research* 1-13.
- Gossweiler, J., Mendonça, F.A. (1939). Carta fiogeografia de Angola. Ministério das Colónias, Lisboa, p 242.
- Govender, N., Trollope, W.S., Van Wilgen, B.W. (2006). The effect of fire season, fire frequency, rainfall and management on fire intensity in savanna vegetation in South Africa. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 43(4), 748–758.
- Gower, S.T. (1987). Relations between mineral nutrient availability and fine root biomass in two Costa Rican tropical wet forests: a hypothesis. *Biotropica* 19, 171–175.
- Goyder, D.J., Gonçalves, F.M. P. (2019). The Flora of Angola: collectors, richness and endemism. In: Huntley BJ, Russo V, Lages F, Ferrand N (eds) *Biodiversity* of Angola. Science and conservation: a modern synthesis. Springer.
- Grace, J., San José, J., Meir, P., Miranda, H.S., Montes, R.A. (2006). Productivity and carbon fluxes of tropical savannas. *Journal of Biogeography* 33 (3), 387– 400.

- Gröengröeft, A., Luther-Mosebach, J., Landschreiber, L., Eschenbach (2013a). Cusseque soils. *Biodiversity & Ecology* 5, 51–54.
- Gröngröeft, A., J. Luther-Mosebach, L. Landschreiber, R. Revermann, M. Finckh & A. Eschenbach. (2013b). Cusseque landscape. *Biodiversity and Ecology* 5, 43–44.
- Gunes, A., Alpaslan, M., Inal, A. (1998). Critical nutrient concentrations and antagonistic and synergistic relationships among the nutrients of NFT-grown young tomato plants. *Journal of Plant Nutrition* 21(10), 2035–3047.
- Güsewell, S. (2005). Nutrient resorption of wetland graminoids is related to the type of nutrient limitation. *Functional Ecology* 19(2), 344–54.
- Güsewell, S., Koerselman, W. (2002). Variation in nitrogen and phosphorus concentrations of wetland plants. *Perspectives in Plant Ecology, Evolution and Systematics* 5 (1), 37–61.

Η

- Hall, M. (1984). Man's historical and traditional use of fire in southern Africa. In: de Booysen PV, Tainton NM (eds) Ecological effects of fire in South African ecosystems. Springer, Berlin/Heidelberg, pp 40–52.
- Hedin L.O. (2004). Global organization of terrestrial plant-nutrient interactions. *Proceedings of National Academy of Science* 101 (30), 10849–10850.
- Herbert, T.D., Lawrence, K.T., Tzanova, A. et al. (2016). Late Miocene global cooling and the rise of modern ecosystems. *Nat. Geosci.* 9(11), 843–847
- Hermans C., Hammond, J.P., White, P.J., Verbruggen, N. (2006). How do plants respond to nutrient shortage by biomass allocation? *Trends Plant Science* 11 (12), 610–617.
- Hoffmann, W.A., Franco, A.C., Moreira, M.Z., Haridasan, M. (2005). Specific leaf area explains differences in leaf traits between congeneric savanna and forest trees. Functional Ecology 19, 932–940.
- Högberg, P. and Nylund, J.E. (1981). Ectomycorrhizae in coastal miombo woodland of Tanzania. *Plant and Soil* 63, 283-289.
- Högberg, P. (1982). Mycorrhizal associations in some woodland and forest trees and shrubs in Tanzania. *New Phytologist* 92, 407-415.

- Högberg, P. and Piearce, G.D. (1986). Mycorrhizas in Zambian trees in relation to host taxonomy, vegetation type and successional pattern. *Journal of Ecology* 74 (3), 775-785.
- Houlton, B.Z., Wang, Y.P., Vitousek, P.M., Field, C.B. (2008). A unifying framework for dinitrogen fixation in the terrestrial biosphere. *Nature* 454, 327–330.
- Hugouvieux, V., Murata, Y., Young, J.J., Kwak, J.M., Mackesy, D.Z., Schroeder, J.I. (2002). Localization, ion channel regulation, and genetic interactions during abscisic acid signalling of the nuclear mRNA cap-binding protein, ABH1. *Plant Physiology* 130 (3), 1276–1287.
- Husson F, Le S, Pages J. (2010). Exploratory Multivariate Analysis by Example Using R. Chapman & Hall/CRC Press.

I

IPCC 2006. (2006). IPCC guidelines for national greenhouse gas inventories. Prepared by the National Greenhouse Gas inventories Programmc (cds H. S. Eggleston, L. Bucndia, K. Miwa, T. Ngara and K. Tanabe). Japan: IGES.

J

- Jackson, R.B., Canadell, J., Ehlinger, J.R., Mooney, H.A., Sala, O.E., Schulze, E.D. (1996). A global analysis of root distribution for terrestrial biomes. *Oecologia* 3(108), 389–411.
- Jew, E.K.K., Dougill, A. J., Sallu, S. M., O'Connell, J., Benton, T. G. (2016). Miombo woodland under threat: Consequences for tree diversity and carbon storage. *Forest Ecology and Management* 361, 144–153.
- Jones, J.A. (1990). Termites, soil fertility and carbon cycling in dry tropical Africa: a hypothesis. *Journal of Tropical Ecology* 6, 291-305.
- Josse, J., Husson, F. missMDA (2016). A Package for Handling Missing Values in Multivariate Data Analysis. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 70 (1), pp 1-31.

Κ

Kalaba, F.K., Quinn, C.H., Dougill, A.J. (2012). Carbon storage, biodiversity and species diversity composition of Miombo woodlands in recovery trajectory after charcoal production in slash and burn agriculture in Zambia's Copperbelt. University of Leeds.

- Kassambara, A., Mundt, F. (2017). Package 'factoextra'. Extract and visualize the results of multivariate data analyses, R package v.1.0.5. [WWW document] URL https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=factoextra. [accessed 23 November 2020].
- Kattge, J., Díaz, S., Lavorel, S., Prentice, I.C., Leadley, P., Bönisch, G., Garnier, E., Westoby, M., Reich, P.B., Wright, I.J., Cornelissen, J.H.C., Violle, C., Harrison, S.P., Van Bodegom, P.M., Reichstein, M., Enquist, B.J., Soudzilovskaia, N.A., Ackerly, D.D., Anand, M., Atkin, O., Bahn, M., Baker, T.R., Baldocchi, D., Bekker, R., Blanco, C.C., Blonder, B., Bond, W.J., Bradstock, R., Bunker, D.E., Casanoves, F., Cavender-Bares, J., Chambers, J.Q., Chapin, F.S., Chave, J., Coomes, D., Cornwell, W.K., Craine, J.M., Dobrin, B.H., Duarte, L., Durka, W., Elser, J., Esser, G., Estiarte, M., Fagan, W.F., Fang, J., Fernández-Méndez, F., Fidelis, A., Finegan, B., Flores, O., Ford, H., Frank, D., Freschet, G.T., Fyllas, N.M., Gallagher, R. V., Green, W.A., Gutierrez, A.G., Hickler, T., Higgins, S.I., Hodgson, J.G., Jalili, A., Jansen, S., Joly, C.A., Kerkhoff, A.J., Kirkup, D., Kitajima, K., Kleyer, M., Klotz, S., Knops, J.M.H., Kramer, K., Kühn, I., Kurokawa, H., Laughlin, D., Lee, T.D., Leishman, M., Lens, F., Lenz, T., Lewis, S.L., Lloyd, J., Llusià, J., Louault, F., Ma, S., Mahecha, M.D., Manning, P., Massad, T., Medlyn, B.E., Messier, J., Moles, A.T., Müller, S.C., Nadrowski, K., Naeem, S., Niinemets, Ü., Nöllert, S., Nüske, A., Ogaya, R., Oleksyn, J., Onipchenko, V.G., Onoda, Y., Ordoñez, J., Overbeck, G., Ozinga, W.A., Patiño, S., Paula, S., Pausas, J.G., Peñuelas, J., Phillips, O.L., Pillar, V., Poorter, H., Poorter, L., Poschlod, P., Prinzing, A., Proulx, R., Rammig, A., Reinsch, S., Reu, B., Sack, L., Salgado-Negret, B., Sardans, J., Shiodera, S., Shipley, B., Siefert, A., Sosinski, E., Soussana, J.F., Swaine, E., Swenson, N., Thompson, K., Thornton, P., Waldram, M., Weiher, E., White, M., White, S., Wright, S.J., Yguel, B., Zaehle, S., Zanne, A.E., Wirth, C. (2011). TRY - a global database of plant traits. *Global Change Biology* 17, 2905–2935.
- Kattge, J., Ogle, K., Bo, G., DI, S., Lavorel, S., Madin, J., Nadrowski, K., No, S., Sartor, K., Wirth, C. (2011). A generic structure for plant trait databases. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 2 (2), 202–213.
- Keeley, J.E., Rundel, P.W. (2005). Fire and the Miocene expansion of C4 grasslands: miocene C4 grassland expansion. *Ecology Letters* 8(7), 683–690.
- Keyes, M.R., Grier, C.C. (1981). Above- and belowground net production in 40-yearold Douglas-fir stands on low and high productivity sites. *Canadian Journal of Forestry Research* 11(3), 599-605.
- King, D.A., Davies, S.J., Tan, S., Noor, N.S.M. (2006). The role of wood density and stem support costs in the growth and mortality of tropical trees. *Journal of Ecology* 94 (3), 670–680.

- King, D.A., Davies, S.J., Nur-Supardi, M.N., Tan, S. (2005). Tree growth is related to light interception and wood density in two mixed dipterocarp forests of Malaysia. *Functional Ecology* 19(3), 445–453.
- Koeuselman, W., Meuleman, A.F.M. (1996). The vegetation N:P ratio: a new tool to detect the nature of nutrient limitation. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 33 (6), 1441–1450.
- Kolbek, J. and Alves, R.J.V. (2008). Impacts of Cattle, Fire and Wind in Rocky Savannas, Southeastern Brazil. *Acta Universitatis Carolinae Environmentalica* 22, 111–130.

L

- Lamont, B.B., He, T., Pausas, J.G., (2017). African geoxyles evolved in response to fire; frost came later. African geoxyles evolved in response to fire; frost came later 31 (5), 603–617.
- Lewis, G.P., Schrire, B., Mackinder, B., Lock, M. (2016). Legumes of the World. Eds. 2005. Kew, UK: Royal Botanic Gardens.
- Lichacz, W., Hardiman, S., Buckney, R.T. (2009). Wetlands (Australia), 2009 [WWW Document]. URL ojs.library.unsw.edu.au.
- Limbu, D.K., Koirala, M. (2011). Above-ground and below-ground biomass situation of Milke-Jaljale Rangeland at different altitudinal gradient. *Our Nature* 9, 107-111.
- Linder, H.P. (2001). Plant diversity and endemism in sub-Saharan tropical Africa. *Journal of Biogeography* 28(2),169–182.
- Lindman, C.A.M. (1914). Några bidrag till frågan: buske eller träd? Särtryck sidan 231-287 i K. Vetenskapsakademiens årsbok Årg. Uppsala.
- Loehle, C. (1988). Tree life history strategies: the role of defenses. *Canadian Journal of Forestry Research* 18 (2), 209–222.
- LPWG (2017). A new subfamily classification of the Leguminosae based on a taxonomically comprehensive phylogeny: The Legume Phylogeny Working Group (LPWG). *Taxon* 66(1), 44-77.

Μ

Malmer, A. (2007). General ecological features of miombo woodlands and considerations for utilization and management. Working *Papers of the Finnish Forest Research Institute* 50, 34–42.

- Maurin, O., Davies, T.J., Burrows, J.E., Daru, B.H., Yessoufou, K., Muasya, A. M., Van der Bank, M., Bond, W.J. (2014). Savanna fire and the origins of the 'underground forests' of Africa. *New Phytologist* 204, 201–214.
- Mayaux, P., Bartholomé, E., Fritz, S., Belward, A. (2004). A new land-cover map of Africa for the year 2000. *Journal of Biogeography* 31(6), 861–877.
- McGroddy, M.E., Daufresne T., Hedin, L.O. (2004). Scaling of C:N:P stoichiometry in forests worldwide: implications for terrestrial Redfield-like ratios. *Ecology* 85 (9), 2390–2401.
- McKey, D. (1994). Legumes and nitrogen: the evolutionary ecology of a nitrogendemanding lifestyle. In: J I Sprent and D McKey (Eds). Advances in Legume Systematics 5: The Nitrogen Factor. Royal Botanic Gardens, Kew, UK. pp 211– 228.
- Mediavilla, S., Escudero, A., Heilmeier, H. (2001). Internal leaf anatomy and photosynthetic resource-use efficiency: interspecific and intraspecific comparison. *Tree Physiology* 21(4), 251–259.
- Meerts, P. (2017). Geoxylic suffrutices of African savannas: Short but remarkably similar to trees. *Journal of Tropical Ecology* 33(4), 295–298.
- Meerts, P.J., Hasson, M. (2016). Arbres et arbustes du Haut-Katanga. National Botanic Garden of Belgium.
- Millenium Ecosystem Assessment. (2005). Ecosystems and human well-being: general synthesis. Washington, DC: Island Press.
- Miller, C. (2000). Understanding the Carbon-Nitrogen Ratio. A voice for Eco-Agriculture 30(4), 20-21.
- Miller, G.L. (1999). Potassium application reduces calcium and magnesium levels in bermudagrass leaf tissue and soil. *HortScience* 34(2), 65–268.
- Minden, V., Kleyer M. (2014). Internal and external regulation of plant organ stoichiometry. *Plant Biology* 16(5), 897-907.
- Miranda, S.C., Bustamante, M., Palace, M., Hagen, S., Keller, M., Ferreira, L.G. (2014). Regional Variations in biomass distribution in Brazilian savanna woodland. *Biotropica* 46, 125-138.
- Mokany, K., Raison, R.J., Prokushkin, A.S. (2006). Critical analysis of root:shoot ratios in terrestrial biomes. *Global Changes Biology* 1(12), 84–96.

- Moles, A.T. (2018). Being John Harper: Using evolutionary ideas to improve understanding of global patterns in plant traits. *Journal of Ecology* 106 (1) 1–18.
- Morris, B. (1995). Woodland and village: reflections on the 'animal estate' in rural Malawi. Journal of the Royal Anthropological Institute (N.S.) 1, 301-315.
- Muller, J. (2014). Dumas or Kjeldahl for Reference Analysis? Comparison and Considerations for Nitrogen/Protein Analysis of Food and Feed. Fossanalytics, Denmark, pp. 1–5.

Ν

- Nabuurs, G.J., Ravindranath, N.H., Paustian, K., Freibauer, A., Hohenstein, W., Makundi, W. (2003). Forest land, in: Penman, J., Gytarsky, M., Hiraishi, T., Krug, T., Kruger, D., Pipatti, R., Buendia, L., Miwa, K., Ngara, T., Tanabe, K., Wagner, F. (Eds.), Good Practice Guidance for Land-use, Land-use Change and Forestry. Institute for Global Environmental Strategies, Kanagawa.
- Nielsen, S.L., Enriquez, S., Duarte, C.M., Sand-Jensen, K. (1996). Scaling Maximum Growth Rates Across Photosynthetic Organisms. *Functional Ecology* 10, 167– 175.
- Nieto-Quintano, P., Edward, T.A.M., Rolando, O., Marcele, A.B.M., Tim, R., Casey, M.R. (2018). The mesic savannas of the Bateke Plateau: carbon stocks and floristic composition. *Biotropica* 0 (0), 1-13.
- Noodén, L. (1988). The phenomena of senescence and aging, in: Noodén, D., Leopold, A.C. (Eds.), Senescence and Aging in Plants. Academic Press, London, San Diego, CA, pp. 1–50.

0

Osazuwa-Peters, O., Zanne, A.E. (2011). Wood Density Protocol. http://prometheuswiki.publish.csiro.au/tiki-dex.php?page= Wood+density+protocol [accessed 5 March 2014].

Ρ

- Pagani, M., Freeman, K.H., Arthur, M.A. (1999). Late Miocene atmospheric CO2 concentrations and the expansion of C4 grasses. *Science* 285(5429), 876–879
- Parolin, P. (2008). Submerged in darkness: adaptations to prolonged submergence by woody species of the Amazonian flodplains. *Annals of Botany* 103(2), 359– 376.

- Parr, C.L., Lehmann, C.E.R., Bond, W.J. et al. (2014). Tropical grassy biomes: misunderstood, neglected, and under threat. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 29(4), 205–213.
- Pausas, J.G., Lamont, B.B., Paula, S., Appezzato-da-Glória, B., Fidelis, A. (2018). Unearthing belowground bud banks in fire-prone ecosystems. *New Phytologist* 217, 1435–1448.
- Peoples, T.R., Koch, D. (1979). Role of potassium in carbon dioxide assimilation in Medicago sativa L. *Plant Physiology* 63(5), 878–881.
- Pérez-Harguindeguy, N., Diaz, S., Garnier, E., Lavorel, S., Poorter, H., Jaureguiberry, P., Bret-Harte, M.S.S., Cornwell, W.K.K., Craine, J.M.M., Gurvich, D.E.E., Urcelay, C., Veneklaas, E.J.J., Reich, P.B.B., Poorter, L., Wright, I.J.J., Etc., Ray, P., Etc., Díaz, S., Lavorel, S., Poorter, H., Jaureguiberry, P., Bret-Harte, M.S.S., Cornwell, W.K.K., Craine, J.M.M., Gurvich, D.E.E., Urcelay, C., Veneklaas, E.J.J., Reich, P.B.B., Poorter, L., Wright, I.J.J., Ray, P., Enrico, L., Pausas, J.G., Vos, A.C. de, Buchmann, N., Funes, G., Quétier, F., Hodgson, J.G., Thompson, K., Morgan, H.D., Steege, H. ter, Heijden, M.G.A. van der, Sack, L., Blonder, B., Poschlod, P., Vaieretti, M. V., Conti, G., Staver, A.C., Aquino, S., Cornelissen, J.H.C. (2013). New Handbook for standardized measurment of plant functional traits worldwide. *Australian Journal of Botany* 61, 167–234.
- Poorter, H. (1990). Interspecific variation in relative growth rate: on ecological causes and physiological consequences. In H. Lambers, M.L. Cambridge, H. Konings, T.L. Pons (Eds). 'Causes and Consequences of variation in growth rate and productivity of higher plants'. S.P.B. Academic Publishers: The Hague, The Netherlands pp 45-68.
- Poorter, L., Bongers, F. (2006). Leaf traits are good predictiors of plant performance across 53 rain forest species. *Ecology* 87, 1733–1743.
- Pröpper, M., Falk, T., Domptail, S.E., Zoch, L.M., Kowalski, B. (2013). Partly subsistence household economies and modern consumerism in the Namibia Kavango: Assets, income, expenditure and socio-economic stratification. *Biodiversity & Ecology*.
- Pröpper, M., Gröngröft, A., Finckh, M. et al. (2015). The future Okavango: fidings, scenarios and recommendations for action: research project fial synthesis report 2010–2015. University of Hamburg-Biocentre Klein Flottbek, pp 53–129.

- Ravindranath, N.H., Ostwald, M. (2008). Carbon Inventory Methods: Handbook for Greenhouse Gas Inventory, Carbon Mitigation and Roundwood Production Projects. Springer.
- Reich, P.B., Walters, M.B., Ellsworth, D.S. (1997). From tropics to tundra: Global convergence in plant functioning. *Procidings of the National Academy of Sciences* 94 (25), 13730–13734.
- Reich, P.B., Wright, I.J., Cavender-Bares, J., Craine, J.M., Oleksyn, J., Westoby, M., Walters, M.B. (2003). The Evolution of Plant Functional Variation: Traits, Spectra, and Strategies. *International Journal of Plant Sciences* 164, S143– S164.
- Reich, P.B., Walters, M., Ellsworth, D. (1992). Leaf life-span in relation to leaf, plant and stand characteristics among diverse ecosystems. *Ecology Monographs* 62 (3), 365–392.
- Revermann, R., Finckh, M. (2013). Cusseque Microclimate. *Biodiversity & Ecology* 5, 47–50.
- Revermann, R., Gonçalves, F.M., Gomes, A.L., Finckh, M. (2013). Cusseque Vegetation. *Biodiversity & Ecology* 5, 59–63.
- Revermann, R., Gomes, A.L., Gonçalves, F.M., Wallenfang, J., Hoche, T., Jürgens, N., Finckh, M. (2016). Vegetation Database of the Okavango Basin. *Phytocoenologia* 46 (1): 103-104.
- Revermann, R., Gonçalves, F.M., Gomes, A.L., Finckh, M. (2017). Woody species of the miombo woodlands and geoxylic grasslands of the Cusseque area, suth-central Angola. *Check List* 13 (1): 2030.
- Revermann, R., Oldeland, J., Gonçalves, F.M., Luther-Mosebach, J., Gomes, A.L., Jürgens, N., Finckh, M. (2018). Dry tropical forests and woodlands of the Cubango Basin in southern Africa - first classification and assessment of their woody species diversity. *Phytocoenologia* 48, 23–50.
- Ribeiro, N.S., Syampungani, S., Matakala, N.M., Nangoma, D. Ribeiro-Barros, A.I. (2015). Miombo woodlands research toward the sustainable use of ecosystem services in Southern Africa. *Intech.*
- Rietz, G.E. du (1931). Life-forms of terrestrial flowering plants. *Acta Phytogeographica Suecica* 3, 1–95.
- Robertson, F. (2005). Ecological processes within the four corners area. Occasional Publications in Biodiversity, Bulawayo. www.biodiversityfoundation.org >documentos>BFA.

- Roderick, M.L. (2000). On the measurement of growth with applications to the modelling and analysis of plant growth. *Functional Ecology* 14, 244–251.
- Ronquim, C.C. (2010). Conceitos de fertilidade do solo e manejo adequado para as regiões tropicais. *Boletim de Pesquisa e Desenvolvimento* 8, 26.
- Ryan, C.M., Williams, M., Grace, J. (2010). Above- and belowground carbon stocks in a Miombo wooodland landscape of Mozambique. *Biotropica* 43, 423–432.
- Ryan, C.M., Pritchard, R., McNicol, I., Owen, M., Fisher, J.A., Lehmann, C. (2016). Ecosystem services from southern African woodlands and their future under global changes. *Philosophical Transactions of Royal Society B* 371:20150312.
- Ryan, C.M., Williams, M., Grace, J., Woollen, E., Lehmann, C.E.R. (2017). Pre-rain green-up is ubiquitous across southern tropical Africa: implications for temporal niche separation and model representation. *New Phytologist* 213, 625–633.

S

- Sakai, A., Larcher, W. (2012). Frost survival of plants: responses and adaptation to freezing stress, vol 62. Springer, New York, pp 138–173.
- Sanfilippo, M. (2014). Trinta árvores e arbustos do miombo angolano. Guia de campo para idenificação. Cooperazione per lo Sviluppo dei Paesi Emergenti, Firenzi, Italy.
- Sanford, R.L.J., Cuevas, E. (1996). Root growth and rhizosphere interactions in tropical forests, in: Mulkey, S.S., Chazdon, R.L., Smith, A.P. (Eds.), Tropical Forest Plant Ecophysiology. Chapman and Hall, New York, pp. 268–300.
- Sanguino Mostajo, G.A. (2015). Wood anatomy and adaptation strategies of suffrutescent shrubs in south-central Angola. University of Hamburg.
- Sankaran, M., Ratnam, J., Hanan, N.P. (2004). Tree-grass coexistence in savannas revisited– insights from an examination of assumptions and mechanisms invoked in existing models. *Ecology Letters* 7(6), 480–490.
- Sankaran, M., Hanan, N.P., Scholes, R.J. et al. (2005). Determinants of woody cover in African savannas. *Nature* 438(7069), 846–849.
- Santos, R.M. dos, (1967). Plantas Úteis de Angola, contribuição iconográfica. Instituto de Investigação Científica de Angola, Luanda pp. 1-72.
- Schimper, A.F.W. (1898) Pflanzen- Geographie auf physiologischer Grundlage. Jena.

- Schlesinger, W.H. (1997). Biogeochemistry, an analysis of global change. Academic Press, New York.
- Schneibel, A., Stellmes, M., Frantz, D. et al. (2013). Cusseque earth observation. *Biodiversity & Ecology* 5, 55–57.
- Scholander, P.F., Hammel, H.T., Bradstreet, E.D., Hemmingsen, E.A. (1965). Sap pressure in vascular plants. *Science* 148 (3668), 339–346.
- Schulze, E.D., Kelliher, F.M., Korner, C., Lloyd, J., Leuning, R. (1994). Relationships among Maximum Stomatal Conductance, Ecosystem Surface Conductance, Carbon Assimilation Rate, and Plant Nitrogen Nutrition: A Global Ecology Scaling Exercise. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 25 (1), 629–662.
- Schwartzkopf, C. (1972). Potassium, Calcium, Magnesium How They Relate to Plant Growth. Usga Green Sect. Rec.
- Seyed, L.Y.S., Motafakkerazad, R., Hossain, M.M., Rahman, I.M. (2012). Water Stress in Plants: Causes, Effects and Responses, in: Rahman, I.M.M. (Ed.), *Water Stress.* INTECH.
- Shaw, H.K. (1947). The vegetation of Angola. Journal of Ecology 1/2, 23–48.
- Shirima, D.D., Munishi, P.K.T., Lewis, S.L., Burgess, N.D., Marshall, A.R., A., B., Swetnam, R.D., Zahabu, E.M. (2011). Carbon storage, structure and composition of miombo woodlands in Tanzania's Eastern Arc Mountains. *African Journal of Ecology* 49 (3), 332–342.
- Simon, M.F., Grether, R., de Queiroz, L.P., Skema, C., Pennington, R.T., Hughes, C.E. (2009). Recent assembly of the Cerrado, a neotropical plant diversity hotspot, by in situ evolution of adaptations to fire. *PNAS* 106: 20359–23064.
- Simon, M.F., Pennington, T. (2012). Evidence for adaptation to fire regimes in the tropical savannas of the Brazilian Cerrado. *Int. J. Plant Sci.* 6, 711–723.
- Singh, S., Verma, A. (2020). Plant Functional Traits in Tropical Dry Forests. A Review. In Handbook of Research on the Conservation and Restoration of Tropical Dry Forests, (Ed.) Bhadouria, R; Tripathi S; Srivastava P; and Singh P. pp.66-88. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-7998-0014-9.ch004.
- Smart, S.M, Glanville, H.C., Blanes, M.C., Mercado, L.M., Emmett, B., Jones, D., Cosby Jr, B., Marrs, R., Butler, A., Marshall, M., Reinsch, S., Herrero-Jáuregui, C., Hudgson, J. (2017). Leaf Dry Matter Content is better at predicting aboveground Net Primary Production than Specific Leaf Area. *Functional Ecology* 31 (6) https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.12832

- Staver, A.C., Archibald, S., Levin, S.A. (2011). The global extent and determinants of savanna and forest as alternative biome states. *Science* 334(6053):230–232.
- Steenkamp, Y., Kellerman, M.J., Wyk, A.E. (2001). Fire, frost, waterlogged soil or something else: what selected for the geoxylic suffrutex growth form in Africa? *PlantLife* 25, 4–6.
- Stellmes, M., Frantz, D., Finckh, M., Revermann, R. (2013 a). Okavango Basin -Earth Observation.–In: Oldeland, J., Erb, C., Finckh, M., Jürgens, N. [Eds.]: Environmental Assessments in the Okavango Region. *Biodiversity & Ecology* 5: 23-27.
- Stellmes, M., Frantz, D., Finckh, M., Revermann, R., Röder, A., Hill, J. (2013 b). Fire frequency, fire seasonality and fire intensity within the Okavango region derived from MODIS fire products. *Biodiversity & Ecology* 5, 351–362.
- Syampungani, S., Chirwa, P.W., Akinnifesi, F.K., Sileshi, G., Ajayi, O.C. (2009). The miombo woodlands at the cross roads: potential threats, sustainable livelihoods, policy gaps and challenges. *Natural Resources Forum* 33 (2), 150–159.

Т

- Tiessen, H. (2008). Phosphorus in the global environment. In: P.J. White, J.P. Hammond (eds.) The Ecophysiology of Plant-Phosphorus Interactions, Springer.
- Timberlake, J., Chidumayo, E. (2011). Miombo Ecoregion, Vision Report. Occasional Publications in Biodiversity.
- Timberlake, J.R. (1995). Colophospermum mopane: Annotated bibliography and review. Zimbabwe Bulletin of Forestry Research.
- Trapnell, C.G., Friend, M.T., Chamberlain, G.T., Birch, H.F. (1976). The effect of fire and termites on a Zambian woodland soil. *Journal of Ecology* 64(2), 577-588.
- Tůma, J., Skalický, M., Tůmová, L., Bláhová, P., Rosůlková, M. (2004). Potassium, magnesium and calcium content in individual parts of Phaseolus vulgaris L. plant as related to potassium and magnesium nutrition. *Plant Soil Environment* 50 (1), 18–26.
- Tuohy, J.M., Prior, J.A.B., Stewart, G.R. (1991). Photosynthesis in relation to leaf nitrogen and phosphorus content in Zimbabwean trees. *Oecologia* 88, 378-382.
- Tyson, P.D., Preston-Whyte, R.A. (2000). Weather and climate of Southern Africa, 2nd edn. Oxford University Press Southern Africa, Cape Town Chapter 10–12.

U

Uchida, R. (2000). Recommended Plant Tissue Nutrient Levels for Some Vegetable, Fruit, and Ornamental Foliage and Flowering Plants in Hawaii. Plant Nutrient Management in Hawaii's Soils, Approaches for Tropical and Subtropical Agriculture. In J. A. Silva and R. Uchida, eds. College of Tropical Agriculture and Human Resources, University of Hawaii at Manoa, pp. 57–65.

V

- Veldman, J.W., Aleman, J.C., Alvarado, S.T., Anderson, T.M., Archibald, S., Bond, W.J., Boutton, T.W., Buchmann, N., Buisson, E., Canadell, J.G., Dechoum, M.S., Diaz-Toribio, M.H., Durigan, G., Ewel, J.J., Fernandes, G.W., Fidelis, A., Fleischman, F., Good, S.P., Griffith, D.M., Hermann J.-M., Hoffmann, W.A., Le Stradic, S., Lehmann, C.E.R., Mahy, G., Nerlekar, A.N., Nippert, J.B., Noss, R.F., Osborne, C.P., Overbeck, G.E., Parr, C.L., Pausas, J.G., Pennington, R.T., Perring, M.P., Putz, F.E., Ratnam, J., Sankaran, M., Schmidt, I.B., Schmitt, C.B., Fernando, A.O., Silveira, F.A.O., Staver, A.C., Stevens, N., Still, C.J., Strömberg, C.A.E., Temperton, V.M., Varner, J.M., Zaloumis, N.P. (2019). Comment on "The global tree restoration potential". *Science* doi: 10.1126/science.aay7976
- Vendramini, F., Díaz, S., Gurvich, D.E., Wilson, P.J., Thompson, K., Hodgson, J.G. (2002). Leaf traits as indicators of resource-use strategy in floras with succulent species. *New Phytologist* 154 (1), 147-157.
- Vilhalva, D.A.A., Appezzato-da-Gloria, B. (2006). Morfo-anatomia do sistema subterrâneo de *Calea verticillata* (Klatt) Pruski e *Isostigma megapotamicum* (Spreng.) Sherff Asteraceae. *Revista Brasileira de Botânica* 26 (1): 39-47.
- Vinya, R., Malhi, Y., Brown, N., Fisher, J.B. (2012). Functional coordination between branch hydraulic properties and leaf functional traits in miombo woodlands: Implications for water stress management and species habitat preference. *Acta Physiologiae Plantarum* 34 (5), 1701–1710.
- Violle, C., Navas, M., Vile, D., Kazakou, E., Fortunel, C., Hummel, I., Garnier, E. (2007). Let the Concept of Trait be Functional ! *Oikos* 116 (5), 882–892.
- Vitousek, P.M., Sanford Jr, R.L. (1986). Nutrient Cycling in Moist Tropical Forest. Annual Review of Ecology. *Evolution and Systematics* 17(1), 137-167.

Vogt, K.A., Vogt, D.J., Brown, S., Tilley, J.P., Edmonds, R.L., Silver, W.L., Siccama, T.G. (1995). Dynamics of forest floor and soil organic matter accumulation in

boreal, temperate, and tropical forests, in: Lal, R., Kimble, J., Levine, E., Stewart, B.A. (Eds.), *Soil Management and Greenhouse* Effect. CRC Lewis Publishers, pp. 159–178.

W

- Waite, M., Sack, L. (2010). How does moss photosynthesis relate to leaf and canopy structure? Trait relationships for 10 Hawaiian species of contrasting light habitats. *New Phytologist* 185 (1), 156–172.
- Waring, R.H., Schlesinger, W.H. (1985). Forest ecosystems: concepts and management. Academic Press, Orlando.
- Warming, E. (1908). Lagoa Santa. Contribuição para a geographia phitobiologica. Imprensa Official do Estado de Minas Geraes, Belo Horizonte.
- Weber, T. (2013). Cusseque climate. *Biodiversity & Ecology* 5, 45–46.
- Westoby, M., Falster, D.S., Moles, A.T., Vesk, P.A., Wright, I.J. (2002). Plant Ecological Strategies: Some Leading Dimensions of Variation Between Species. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics* 33 (1), 125–159.
- Wetzel, R.G., Howe, M.J. (1999). High production in a herbaceous perennial plant achieved by continuous growth and synchronized population dynamics. *Aquatic Botany* 64(2), 111–129.
- White, F. (1976). The underground forests of Africa : a preliminary review. *Gard. Bull. Singapore* 29, 57–71.
- White, P.J., Broadley, M.R. (2003). Calcium in plants. *Annals of Botany* 92 (4), 487-511.
- White, F. (1983). The Vegetation of Africa: a descriptive memoir to accompany the UNESCO/AETFAT/UNSO vegetation map. UNESCO, Paris.
- Williams, M., Ryan, C.M., Rees, R.M., Sambane, E., Femando, J., Grace, J. (2008). Carbon sequestration and biodiversity of re-growing miombo woodlands in Mozambique. *Forest Ecology and Management* 254 (2), 145–155.
- Wilson, P.J., Thompson, K., Hodgson, J.G. (1999). Specific leaf area and leaf dry matter contentasalternativepredictors of plantstrategies. *New Phytologist* 143, 155–162.

Ζ

Zigelski, P., Roudolph, B., Oldeland, J., Lages, F., Jürgens, N., Finckh, M. (2019). The tough, the wet and the hidden: Evolutionary strategies of a polyploid tropical tree in a changing environment. *Perspectives in Plant Ecology Evolution and Systematics* 38, 1-12.



Publications

- **Gomes, A.L.** (2009). Vegetação da parte angolana da Bacia Hidrográfica do rio Cubango, OKACOM.
- Gomes, A.L., Revermann, R., Gonçalves, F.M.P., Lages, F., Aidar, M.P.M., Finckh,
 M. & Jüergens, N. (2019). Tree or not a tree: Differences in plant
 functional traits among geoxyles and closely related tree species. South
 African Journal of Botany 127, 176-184.
- Gomes, A.L., Revermann, R., Meller, P., Gonçalves, F.M.P., Aidar, M.P.M., Lages,
 F., Finckh, M. (2021). Functional traits and symbiotic associations of geoxyles and trees explain the dominance of detarioid legumes in miombo ecosystems. New Phytologist. doi: 10.1111.nph.17168
- Darbyshire, I., Goyder, D. Crawford, F. & **Gomes, A. L.** (2011). Report on the rapid botanical survey of the lagoa Carumbo region, Lunda Norte prov., Angola, Ministério do Ambiente, Luanda.
- Gonçalves, F.M.P., Revermann, R., Gomes, A.L. Aidar, M.P.M., Finckh, M. & Jürgens, N. (2016). Tree species diversity and composition of Miombo woodlands in suth-central Angola, a chronosequence of forest recovery after shifting cultivation. *International Journal of Forestry Research*, 6202093. doi:10.1155/2017/6202093
- Gonçalves, F.M.P., Revermann, R., Cachissapa, M.J., Gomes, A.L., Aidar, M.P.M. (2018). Species diversity, population structure and regeneration of woody species in fallows and mature stands of tropical woodlands of Southeast Angola. *Journal of Forestry Research* 29 (6), 1569–1579.
- Revermann, R., **Gomes, A.L.**, Gonçalves, F.M.P., Lages, F. & Finckh, M. (2013). Cusseque-Vegetation. *Biodiversity and Ecology* 5, 59-63.

- Revermann, R., Gomes, A.L., Gonçalves, F.M.P., Wallenfang, J., Hoche, T., Jürgens, N. & Finckh, M. (2016). Vegetation database of the Okavango Basin. *Phytocoenologia* 46 (1), 103-104.
- Revermann, R., Oldeland, J., Gonçalves, F.M.P., Luther-Mosebach, J., Gomes, A.L. et al. (2018) Dry Tropical Forests of the Cubango basin in Southern Africa-a first classification and assessment of their woody species diversity. *Phytocoenologia* 48 (1), 23–50.
- Reverman, R., Gonçalves, F.M.P., Gomes, A.L. & Finckh, M. (2017). Woody species of the miombo woodlands and geoxylic grasslands of the Cusseque area, south-central Angola. *Checklist* 13 (1), 1-10.
- Zigelski, P., Gomes, A.L. & Finckh, M. (2019). Suffrutex Dominated Ecosystem. In: Huntley, B.J., Russo, V., Lages, F. & Ferrand, N. (eds.) Biodiversity of Angola; Science and Conservation: A Modern Synthesis, 109-121. Springer.

Co-authors affiliations

Aidar, Marcos Pereira Marinho: Institute of Botany, Av. Miguel Stéfano 3687, São Paulo, SP. Brazil. maidar@uol.com.br

Finckh, Manfred: University of Hamburg, Institute for Plant Science and Microbiology, Ohnhorststr.18, 22609 Hamburg, Germany. manfred.finckh@uni-hamburg.de

Gonçalves, Francisco Maiato Pedro: Herbarium of Lubango, ISCED-Huíla, rua Sarmento Rodrigues 230, Lubango, Angola. francisco.maiato@gmail.com

Sanguino-Mostajo, Graciela A: University of Hamburg, Institute for Plant Science and Microbiology, Ohnhorststr.18, 22609 Hamburg, Germany. graciela.sanguino@gmail.com

Jürgens, Norbert: University of Hamburg, Institute for Plant Science and Microbiology, Ohnhorststr.18, 22609 Hamburg, Germany. Norbert.juergens@t-online.de

Lages, Fernanda Maria Pires Oliveira: Herbário do Lubango, ISCED Huíla, Rua Sarmento Rodrigues, C.P.230 Lubango, Angola. f_lages@yahoo.com.br

Meller, Paulina: University of Hamburg, Institute for Plant Science and Microbiology, Ohnhorststr.18, 22609 Hamburg, Germany. Paulina.meller@gmx.de

Revermann, Rasmus: University of Hamburg, Institute for Plant Science and Microbiology, Ohnhorststr.18, 22609 Hamburg, Germany. rasmus.revermann@googlemail.com

Author contributions

Chapter 1: This chapter was written fully by myself and adapted from the initial project proposal, presented for a doctoral degree at the Department of Biology, Institute of Plant Science and Microbiology of the University of Hamburg.

Chapter 2: This chapter was conceived and written jointly by PZ, AG and MF looking at the past and recent exploration of the geoxyle flora and vegetation of Angola. The manuscript reviews historic steps of the exploration of Angola's geoxyle flora and recent research results. This chapter is part of the book "Biodiversity of Angola, Science & Conservation: A modern synthesis published recently by Springer.

Chapter 3: The research was conceived by AG, and supervised by MA and MF. All authors contributed to field work for this paper, except FL who assured logistical and bureaucratic support for the research. AG drafted the manuscript and performed the statistical analyses supervised by RR and MF. RR provided the map of the study area. All co-authors contributed to the draft of the manuscript and the revision process.

Chapter 4: Data for this paper were gathered during field work in the Cusseque area by AG, supported by FG and MA. Methods and scope of the paper were developed jointly among all co-authors. AG drafted the manuscript and did the data analyses. RR, MF and Norbert Juergens contributed additional analyses and comments improving the paper. FL assured logistical and bureaucratic support for the research.

Chapter 5: The research was designed by AG with supervision of MA. Field work was carried out by AG together with FG, MA, RR and MF. Laboratory analyses were carried out by PM. FL assured logistical and bureaucratic support for the research. Data analyses and interpretation of results were done by AG with cooperation by PM, RR, MA and MF. The manuscript was drafted by AG with contributions by PM and MF. All co-authors commented on the final draft.

Chapter 6: This chapter was entirely written by AG synthetising the most important findings comprised by the thesis. In these papers I had significant contributions in the interpretation of the results and in the writing of manuscripts parts.

List of photographs

- **Page viii:** *Brachystegia russelliae* is the dominant geoxyle species in the Cusseque area (in aerial view). The plant has been excavated to show its complex woody rizhomes. (Photo A. Gomes)
- **Page 10:** Multicoloured leaves of geoxyles covering the landscape in the Sovi valley shortly after fire in mid-dry season. (Photo A. Gomes)
- Page 23: Kids in Cusseque village collecting fruits of *Landolphia gossweileri* in *Parinari* geoxylic grassland (January, 2016). (Photo A. Gomes)
- **Page 37:** The complex underground woody rizhome of *Brachystegia russelliae*. (Photo A. Gomes)
- **Page 59:** Flowers of *Diospyros chamaethamnus* a geoxyle present in the study area. (Photo F. Gonçalves)
- Page 81: Scenic view of Cahololo village at the study area (Photo A. Gomes).
- Page 99: Geoxyle grasslands in the Cusseque area at the beginning in the dry season. Most grasses and aerial shoots of geoxyles are drying. (Photo A. Gomes)
- Page 105: Fire on geoxyle grassland close to the road in July 2013. (Photo A. Gomes)
- Page 127: Drying of samples for woody density determination. (Photo A. Gomes)

List of tables

Table 1 : List of plant families with geoxyles in the Zambezian phytochorion
Table 2: Habitat preferences and morphological description of selected geoxyle species
Table 3: One-way ANOVA comparing mean soil properties in two types of grassland
Table 4 : global compilation of data on BGB for different vegetation types
Table 5: Results of a two-way ANOVA of all plant traits with the factors life
form, genera and the interaction term of both69
Table 6: Inter-pair trait variation based on Tukey LSD pairwise comparison
Table 7: Two-Way ANOVA of LWP (bar) comparing two life form (geoxyles
and trees)74
Table 8: Mean and standard error of all Plant Functional Traits, including
results of One-Way ANOVA between geoxyles and trees and within each
group91
Table 9: One-way ANOVA comparing Detarioideae (Det) and non-
Detarioideae (n-Det) legume species94

List of figures

Figure 1: Underground woody rhizome of Brachystegia russelliae contrasting with the poorly developed aerial shoots. 13
Figure 2: Six pairs of geoxyles and co-generic trees or shrubs which occur together in close distance
Figure 3: Some of the edible fruits from geoxyles of the Chitembo study area
Figure 4: Map of The Future Okavango Research Area (FORA) in southern Africa
Figure 5. Common Angolan geoxyle species.
Figure 6. Typical geoxyle grassland of Angola
Figure 7: The research site Chitembo in the upper Cubango catchment41
Figure 8 : Sampling design of BGB within a 1000 m ² plot subdivided in ten 100 m ² subplots containing three soil pits
Figure 9 : Annual phenology of <i>Brachystegia</i> - (A) and <i>Parinari</i> - (B) grasslands in the Cusseque study site on the Angolan central plateau46
Figure 10 : The six geoxyle species discussed in the text, four of them with top-soil removed to show the complex woody rhizome belowground49
Figure 11: Box-whisker plots showing the range of BGB in Brachystegiarusselliae- and Parinari capensis-grasslands)
Figure 12 : Mean monthly number of fires per plot over the 10 year period from 2010 to 2019 for <i>Parinari capensis</i> - and <i>Brachystegia russelliae</i> -grasslands in the study area

Figure 13: Location of the study area in Chitembo Municipality on the Angolan Central Plateau. 63
Figure 14 : PCA showing the relationship among species, plant traits and life form
Figure 15: Boxplots depicting the mean values of traits for pairs of geoxyles and trees for the 6 genera. 73
Figure 16: Location of the research site Chitembo
Figure 17 : Principal component analysis (PCA) showing correlation of traits and species dispersion in relation to life form, belonging to Fabaceae and symbiotic status
Figure 18 : Plant functional traits (PFT) that differ significantly between geoxyles and trees with regard to lineage (Fabaceae (Fab) / non-Fabaceae (non-Fab)
Figure 19 : Plant functional traits (PFT) that differ significantly between geoxyles and trees with regard to symbiotic type (Ectomycorrhiza (ECM) / non-Ectomycorrhiza (non-EMC))
List of supporting information

Table S1: Plots location with biomass in g/0.25 m ² , inferred in ton/ha.
Vegetation type: bg- Brachystegia grassland; pg- Parinari grassland141
Table S2 : Univariate statistics of BGB in two types of geoxylic grasslands142
Table S3 : Soil characteristics of the <i>Brachystegia</i> grassland143
Table S4 : Soil characteristics of the Parinari grassland. 145
Table S5 : One-way ANOVA comparing Detarioideae (Det) and non-Detarioideae (n-Det) species
Table S6 : Characterization of species pair (geoxylic versus trees) closelyrelated used to compare Plant Functional Traits.147
Table S7 : Mean values of plant traits for all species refered in chapter 2149
Table S8: PCA eigenvalue and % of variation explained by each PC in chapter 2.
Table S9 : One-way ANOVA showing traits variation in ectomycorrhizal(ECM) and non ectomicorrhizal (non-ECM) species.150
Table S10: General data of PFT for geoxyles151
Table S11: General data of PFT for trees. 152

Dedication

This work is dedicated to my parents, Jacinto Gomes and Emília Luís Bambi, to my wife Ruth da Conceição Job Cahengue Gomes, to our children Cremilda, Ester, Edgar, Rusândio and Tuwizana for their unconditional love, support and patience during the long periods of my absence, sometimes without any communication.

Acknowledgements

Firstly I thank God for the gift of life, and all those who gave their support to make this project possible. I especially thank Prof. Dr. Norbert Jürgens, Senior Lecturer at the Department of Biodiversity, Ecology and Evolution of Plants (BEE) of Institute for Plant Science and Microbiology for supervision and scientific guidance. Dr. Manfred Finckh at BEE, and Dr. Marcos Pereira Marinho Aidar at Institute of Botany, São Paulo, Brazil for their support with field methods and co-supervision of my work. I also thank Dra Fernanda Maria Pires Oliveira Lages, Head of the Herbarium of Lubango (LUBA) for all the support I have received from her. I thank the local communities of the study area of Cusseque (Chitembo, Bié) and the traditional authorities for their hospitality and field guides for their support. I thank Dr. David Goyder at Kew Herbarium for his help in the identification of the collected plants and for his support by language proofreading of two papers comprising this thesis. Many thanks to Dr. Suzaneth Nunes da Costa, former Director of Science at the Faculty of Agostinho Neto University and her staff for their support. Dr. Filomena Mateus, Chief of Department of Biology and all colleagues, especially Dr. Elissaveta Lutchanka, Dr. Manuel Vangajala, Dr. Ihangika Tchitchi, Dr. Lueji Pestana, Dr. Francisca Monteiro, Dr. Raquel Firmino, Dr. Miguel Morais, Dr. Samuel Cictorino, Dr. Lueji Pestana for their supporte and encouragement. The working group at LUBA Herbarium and BEE at University of Hamburg, particularly Dr. Rasmus Revermann and Dr. Jens Oldeland for their contributions and valuable comments on the published papers and Paulina Meller for her support during laboratory analyses. I also thank Dr. Ingo Homburg for his friendship, and for all the logistical support given in Angola and Germany during the project implementation, Dra Ute Schmiedel and her husband Till Krause for their lovely friendship and hospitality, Dra Susanne Stirn and Dra Laura Schmidt for showing me around during nice walks to wonderful places of Hamburg. I thank Priscilla Sichone, Kathrin Schwarz; Naghmeh Gholami and many others for their friendship and all the good moments we shared while in Hamburg. Thanks.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

щ				vegetation	Bioma	ass
#	Latitude	Longitude	Altitude	type	g/0.25m ²	ton/ha
27001	13.70305°	17.06560°	1540	bg	1430	57.2
27002	13.70375°	17.06529°	1471	bg	1000	40
27003	13.68027°	16.99178°	1442	bg	2030	81.2
27004	13.67840°	16.98407°	1547	bg	1350	54
27007	13.70657°	17.06010°	1540	bg	2380	95.2
27008	13.65637°	17.01741°	1515	bg	560	22.4
27009	13.66040°	17.01403°	1562	bg	980	39.2
27012	13.69826°	17.08528°	1451	bg	970	38.8
27013	13.68868°	17.08887°	1522	bg	1470	58.8
27014	13.70506°	17.06548°	1397	bg	1440	57.6
27015	13.70769°	17.06585°	1543	bg	1250	50
27016	13.69880°	17.04457°	1486	bg	1890	75.6
27017	13.70598°	17.04267°	1554	bg	1230	49.2
27018	13.70266°	17.07129°	1470	bg	1120	44.8
HP01	13.70314°	17.07074°	1530	bg	417	16.68
HP02	13.70254°	17.06912°	1543	bg	1237	49.48
HP03	13.70397°	17.06878°	1534	bg	1127	45.08
HP04	13.70250°	17.06835°	1553	bg	114	4.56
HP05	13.70433°	17.06794°	1524	bg	641	25.64
HP06	13.70349°	17.06727°	1527	bg	682	27.28
HP07	13.70385°	17.06729°	1522	bg	797	31.88
HP08	13.70307°	17.06696°	1522	bg	1909	76.36
HP09	13.70289°	17.06611°	1515	bg	910	36.4
HP10	13.70286°	17.06552°	1527	bg	1066	42.64
HP11	13.70328°	17.06468°	1523	bg	1580	63.2
HP12	13.70342°	17.06387°	1525	bg	1189	47.56
HP13	13.70263°	17.06360°	1530	bg	408	16.32
HP14	13.70175	17.06374°	1549	bg	428	17.12
HP15	13.70129	17.06279°	1542	bg	476	19.04
27005	13.72252°	17.09781°	1472	Pg	800	32
27006	13.69849°	17.10631°	1475	Pg	520	20.8
27010	13.73372°	17.09409°	1446	Pg	920	36.8
27011	13.71732º	17.09150°	1512	pg	1140	45.6
23601	13.70858°	17.10485°	-	pg	378	15.12
23602	13.70728°	17.10361°	-	pg	424	16.96
23603	13.70789°	17.10324°	-	pg	693	27.72
23604	13.70786°	17.10229°	-	pg	37	1.48
23605	13.70790°	17.10029°	-	pg	38	1.52
23606	13.70825°	17.09911°	-	pg	136	5.44
23607	13.70813º	17.09585°	-	pg	14	0.56
23608	13.70749°	17.09497°	-	pg	176	7.04

Table S1: Plots location with biomass in g/0.25 m², inferred in ton/ha. Vegetation type: bg-Brachystegia grassland; pg- Parinari grassland.

23609	13.70552°	17.09408°	-	pg	228	9.12
23610	13.70555°	17.09327°	-	pg	64	2.56
23611	13.70531°	17.09326°	-	pg	61	2.44
23612	13.70721°	17.09258°	-	pg	532	21.28
23613	13.70839°	17.09202°	-	pg	541	21.64
23614	13.70780°	17.09175°	-	pg	511	20.44
23615	13.70701°	17.09003°	-	pg	679	27.16

Table S2: Univariate statistics of BGB in two types of geoxylic grasslands.

	BGB (ton/ha)
-	Par. Grass.	Brach. Grass.
Mean	16.6	44.25
Std. error	3.05	3.99
Variance	177	463
Stand. dev	13.3	21.5
Coeff. var	80.1	48.6

Depth (cm)	Partic	le size a: (%)	nalysis	рН		Exe	Exchangeable bases (Cmole.dm⁻³)			Р	Al	AI + H	СТС	Sum of bases	V (%)	m(%)		
#	(cm)	clay	silt	sand	H₂O	KCI	Ca₂Cl	к	Na	Ca	Mg	(mg.dm ⁻³)	(mg.dm⁻³)	(mg.dm ⁻³)	(pH 7)	(Cmole.dm ⁻³)	V (70)	11(70)
	0-10	9.50	5.50	85.00	5.13	4.30	4.39	16.15	0.00	0.84	4.54	3.52	0.30	4.60	26.42	21.52	81.45	18.55
27001	10-30	33.25	9.25	57.50	4.96	4.18	4.02	13.29	0.00	0.61	5.66	4.39	0.70	4.30	24.55	19.55	79.63	20.37
	30-50	32.00	13.00	55.00	4.78	4.36	4.14	11.38	0.00	0.62	7.41	4.66	0.50	4.00	23.92	19.42	81.19	18.81
	0-10	7.85	7.15	85.00	5.41	5.32	5.03	14.24	0.00	2.74	16.65	6.62	0.20	4.50	38.33	33.63	87.74	12.26
27002	10-30	3.25	6.75	90.00	4.92	4.50	4.55	10.43	0.00	0.68	0.00	3.39	0.30	4.30	15.71	11.11	70.72	29.28
	30-50	0.00	2.50	97.50	4.96	4.34	4.28	15.19	0.00	0.79	0.00	3.75	0.50	4.00	20.48	15.98	78.03	21.97
	0-10	18.50	9.00	72.50	5.10	4.48	4.47	8.53	0.00	1.03	0.00	5.66	0.50	4.40	14.45	9.55	66.09	33.91
27003	10-30	3.00	7.00	90.00	4.27	4.21	4.07	2.81	0.00	1.37	0.00	20.62	0.50	4.00	8.68	4.18	48.16	51.84
	30-50	12.50	7.50	80.00	4.12	4.16	4.00	1.86	0.00	1.55	0.00	8.52	0.50	3.90	7.81	3.41	43.66	56.34
	0-10	0.00	2.50	97.50	5.00	4.45	4.43	7.58	0.00	1.43	2.86	5.16	0.40	4.30	16.56	11.86	71.62	28.38
27004	10-30	2.50	2.50	95.00	4.15	4.20	4.04	3.77	0.00	1.65	3.03	3.93	0.60	4.20	13.25	8.45	63.77	36.23
	30-50	11.00	4.00	85.00	4.32	4.20	4.02	4.72	0.00	1.68	4.47	3.52	0.90	4.10	15.86	10.86	68.47	31.53
	0-10	0.25	6.00	93.75	5.33	5.11	4.82	10.43	0.00	3.46	11.26	4.34	0.30	3.70	29.15	25.15	86.28	13.72
27007	10-30	0.00	10.00	90.00	4.29	4.20	4.15	7.58	0.00	0.97	0.81	2.57	0.50	3.50	13.36	9.36	70.06	29.94
	30-50	10.85	9.15	80.00	4.08	4.06	3.93	12.34	0.00	1.39	1.99	3.62	1.40	4.10	21.21	15.71	74.07	25.93
	0-10	0.00	0.00	100.00	4.41	3.76	3.91	1.86	0.00	0.00	4.05	3.07	0.50	4.20	10.61	5.91	55.70	44.30
27008	10-30	3.20	4.00	50.30	4.37	4.16	4.02	1.86	0.00	0.00	4.99	3.43	0.40	3.70	10.95	6.85	62.56	37.44
	30-50	6.00	9.20	50.00	4.54	4.49	4.30	0.91	0.00	0.00	6.72	4.57	0.50	3.60	11.73	7.63	65.05	34.95
	0-10	2.00	7.20	60.00	4.99	4.47	4.48	4.72	0.00	1.53	3.08	4.12	0.40	4.20	13.93	9.33	66.98	33.02
27009	10-30	1.25	2.50	96.25	4.51	4.38	4.24	1.82	0.00	0.00	0.00	6.80	0.50	3.50	5.82	1.82	31.27	68.73
	30-50	0.40	5.85	93.75	4.34	3.34	4.20	1.82	0.00	8.32	0.00	3.89	0.40	3.60	14.14	10.14	71.71	28.29
	0-10	0.00	8.20	83.20	4.91	4.29	4.28	7.33	0.00	25.34	0.00	5.52	0.50	1.00	34.17	32.67	95.61	4.39
27012	10-30	10.85	9.40	84.50	4.45	4.23	4.11	2.74	0.00	35.94	0.00	9.84	0.60	0.20	39.48	38.68	97.97	2.03
	30-50	3.20	6.15	85.30	4.28	4.14	4.00	2.74	0.00	48.31	0.00	7.80	0.90	0.20	52.15	51.05	97.89	2.11

Table S3: Soil characteristics of the Brachystegia grassland.

	0-10	1.25	6.00	86.20	5.27	4.72	4.69	14.67	0.00	0.00	0.00	4.62	0.30	0.60	15.57	14.67	94.22	5.78
27013	10-30	0.40	4.00	87.25	5.09	4.37	4.40	9.16	0.00	7.10	0.00	6.02	0.40	0.40	17.06	16.26	95.31	4.69
	30-50	0.30	2.00	88.50	4.96	4.20	4.14	22.01	0.00	20.14	0.00	7.34	1.30	0.60	44.05	42.15	95.69	4.31
	0-10	0.50	0.00	89.40	4.59	3.98	4.07	7.33	0.00	29.04	0.00	4.52	0.50	1.00	37.87	36.37	96.04	3.96
27014	10-30	0.25	6.00	93.75	4.31	4.13	4.03	2.74	0.00	40.49	0.00	9.34	0.90	0.80	44.93	43.23	96.22	3.78
	30-50	3.50	6.50	90.00	4.14	4.12	4.05	1.82	0.00	0.00	0.00	8.89	0.60	0.60	3.02	1.82	60.26	39.74
	0-10	0.00	3.75	96.25	4.93	4.41	4.44	6.41	0.00	11.94	0.00	6.02	0.50	0.20	19.05	18.35	96.33	3.67
27015	10-30	3.50	6.50	90.00	4.84	4.14	4.09	5.49	0.00	19.43	0.00	8.16	0.60	0.20	25.72	24.92	96.89	3.11
	30-50	3.00	14.50	82.50	4.52	4.09	3.98	7.33	0.00	28.66	0.00	5.80	1.00	0.60	37.59	35.99	95.74	4.26
	0-10	0.00	2.50	97.50	4.91	4.35	4.38	3.77	0.00	0.00	0.57	5.80	0.30	0.20	4.83	4.33	89.65	10.35
27016	10-30	4.25	5.75	90.00	4.93	4.26	4.09	1.86	0.00	0.00	0.69	5.80	0.30	1.60	4.45	2.55	57.30	42.70
	30-50	7.80	2.20	90.00	4.56	4.26	4.08	1.86	0.00	0.00	0.80	6.89	0.60	0.20	3.46	2.66	76.88	23.12
	0-10	4.50	8.00	87.50	4.81	4.74	4.76	1.86	0.00	0.00	1.18	4.66	0.30	0.80	4.14	3.04	73.43	26.57
27017	10-30	5.25	7.25	87.50	5.40	4.48	4.68	5.67	0.00	0.00	0.00	4.66	0.20	0.60	6.47	5.67	87.64	12.36
	30-50	4.88	7.63	87.50	5.11	4.61	4.72	3.77	0.00	0.00	0.59	4.66	0.25	0.70	5.31	4.36	82.11	17.89
	0-10	5.25	9.75	85.00	5.57	4.75	4.78	10.43	0.00	0.00	0.00	4.66	0.20	1.20	11.83	10.43	88.17	11.83
27018	10-30	7.63	8.63	83.75	5.28	4.45	4.46	5.53	0.00	0.01	0.00	5.05	0.40	0.90	9.83	8.53	86.78	13.22
	30-50	10.00	7.50	82.50	4.98	4.14	4.14	0.62	0.00	0.01	0.00	5.43	0.60	0.60	7.83	6.63	84.67	15.33

	Depth	Parti	cle size aı (%)	nalysis		рН		Ex	changea (Cmole	able bas e.dm ⁻³)	ses	P ,	Al	AI + H	СТС	Sum of bases	V (%)	m(%)
#	(cm)	clay	silt	sand	H ₂ O	KCI	Ca₂Cl	к	Na	Ca	Mg	(mg.dm⁻³)	(mg.dm ^{-s})	(mg.dm ^{-s})	(pH 7)	(Cmole.dm ^{-s})	• (/0)	
	0-10	3.8	1.9	94.3	4.9	3.8	3.9	1.48	0.68	0.18	0	1.39	0.60	0.6	2.94	2.34	3.8	1.9
2149	10-30	3.45	2.175	94.38	5.10	4.2	4.15	4.91	0.93	0.07	0	1.41	0.44	0.4	6.31	5.91	3.45	2.175
	30-50	7.9	3.35	88.75	5.4	4.4	4.2	0.11	4.68	0.49	0	1.34	0.50	0.5	5.78	5.28	7.9	3.35
	0-10	4.2	2.05	93.75	4.8	4	3.9	0.11	0.68	0	0	1.25	0.7	0.7	1.49	0.79	4.2	2.05
2151	10-30	8	5.25	86.75	4.9	4.3	4.05	0.46	0.68	0.12	0	1.80	0.72	0.7	1.96	1.26	8	5.25
	30-50	12.5	6.875	80.63	5.07	4.25	4.05	0.80	0.43	0.26	0	1.55	1.09	0.85	2.33	1.48	12.5	6.875
	0-10	0	2.5	97.5	4.9	3.66	3.8	0.8	0.68	0.38	0	1.30	0.50	0.5	2.36	1.86	0	2.5
2153	10-30	3.4	0	96.6	5.15	4.18	4.2	0.11	0.18	0.23	0	1.34	0.36	0.35	0.87	0.52	3.4	0
	30-50	2.5	1.25	96.25	5.15	4.41	4.35	1.83	0.94	0.09	0	1.80	0.63	0.5	3.35	2.85	2.5	1.25
	0-10	2.9	3.35	93.75	4.91	3.75	3.9	5.59	0.68	0.14	0		0.20	0.2	6.60	6.40	2.9	3.35
2165	10-30	2.6	1.15	96.25	5.22	4.32	4.2	1.14	0.68	0.05	0	0.39	0.41	0.4	2.27	1.87	2.6	1.15
	30-50	2.2	5.4375	92.38	5.36	4.46	4.25	3.88	0.68	0.14	0	1.75	0.35	0.35	5.04	4.69	2.2	5.4375
	0-10	0.0	8.3	91.8	5.8	4.9	4.9	0.03	0.54	1.89	0.00	0.570	0.30	0.3	2.76	2.46	0.0	8.3
23315	10-30																	
	30-50	0.1	7.4	92.5	5.0	3.9	4.0	0.03	0.22	1.36	0.00	0.615	0.1	0.1	1.71	1.61	0.1	7.4
	0-10	0	15	85	4.81	3.97		0.31	1.08	0.13	0.61	0.71	0.0				0	15
23618	10-30																	
	30-50	3.3	9.2	87.5	5.02	4.3	4.17	0.28	1.18	0.11	0.28	1.02	0.00	0.4	1.07	0.67	3.3	9.2
	0-10	0	5	95	4.76	4.07	3.96	0	0	0.00	0	0.89	0.50	0.5	0.50	0.00	0	5
23619	10-30																	
	30-50	0	2.5	97.5	4.86	4.43	4.23	0	0	0.00	0	0.71	0.40	0.4	0.40	0.00	0	2.5
	0-10	0.00	0.00	100.00	4.38	4.01	3.97	2.81	0.00	1.98	5.71	3.48	0.50	4.50	15.50	10.50	0.00	0.00
27005	10-30	0.00	0.00	100.00	3.98	4.21	4.09	0.91	0.00	2.62	7.61	3.43	0.40	3.90	15.44	11.14	0.00	0.00
	30-50	0.00	2.50	97.50	3.89	4.33	4.09	0.91	0.00	0.97	1.78	4.21	0.50	3.40	7.56	3.66	0.00	2.50

Table S4: Soil characteristics of the Parinari grassland.

	0-10	0.00	2.50	97.50	4.07	3.85	3.77	4.72	0.00	1.07	3.40	5.21	0.60	4.50	14.29	9.19	0.00	2.50
27006	10-30	0.00	3.75	96.25	4.26	4.20	4.04	1.86	0.00	1.50	4.64	6.21	0.60	4.20	12.81	8.01	0.00	3.75
	30-50	0.00	2.50	97.50	4.49	4.30	4.14	0.91	0.00	1.90	6.52	4.34	0.60	3.90	13.82	9.32	0.00	2.50
	0-10	0.50	12.00	87.50	4.89	4.35	4.38	10.08	0.00	17.33	0.00	3.21	0.70	1.80	29.91	27.41	0.50	12.00
27010	10-30	11.00	6.50	82.50	4.40	4.22	4.04	5.49	0.00	0.00	0.00	5.34	0.60	1.20	7.29	5.49	11.00	6.50
	30-50																	
	0-10	0.00	3.75	96.25	4.73	3.99	4.06	10.08	0.00	0.00	0.00	3.75	1.00	1.40	12.48	10.08	0.00	3.75
27011	10-30	8.50	11.50	80.00	4.67	4.21	4.05	6.41	0.00	4.39	0.00	5.16	1.20	2.20	14.20	10.80	8.50	11.50
	30-50	8.20	9.30	82.10	4.80	4.19	4.06	6.41	0.00	15.58	0.00	3.52	0.10	1.00	23.09	21.99	8.20	9.30

Table S5: One-way ANOVA comparing Detarioideae (Det) and non-Detarioideae (n-Det) species regarding SLA, LN, LP, C:N and N:P, traits determining plant nutritional status.

	Mean±sta	ntard error	One-Wa	ay ANOVA
	Det	n-Det	F	Р
SLA (cm²/g)	92.93±1.92	85.63±2.75	34.1	***
LN (%)	2.12±0.040	2.35±0.085	7.43	***
LP (mg/g)	1.34±0.037	1.13±0.059	9.92	***
C:N ratio	24.66±0.52	22.75±0.86	3.99	n.s.
N:P ratio	15.65±0.57	21.11±0.77	34.1	***

Significant differences are marked with asterisc.

Table S6: Characterization of species pair (geoxylic versus trees) closely related used to compare Plant Functional Traits in the chapter 2 of this thesis.

Family	Species	Life	habitat	leaves	Height	Leaf ph	enology	Vouchers
. anny	Op olioo	form	nabhai	.01700	(m)	flush	fall	
	Syzygium guineense (Willd.) DC. subsp. <i>macrocarpum</i> (Engl.) F.White ⁽¹⁾	geoxyle	geoxylic grasslands on ferrallitic soils	laurophyllous, single, elliptic, lanceolate or ovate-elliptic	1	evergreen	evergreen	HBG 135802 HBG 143204
Myrtaceae	<i>Syzygium guineense</i> (Willd.) DC. subsp. <i>macrocarpum</i> (Engl.) F.White ⁽¹⁾	Small multi- stemmed tree	open forest and forest edges at top- slopes on ferrallitic soils	laurophyllous, single, elliptic, lanceolate or ovate-elliptic	5-6	evergreen	evergreen	HBG 135805
Chruscheleneese	Parinari capensis Harv.	geoxyle	geoxylic grasslands on sandy soils	sclerophyllous, single, oblanceolate to oblong or oblong- elliptic	0.05	evergreen	evergreen	HBG 132664
Chrysopalanaceae	<i>Parinari curatellifolia</i> Planch. ex Benth.	tree	forest edges between top- and mid-slopes mostly on ferrallitic soils	sclerophyllous, single, oblong	15 or more	evergreen	evergreen	HBG 132671
Combretaceae	Combretum platypetalum Welw.	geoxyle	geoxylic grasslands and disturbed open habitats	Single, stiff, obovate	2	Sept-Oct	Мау	HBG 135541
	Combretum zeyheri Sond.	tree	forest edges and open forest	Single, elliptic to obovate	8 or more	Sept-Oct	Aug-Sept	HBG 132510
Fabaceae-	Cryptosepalum exfoliatum De Wild.	geoxyle	geoxylic grasslands	pinnate	0.05	evergreen	evergreen	HBG 132481

Detarioideae	subsp. suffruticans (P.A.Duvign.)		on ferrallitic soils					HBG132754
	<i>Cryptosepalum exfoliatum</i> De Wild. subsp. <i>pseudotaxus</i> (Baker f.) P.A.Duvign. & Brenan	tree	top-slopes and plateau	Pinnate	12 or more	evergreen	evergreen	HBG 135304
	Brachystegia russelliae I.M.Johnst.	geoxyle	geoxylic grasslands on ferrallitic soils	large pinnate leaves with a stiff texture	0.3 -0.4	Aug-Sept	May-July	HBG 132793 HBG 143837
	Brachystegia longifolia Benth.	tree	forest-grassland- ecotones	large pinnate leaves with a stiff texture	15 or more	Sept-Oct	July-Aug	HBG 132957 HBG 134288 HBG 135621
Phyllanthaceae	Uapaca nitida Müll. Arg.var. suffrutescens P.A.Duvign. ⁽²⁾	geoxyle	upper zone of geoxylic grasslands on ferrallitic soils	leathery lanceolate	0.4	evergreen	evergreen	HBG 132490 HBG 134199
	<i>Uapaca nitida</i> Müll. Arg.	tree	top-slopes and plateau	leathery lanceolate	10	evergreen	evergreen	HBG 135302

Syzygium guineense (Willd.) DC. subsp. macrocarpum (Engl.) F. White is an evergreen that occurs in the study area in two different life forms. It can be found in the geoxyle - grasslands on the lower slopes as a suffrutex, flowering and fruiting in this stage. Vertical shoots are periodically killed by night frost in the dry season and removed by subsequent fires. In close proximity to the geoxylic grasslands, but a bit further toward the topslopes, the same taxon is growing as a low multistemmed subcanopy tree in an open woodland environment. Protected from night frost by the canopy of the dominant tree species (i.e. *Brachystegia spiciformis* and *Cryptosepalum exfoliatum* ssp. *pseudotaxus*), die-backs appear to be less frequent and fire-frequency and intensity are much lower in the woodland habitats (Stellmes et al., 2013). However, the population of *Syzygium guineense* subsp. *macrocarpum* in the grassland habitats is in contact with the obligate *Syzygium guineense* (Willd.) DC. subsp. *huillense* (Hiern) F.White growing along wetland borders. Zigelski et al. (2018) showed that gene flow between *Syzygium guineense* subspecies is common along contact zones of populations. Thus, it cannot be excluded that the geoxyle population of *Syzygium guineense* subsp. *macrocarpum* analyzed in this study represents a hybrid population with *Syzygium guineense* subsp. *huillense*.

⁽²⁾ Uapaca nitida var suffrutescens is not listed in the catalogue of Angolan plants by Figueiredo and Smith (2008). The description of this taxon by Duvigneaud fits well to our *taxon*, however we are sure it needs supspecies or species status due to the notable differences to Uapaca nitida. It is also referred to as an only rhizomatous species of the Uapaca genus in Angola with a limited distribution, only known in some zones of the Bié province, to the east of the Cuanza River, extending, possibly, to Moxico province in similar ecological conditions" (Santos, 1967).

Table S7: Mean values of plant traits for all species refered in chapter 2. SLA- Specific Leaf Area; LT- Leaf Thickness; WD- Wood Density; LN- Leaf Nitrogen Concentraition; LC- Leaf Carbon Concentraition; LP- Leaf Phosphorous Concentraition; LCa- Leaf Calcium Concentraition; LMg- Leaf Magnesium Concentraition; LK- Leaf Potassium Concentraition; LWP- Leaf Water Potential. Species: Brs-Brachystegia russelliae; Blf-Brachystegia longifolia; Cef-Cryptosepalum exfoliatum subsp. pseudotaxus; Cpt-Combretum platypetalum; Csf-Cryptosepalum exfoliatum subsp. suffruticans; Pcp-Parinari capensis; Pcr-Parinari curatelifolia; Szs-Syzygium guineense subsp. huilense; Szt-Syzygium guineense subsp. nitida.

Life form	species	SLA	LT	WD	LN	LC	LP	LCa	LMg	LK	LWP
	Brs	93.60	0.22	0.70	1.93	52.73	1.54	9.36	5.05	2.20	-10.6
	Csf	109.43	0.20	0.62	2.22	46.26	1.52	6.91	5.77	2.23	-10.6
Geor	Uns	78.87	0.39	0.62	1.52	49.05	0.82	2.19	0.16	9.81	-6.5
0007.	Рср	72.76	0.26	0.55	1.35	45.51	0.75	3.07	0.15	9.10	-10.7
	Szs	65.12	0.37	0.53	1.17	51.78	0.81	4.44	4.58	2.24	-9.2
	Cpt	70.16	0.35	0.71	1.12	48.50	0.75	3.39	0.15	9.70	(1)
	Blf	98.98	0.20	0.58	2.09	54.50	1.44	4.91	0.81	10.90	-11.0
	Cef	95.74	0.25	0.54	2.40	52.00	1.12	2.47	0.22	10.40	-10.0
troos	Unt	80.43	0.34	0.49	1.60	49.76	1.14	4.96	0.23	9.95	-2.8
11663	Pcr	54.66	0.38	0.47	1.05	40.86	0.58	6.57	0.12	8.17	-7.0
	Szt	67.47	0.32	0.55	1.17	51.78	0.71	6.40	0.14	10.36	-5.3
	Czh	100.07	0.30	0.65	2.25	50.50	1.51	7.86	0.30	10.10	-10.1

(1) Trait not measured because of the early leaf sheading in the dry season.

Table S8: PCA	eigenvalue a	nd % of va	riation expla	ined by eacl	h PC in the	chapter 2
	5					

PC	Eigenvalue	% variance
1	4.07976	45.331
2	1.85697	20.633
3	0.952487	10.583

	Troito		Maan Joo non ECM	One-way ANOVA			
	Traits			One-way ANOV F $p(sam)$ 23 34.14 *** 01 15.53 *** 01 15.53 *** 02 0.01 n.s. 01 1.36 n.s. 02 0.01 n.s. 01 1.36 n.s. 02 0.01 n.s. 04 26.44 *** 05 0.04 n.s. 04 26.44 *** 05 13.98 *** 96 12.24 *** 96 12.24 *** 96 12.24 *** 96 12.24 *** 97 5.39 *** 90 5.39 *** 91 14.39 *** 92 0.00 n.s. 93 8.31 *** 94 1.08 n.s. 95 3.78 n.s. 96<	p(same)		
	SLA (cm²/g)	93.97±3.89	67.79±2.23	34.14	***		
	LT (mm)	0.270±0.02	0.380±0.01	15.53	***		
	LA (cm ²)	51.22±11.25	109.62±7.3	16.83	***		
	LDMC (mg/g)	0.427±0.02	0.432±0.02	0.01	n.s.		
	WD (g/cm³)	0.647±0.04	0.607±0.01	1.36	n.s.		
	LN (%)	1.89±0.09	1.39±0.06	18.37	***		
aeoxvles	LC (%)	49.35±0.7	49.64±0.4	0.14	n.s.		
geenjiee	LP (mg/g)	1.29±0.09	0.83±0.04	26.44	***		
	LCa (mg/g)	6.15±0.8	5.94±0.6	0.04	n.s.		
	LMg (mg/g)	3.66±0.7	1.40±0.4	8.74	***		
	LK (mg/g)	4.75±0.96	8.39±0.46	13.98	***		
	C:N ratio	26.98±1.26	39.20±1.96	12.24	***		
	N:P ratio	15.33±0.79	17.62±0.81	2.39	n.s.		
	WP (bar)	-9.25±0.5	-6.45±0.6	7.73	***		
	SLA (cm²/g)	87.26±1.66	79.27±3.02	5.39	***		
	LT (mm)	0.253±0.007	0.300±0.01	14.39	***		
	LA (cm ²)	125.97±12.25	110.79±8.52	1.04	n.s.		
	LDMC (mg/g)	0.47±0.01	0.45±0.01	1.60	n.s.		
	WD (g/cm³)	0.537±0.008	0.580±0.013	8.31	***		
	LN (%)	1.97±0.06	1.98±0.12	0.00	n.s.		
Troos	LC (%)	51.51±0.47	50.55±0.81	1.08	n.s.		
TTEE3	LP (mg/g)	1.21±0.03	1.02±0.06	7.49	***		
	LCa (mg/g)	4.60±0.27	5.52±0.39	3.78	n.s.		
	LMg (mg/g)	0.32±0.09	0.20±0.01	1.52	n.s.		
	LK (mg/g)	10.30±0.09	10.11±0.2	1.08	n.s.		
	C:N ratio	26.85±0.7	29.63±2.1	1.56	n.s.		
	N:P ratio	16.54±0.57	19.61±0.75	10.65	***		
	WP (bar)	-10.80±0.77	-7.78±0.54	10.26	***		

Table S9: One-way ANOVA showing traits variation in ectomycorrhizal (ECM) and non ectomicorrhizal (non-ECM) species.

Significant differences (p<0.05) are marked with ***. n.s.=no significant differences.

Table S10: General data of PFT for geoxyles. Adm-Adenodolichos mendesii; Ast-Annona stenophylla; Brs-Brachystegia russelliae; Ces-Cryptosepalum exfoliatum subsp. suffruticans; Cpt-Combretum platypetalum; Oar-Ochna arenaria; Pcp-Parinari capensis; Ptr-Protea trichophylla; Pzh-Pygmaeothamnus zeyheri; Rex-Rhus exeliana; ShI-Syzygium guineense subsp. huilense; Uns-Uapaca nitida var. suffrutescens. Extreme values (min. and max.) of each trait are in bold on the upper part of the table.

	SLA	LT	LA	LDMC	WD	LN	LC	LP	LCa	LMg	LK	C/N	N/P	WP
Adm	95.43	0.53	189.8	0.2	0.51	2.14	48.95	1.38	7.2	6.93	3.99	22.31	16.82	-1.52
Ast	80.52	0.4	99.71	0.31	0.54	1.6	48.63	1.07	9.59	0.21	9.71	30.47	15.77	-4.18
Brs	93.6	0.22	45.14	0.49	0.7	1.95	52.61	1.57	9.36	5.05	2.2	27.46	12.6	-10.6
Ces	109.43	0.2	4.42	0.47	0.62	2.15	45.42	1.46	6.91	5.77	2.23	21.27	14.82	-10.64
Cpt	70.16	0.35	143.12	0.4	0.71	1.12	48.37	0.76	3.39	0.15	9.7	43.9	14.9	*
Oar	58.72	0.27	101.31	0.63	0.68	1.35	52.58	0.57	4.2	0.13	10.46	39.54	25.5	-11.71
Рср	72.76	0.26	31.77	0.53	0.55	1.46	42.54	0.74	3.07	0.15	9.1	33.77	17.96	-10.65
Ptr	44.63	0.53	86.74	0.43	0.63	0.78	51.2	0.5	2.34	0.1	10.3	68.85	14.92	-4.43
Pzh	63.64	0.33	69.96	0.52	0.71	1.4	51.73	0.61	5.27	0.13	10.06	37.71	22.3	-7.55
Rex	59.12	0.37	93.69	0.45	*	1.72	49.63	0.96	13.91	0.2	9.93	31.46	15.92	-2.32
Shl	65.12	0.37	170.47	0.41	0.53	1.2	51.67	0.8	4.44	4.58	2.24	44.76	14.52	-9.23
Uns	78.87	0.39	104.1	0.32	0.62	1.55	49.15	0.82	2.19	0.16	9.81	32.22	18.56	-6.52
Mean	74.33	0.35	95.02	0.43	0.62	1.54	49.37	0.94	5.99	1.96	7.48	36.14	17.05	-7.21
Std. err.	5.28	0.03	15.7	0.03	0.02	0.12	0.87	0.1	1.02	0.79	1.04	3.67	1.05	1.1
Std. dev.	18.3	0.11	54.38	0.11	0.08	0.41	3	0.36	3.55	2.73	3.6	12.72	3.63	3.65
Variance	334.88	0.01	2957.2	0.01	0.01	0.019	5.19	0.12	12.59	7.43	12.96	161.9	13.21	13.32
Min.	44.63	0.2	4.42	0.2	0.51	0.78	42.54	0.5	2.19	0.1	2.2	21.27	12.6	-11.7
Max.	109.43	0.53	189.8	0.63	0.71	2.15	52.61	1.57	13.91	6.93	10.46	68.85	25.5	-1.52

*- not measured

Table S11: General data of PFT for trees. Baf-Burkea Africana; Bbk-Brachystegia bakeriana; Bbq-Baphia bequaertii; Blf-Brachystegia longifolia; Bsp-Brachystegia spiciformis; Cef-Cryptosepalum exfoliatum subsp. pseudotaxus; Czh-Combretum zeyheri; Eaf-Erytrophleum africanum; Jpn-Julbernardia paniculata; Maf-Monotes africanus; Pcr-Parinari curatellifolia; Png-Pterocarpus angolensis; Szt-Syzygium guineense subsp. guineense; Unt-Uapaca nitida subsp. nitida. Extreme values (min. and max.) of each trait are in bold on the upper part of the table.

	SLA	LT	LA	LDMC	WD	LN	LC	LP	LCa	LMg	LK	C/N	N/P	WP
Baf	71.54	0.301	90.84	0.47	0.62	2.07	54.74	0.81	3.32	0.16	10.95	26.69	25.48	-10.9
Bbk	76.58	0.258	61.39	0.51	0.55	1.95	54.13	1.16	4.98	0.23	10.83	28.01	16.82	-11
Bbq	77.26	0.358	32.71	0.37	0.66	2.7	50.9	1.27	3.64	0.25	10.18	19.14	21.33	-8.59
Blf	98.98	0.203	209.25	0.5	0.58	2.09	54.5	1.44	4.91	0.82	10.9	26.16	14.6	-11
Bsp	89.15	0.226	156.82	0.5	0.53	2.01	49.13	1.44	5.13	0.29	9.83	24.45	14.05	-10.5
Cef	95.74	0.252	7.13	0.42	0.54	2.4	52	1.12	2.47	0.22	10.4	21.8	21.88	-10.3
Czh	100.07	0.299	156.92	0.34	0.65	2.25	50.5	1.51	7.86	0.3	10.1	22.53	15.09	-10.1
Eaf	82.46	0.236	57.86	0.52	0.6	1.99	54.35	0.84	3.54	0.17	10.87	27.44	23.82	-10.9
Jpn	86.98	0.25	190.61	0.46	0.51	2.24	52.41	1.18	6.31	0.24	10.48	23.48	19.39	-10.8
Maf	82.97	0.238	114.5	0.52	0.55	1.49	48.67	1.01	3.41	0.2	9.73	32.87	14.79	-19.4
Pcr	54.66	0.378	126.46	0.49	0.47	1.05	40.86	0.58	6.57	0.12	8.17	39.17	20.08	-6.98
Png	101.46	0.208	145.49	0.48	0.51	2.81	50.91	1.42	7.31	0.28	10.18	18.19	18.1	-1.74
Szt	67.47	0.321	165.23	0.46	0.55	0.96	51.58	0.71	6.4	0.14	10.32	54.27	13.4	-5.3
Unt	80.43	0.345	142.11	0.36	0.49	1.6	49.76	1.14	4.96	0.23	9.95	31.17	14.22	-2.75
Mean	83.27	0.28	118.38	0.46	0.56	1.97	51.03	1.12	5.06	0.26	10.21	28.24	18.08	-9.29
Std. err.	3.6	0.02	16.14	0.02	0.02	0.15	0.95	0.08	0.44	0.05	0.19	2.49	1.06	1.15
Std. dev.	13.47	0.06	60.38	0.06	0.06	0.54	3.55	0.29	1.65	0.17	0.71	9.32	3.97	4.29
Variance	181.5	0.00	3645.7	0.00	0.00	0.03	12.62	0.09	2.72	0.03	0.50	86.89	15.76	18.44
Min.	54.66	0.2	7.13	0.34	0.47	0.96	40.86	0.58	2.47	0.12	8.17	18.19	13.4	-19.4
Max.	101.46	0.38	209.25	0.52	0.66	2.81	54.74	1.51	7.86	0.82	10.95	54.27	25.48	-1.74

Declaration of oath

I hereby declare on oath, that I have written the present dissertation by my own and have not used other than the acknowledged resources and aids.

Eidesstattliche Versicherung

Hiermit erkläre ich an Eides statt, dass ich die vorliegende Dissertationsschrift selbst verfasst und keine anderen als die angegebenen Quellen und Hilfsmittel benutzt habe.

Hamburg, den

Unterschrift

18/03/2021

Amandio Luis Gomes



Royal Botanic Gardens, Kew, Richmond, Surrey TW9 3AE 020 8332 5000 | kew.org | info@kew.org

ENGLISH PROOF-READING DECLARATION

24th March 2021

TO WHOM IT MAY CONCERN

As a native English speaker and experienced proof-reader, I hereby declare that the PhD thesis "How root morphology and functional traits enable geoxyles to thrive in nutrient poor and disturbance prone Angolan miombo ecosystems" has been written in correct and concise British English.

Yours sincerely,

Dr David J. Goyder Africa & Madagascar team

d.goyder@kew.org

